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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“"GEM") OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be
a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
aisclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Set out below is the corporate information of Royal Century
Resources Holdings Limited as at the date of this report (i.e. 28 June
2023):

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman)

Mr. Wang Jun

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex

Mr. Wu Zhao

Mr. Lam Cheok Va

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen

BOARD COMMITTEE
Audit committee

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Zhao

Mr. Lam Cheok Va

Nomination committee
Mr. Wu Zhao (Chairmarn)

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex

Mr. Lam Cheok Va

Remuneration committee
Mr. Lam Cheok Va (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex

Mr. Wu Zhao

Compliance committee

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Zhao

Mr. Lam Cheok Va
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Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
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Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

HEADQUARTER, REGISTERED OFFICE AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Suite 2201, 22/F

China Resources Building
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Wanchai

Hong Kong
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OCBC Wing Hang Bank

HSBC

DBS Bank
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
TR

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | present
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023.

OVERVIEW

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020, Hong
Kong's economy has been influenced by the COVID-19 pandemic for
more than two years and is in a slow recovery currently. The Group’s
operations for the year ended 31 March 2023 has been affected as
from the delay and postponement of certain projects in progress
and the change in the consumption sentiment by the customers. The
Group has fought with the increasingly keen competition in industry.
Accordingly, the operating results of the Group for the year has been
affected due to the unfavourable business environment surrounding
the operation of the Group.

The Group continued to work for a contractor for the term contracts
in relation to the provision of the public housing refurbishment and
maintenance subcontracting services. The aggregate turnover from
the design, fitting out and engineering services was increased from
approximately HK$33.8 million for the previous year to approximately
HK$45.9 million for the current year. The Group considers the revenue
from the term contracts to be a sustainable income stream.

The income from leasing of construction equipment and related
installation services amounted to approximately HK$6.8 million for
the current year as compared with approximately HK$13.3 million for
last year. Although, there was a decrease in the revenue, the Group
expects the leasing of construction equipment will be a sustainable
income stream to the Group after the resumption of COVID-19
pandemic to be normal.

The turnover attributed from the sourcing and merchandising of
fine and rare wines business amounting to approximately HK$2.5
million for the year, representing a decrease when compared with
last year’s turnover of approximately HK$10.0 million. The reallocation
of the Group's resources which focuses on the design, fitting out
and engineering services and the leasing of construction equipment
businesses attributes to such decrease.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group is optimistic towards the recovery of the economic
condition in Hong Kong from the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group
will continue to strive for the contracts of both the design, fitting out
and engineering services business and the leasing of construction
equipment business for the year ahead.

The Group is in the process of further negotiation with the contractor
for new term contracts and also seek for new contractors of both
private sector and public sector projects. With the exploration of
the term contracts, the Group believes there will be opportunity to
provide further services in the public sector works.

Besides the design, fitting out and engineering services business,
the Group has also secured contracts for both existing and new
customers in relation to the leasing of construction equipment.

The Group believes the economic condition in Hong Kong is
recovering from the COVID-19 pandemic, the demand for the
scaffolding equipment will be increased and more contracts/orders
will be expected to secure and conclude in the near future.

The Group has continued to focus on the development of its core
business and utilise its available resources to further engagement in
its existing business sector. The Group, at the same time, will continue
to explore other investment opportunities and development in order
to broaden its revenue base and further develop into a conglomerate.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude towards
the support and advice of our shareholders and business partners,
for their recognition of the Company's direction and strategies of
development, as well as the devotion and enthusiasm of our staff in
all scopes of tasks. They all helped us to drive the Company towards
perfection. We, the Board and all the Company's staff, will continue
to dedicate ourselves to refine our services to maximise the returns
from shareholders.

Chan Chi Yuen
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

O PR o i e 57 B

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in ()
provision of design, fitting out and engineering services comprising
design, fitting out, engineering and procurement of furnishings and
related products services, (ii) leasing of construction equipment
and provision of related installation services, (iii) sourcing and
merchandising of fine and rare wines and (iv) provision of financial
services comprising securities and money lending business.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023 of the Group
was approximately HK$55.8 million (2022: HK$57.7 million) which
represents approximately HK$1.9 million or 3.3% decrease as
compared with last year.

Breakdown of revenue by segments is as follows:
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For the year ended 31 March
HE=A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
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HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Design, fitting out and engineering services R &t~ EIE KR TR 45,910 33,785
Leasing of construction equipment THERERHE 6,756 13,341
Wines merchandising EREH 2,525 9,977
Financial services ERARTES 570 557
55,761 57,660

Breakdown of revenue by geographical locations is as follows:
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For the year ended 31 March
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HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Hong Kong 55 54,163 56,333
The PRC e 1,598 1,327
55,761 57,660
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has no material
changes in its operations. The revenue generated from the Design,
fitting out and engineering services business has increased by
approximately HK$12.1 million whilst the income from the Leasing
of construction equipment business and the Wine merchandising
business has decreased by approximately HK$6.5 million and
HK$7.5 million respectively, leaving the Group's revenue to drop by
approximately HK$1.9 million:

(1) The increase in revenue generated from the Design, fitting
out and engineering services was mainly attributed to the
increase in the number of works as a result of the increase in
the number of public housing estates for the new 3-year term
contract that was commenced from April 2022 whilst the Group
continues to seek for other public sector projects as well as
residential/commercial projects.

(2 The drop in revenue from the Leasing of construction
equipment was mainly due to the decrease in the lease out
rate of the scaffolding equipment as a consequence of the
slowdown of the local economic development/recovery due
to the previous undetermined erratic development of the
COVID-19 pandemic. Besides, the decrease in the related
installation service works rendered by the Group also attributed
to the decrease in revenue from the Leasing of construction
equipment business.

(3)  The income from the Wines merchandising business was
decreased in line with the decrease in orders from existing
customers. As mentioned last year, the reallocation of the
Group's resources which focuses on the design, fitting out and
engineering services and the leasing of construction equipment
businesses also attributes to such decrease.

(4)  The revenue from the Financial services business was
maintained at a moderate level and was approximately the
same as last year.

Gross Profit for the Year

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$2.1 million
(2022: HK$9.9 million) for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$7.8 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The gross profit of the Group by segments is as follows:

EFML OB N ¢

For the year ended 31 March
BE=HA=+—HLEE

2023 2022

—E-= —EIHE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Design, fitting out and engineering services R &t~ EE R TRRRF 1,445 5,093
Leasing of construction equipment THERERHE (176) 3,864
Wines merchandising EBEH 276 388
Financial services ERIARTE 570 557
2,115 9,902

Compared with the gross profit of the Group from last year, the
decrease in the Group's gross profit for the year ended 31 March
2023 of approximately HK$7.8 million was mainly due to the drop in
the gross profit of the Design, fitting out and engineering services
business and the Leasing of construction equipment.

Although there was an increase in revenue from the Design, fitting
out and engineering services, the gross profit margin from the Design,
fitting out and engineering services was set at a lower level in order
to maintain its competitiveness during the slow recovery of the
local economy from the COVID-19 pandemic. Moreover, the increase
in proportion of revenue from the public housing maintenance,
improvement and vacant flat refurbishment works and services which
have a lower profit margin as compared to other Design, fitting out
and engineering services projects also attributed to the decrease in
the gross profit of the Design, fitting out and engineering services.

The drop in the gross profit of the Leasing of construction equipment
was due to (i) the fierce industry competition and (i) the drop in
the lease out rate of the scaffolding equipment as a result of the
slow recovery of the local economy from the COVID-19 pandemic.
Furthermore, the decrease in provision of related installation services
by the Group also attributed to the decrease in the gross profit.

The gross profit from the two remaining segments, the Wine
merchandising and the Financial services was maintained at a similar
level as compared with last year.
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Loss for the Year

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded a loss for
the year of approximately HK$24.6 million (2022: HK$21.1 million),
representing an increase in loss for the year of approximately HK$3.5
million.

The increase in the loss for the year was attributed to the followings
when compared with those of last year:

() the decrease in the gross profit generated from the Design,
fitting out and engineering services and the Leasing of
construction equipment of approximately HK$7.7 million,

(i) the increase in the impairment of intangible assets of
approximately HK$2.0 million;

(i) the decrease in the allowance for ECL on trade receivables of
approximately HK$2.7 million; and

(iv)  the increase in the fair value change of investment property of
approximately HK$4.1 million.

The administrative expenses were maintained at an approximate
level compared with those of last year. Included in the administrative
expenses were mainly the amortization of right-of-use asset and the
project management fee in relation to the supervision and provision
of management and administration services including insurance
coverage, quantity surveying, etc.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Design, fitting out and engineering services

During the year ended 31 March 2023, included in the Group's
revenue for the design, fitting out and engineering services was
revenue from the provision of public housing maintenance,
improvement and vacant flat refurbishment works and services
amounted to approximately HK$31.3 million, representing
approximately 68.2% of the segment revenue for the current year. The
said HK$31.3 million revenue for the current year represents a growth
of approximately 99.4% as compared with the corresponding revenue
for the last year. Such increase was mainly attributable to the increase
in number of the public housing estates awarded alongside with the
commencement of the new 3-year term contract during the current
year.
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The Group expects the revenue from the provision of public housing
maintenance, improvement and vacant flat refurbishment works and
services to have a steady growth and maintains a sustainable stream
of income to the Group in the long run. The Group has been actively
coordinating and negotiating with the current contractor as well as
other contractors for the new term contracts in order to enlarge the
Group's operations therefrom.

Besides, the Group continues to establish and maintain business
relationship with existing customers for the provision of design,
fitting out and engineering services. The Group has been invited
by contractors/customers to submit tenders and has proactively
negotiated with the customers for fitting out and engineering service
projects. However, due to the fierce industry competition and the
slow recovery of the local economy resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic which affects the sentiment of the end customers in
planning of design and fitting out activities, the contracts/projects
awarded during the year were with lower contract sum when
compared with last year. Nevertheless, following the relaxation and
resumption to normal in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the
management is optimistic on the recovery of the local economy and
the business opportunities arising therefrom.

The Group will continue to seek for the potential contractors (both
private sector works and public housing projects) and to coordinate/
negotiate with the existing contractors for further contracts as well as
developing the business network with the existing contractors in the
aim of building up the Group's brand and goodwill. The Group expects
such exploration and strategy will further broaden and strengthen the
income stream and the sustainable development of the design, fitting
out and engineering services business with maximization of return of
the shareholders and the value of the Group.

Leasing of construction equipment

Due to the erratic development of the COVID-19 pandemic leading
to the slow recovery of the local economic, the progress of certain
construction projects has been delayed, which affects the lease out
rate of the Group’s scaffolding equipment. During the year ended 31
March 2023, rental income from the leasing of scaffolding equipment
was decreased by HK$6.5 million as compared with that of last year.

The decrease in revenue from the Leasing of construction equipment
was also attributed by the decrease in the provision of related
installation services during the year.
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The Group has been actively seeking for potential customer(s) and
negotiating with both existing and potential customers for new rental
orders during the year. Subsequent to the year end, the Group has
concluded certain rental orders with new customers.

The Group has been making effort in fostering and maintaining the
business relationship and cooperations with the existing customers in
order to have recurring orders from the existing customers. Following
the relaxation and resumption to normal in response to the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group is optimistic that the local economy would be
recovered and construction works will gradually be increased over
time. The management expects certain of the lag-up construction
projects would catch up their progress, leading to increase in demand
for the scaffolding equipment.

Wines merchandising

The Group had reallocated its resources to the design, fitting out and
engineering services and the leasing of construction equipment since
the current year that led to the decrease in revenue from the wines
merchandising.

The Group expects the wines merchandising would be carried out at
a moderate level at the moment.

Financial services
The provision of financial services business comprises securities
business and money lending business.

Securities business

The Group is engaged in the securities business through its wholly
owned subsidiary, which is a licensed corporation regulated by the
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong.

The Group continues to carry out the securities business with a
prudent management approach and recognises commission income
from the introducing brokerage services during the year ended 31
March 2023.

Money lending business

The Money lending business focuses on potential corporate or
personal borrowers including well-established business and wealthy
and reputable individuals ranging from executives, businessmen and
professionals. The potential borrower(s) are generally induced through
(i) the management team of the Group; (ii) direct approaches from
potential borrowers; and (iii) referral from existing borrower(s). The
Group adopts a prudent approach to carry out the money lending
business with sourcing of its funds from internally generated cash
resources.
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Before granting loans to potential borrower(s), the Group uses an
internal credit assessment process to assess the potential borrower’s
credit quality and defines credit limits granted to borrowers. Limits
attributed to borrowers are reviewed by the management regularly.

As at 31 March 2023, the loan portfolio consisted of two unsecured
loans with principal amount of HK$3 million each. All the borrowers,
and their ultimate beneficial owners (if applicable), of the outstanding
loans are independent third parties of the Group. The loans were
made in prior year which are unsecured, interest-bearing at 9% per
annum and have been matured for repayment.

The Group has established its money lending policies/manuals
(the "Manuals”), including the procedures in relation to the
implementation of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing System and credit assessment procedure to regulate the
money lending business operation to ensure a comprehensive risk
management so as to safeguard the Group's and, most importantly,
the shareholders’ interest.

In general, each loan application must go through three stages
before granted to the borrower, namely (i) document collection and
verification; (i) credit risk assessment; and (iii) approval. The Manuals
has set out, among others, (i) a list of documents and information
required for each loan application; (i) the general framework of the
credit assessment process including but not limited to the factors
to be considered such as the applicant’s background, financial and
repayment abilities, credit worthiness and intended use of the loan;
and (iii) the approval authorisation for each type of loan application.

All loans being granted should be approved, on a case-by-case basis
including a set of standardised know-your-customer procedures and
due diligence process. During the process, the management team of
the Subsidiary should obtain and verify the income proof/cash flow
proof of the applicant, and if securities/collateral involved, the asset
Proof.

The Manuals further provide the guideline for dealing with loan and
interest repayment of default. Generally, the designated officer of
the Subsidiary shall first remind the borrower prior to the due date
of the loan. Should the borrower fail to repay the loan and interests
promptly, the Manuals set out the loan collection procedure to
monitor the recoverability of the loan on an ongoing basis.
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The Group recognises the impairment loss under HKFRS 9 expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on loans and interest receivables for each of
the reporting periods. When estimating the ECL on loan and interest
receivables, the Group has considered the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis by comparing the risk of
default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. The Group has also taken
into account forward-looking information including actual or expected
significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to the
counterparties’ ability to meet its obligations. As at the end of the
reporting period, a provision for ECL of approximately HK$1.5 million
was recognised.

The Board is of the view that the above-mentioned methodology and
the basis applied were common and widely used in the market and
such approach in measuring the ECL on loan and interest receivables
is consistent with practice adopted by Group. The Board considers
such methodology and the basis applied are fair and reasonable.

The Group would conduct regular review and carry out follow up
actions (on a quarterly basis and continuing basis, if necessary) in
respect of overdue amounts to minimise the Group’s exposure to
credit risk and follow up closely with its borrowers as to the deadlines
in payment of interest of the loans. An aging analysis of the debtors
is prepared on a monthly basis and is closely monitored to minimise
any credit risk associated with these debtors. The management
team will in turn report the status of the Subsidiary’s loan portfolio
to the Board monthly, such that the Board may closely monitor the
loan portfolio and continue to adopt risk control and management
strategies while broadening the customer base.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
During the year, the Group financed its operations through equity
fund raising and by its internal resources.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$31.2 million (2022: HK$14.0 million), including cash
and bank balances of approximately HK$5.9 million (2022: HK$6.2
million).

The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current liabilities,
was approximately 2.1 times as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 1.7 times).
The increase in the current ratio during the year ended 31 March
2023 was mainly attributable to the reclassification of the investment
property from non-current assets during the year.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND GEARING

The capital structure of the Company comprised ordinary shares only.
There was no movement in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2023. Total equity attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$48.0 million as at 31
March 2023 (31 March 2022: HK$72.4 million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s borrowings comprised of lease
liabilities of approximately HK$9.5 million (2022: HK$15.4 million) and
interest-bearing borrowings of HK$5.0 million (2022: Nil). The Group's
gearing ratio, calculated by dividing total borrowings by total equity,
was approximately 30.2% (2022: 21.3%). The increase in the gearing
ratio during the year ended 31 March 2023 was mainly attributable to
inception of the interest-bearing borrowings during the year.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The operations of the Group are mainly conducted in Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$") and Renminbi (“RMB”) and its revenue, expenses,
assets, liabilities and borrowings are principally denominated in HK$
and RMB.

The Group does not enter into any instruments on the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange rate
movement and will take appropriate activities to reduce the exchange
risk.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP'S ASSETS
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group did not pledge any of its
assets.

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
Save for the disposal of investment property of approximately
HK$29.5 million which is subject to the fulfilment of conditions
precedent and the completion, there has been no significant
acquisition and disposal of assets or subsidiaries of the Group during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.
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COMMITMENTS
Details of the commitments of the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set
out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed 34 (2022: 37) employees.
The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its
workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training.
The Group remunerates its Directors and employees mainly based
on industry practices and individual’s performance and experience.
On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s
performance as well as individual’s performance.

Total remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2023 (including
emoluments and salaries to staff and Directors and MPF
contributions) was approximately HK$11.2 million (2022: HK$12.5
million). There was no material fluctuation in the remuneration during
the current year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects would be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
including business risks, operational risks and financial management
risks.

The key business and operations risk exposure by the Group are
summarized as follows:

The COVID-19 pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic may bring adverse impact on our
construction sites and construction works. We have implemented the
following hygiene and safety related measures:

o requesting staff and workers to wear surgical masks both at
office and works sites,

. requesting staff and workers to present negative COVID-19 test
results conducted within the past 7 to 14 days when entering
the works site;

. monitoring the stock of personal protective equipment
(including but not limited to surgical masks and hand sanitizer)
for our employees;

. conducting mandatory body temperature check before

entering works sites and random body temperature check at
works sites during the day;
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. requesting staff and workers to maintain personal hygiene and
those who have respiratory symptoms shall be refrained from
working and be asked to seek medical advice promptly;

. placing health educational materials on COVID-19 at prominent
areas of our office and works sites.

The financial risk management policies and practices of the Group are
shown in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
mentioned above which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has observed the sense of environmental conservation.
Various practices have been implemented to encourage compliance
with environmental legislation and promote awareness towards
environmental protection to the employees. Further discussion
of environmental policy and performance can be found in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report set out on pages 37 to
82 of this annual report.

The Group will review its environmental practices periodically and will
consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in
the operation of the Group's businesses.
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The biographical details of Directors and senior management as at 28
June 2023, being the date of this annual report, are set out below:

DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (“Mr. Chan”), aged 56, is an executive Director
and the chairman of the Company. He joined the Group since October
2015. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor degree with honours in Business
Administration and a master of science degree with distinction in
Corporate Governance and Directorship. He is a fellow of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He is a practising certified public
accountant and has extensive experience in financial management,
corporate development, corporate finance and corporate governance.

Mr. Chan is currently an executive director and the chief executive
officer of Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (Stock code: 2322).
He was an independent non-executive director of Media Asia Group
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8075) from September 2009 to March
2020, New Times Energy Corporation Limited (Stock code: 166) from
May 2012 to March 2020, Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited (Stock
code: 351) from September 2004 to July 2020 and Leyou Technologies
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1089), which shares were delisted
from the Stock Exchange on 24 December 2020, from July 2015 to
December 2020.

Mr. Wang Jun (“Mr. Wang"), aged 53, is an executive Director.
He joined the Group since February 2017. Mr. Wang completed a
certificate programme in General Education from B & 2 ZH0
2 (literally, Guangdong Suixi Education College), the PRC in
1988. Mr. Wang completed a professional programme in Business
Administration from _ /8B PRAS T 1 T 28R (Shanghai Institute
of International Economic and Technical Education) in the PRC
and was awarded a bachelor degree in management in 2010. He
also holds a qualification as qualified funds practitioner from the
Asset Management Association of China. Mr. Wang has extensive
experience in real estate, corporate strategic management, project
management, investment business, and funds management.
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Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (“Mr. A Chan”), aged 57, is an
independent non-executive Director since September 2015. Mr. A
Chan is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, and The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly, The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries)
and The Chartered Governance Institute. Mr. A Chan obtained a
Bachelor of Business Administration degree (major in Finance) from
Hong Kong Baptist University and professional diplomas in Hong
Kong tax and China tax from the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has served in senior financial and company
secretarial positions in a number of public companies listed in Hong
Kong and Singapore for years.

Mr. A Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of
Kingkey Intelligence Culture Holdings Limited (formerly, KK Culture
Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 550).

Mr. Wu Zhao (“Mr. Wu"), aged 45, is an independent non-executive
Director since November 2015. Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor degree in
Engineering (Chemical) from the University of Queensland, Australia.
He also obtained a master of commerce in applied finance and a
master of information technology from the University of Queensland,
Australia. He has extensive experience in finance, information
technology, investment and funds management.

Mr. Wu is currently an independent non-executive director of Silk
Road Logistics Holdings Limited (Stock code: 988).

Mr. Lam Cheok Va (“Mr. Lam”), aged 64, is an independent
non-executive Director since April 2016. Mr. Lam is a member of
Election Committee of the Macau Special Administrative Region.
Mr. Lam was a member of the Standing Committee of Yunnan
Province Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (9th, 10th and 11th). He is also the President of Macau
Yunnan Chamber of Commerce, the Director General of Macau
Small and Medium Enterprises Chamber of Commerce, a director
of China Federation of Overseas Entrepreneurs, a director of Macau
Chamber of Commerce, an executive director of Macau Region China
Council for the Promotion of Peaceful National Reunification, and a
member of Advisory Board of School of Language and Translation
of Macau Polytechnic Institute. Mr. Lam has extensive experience in
business including entertainment, food and beverage, retail, tourism
and consulting. Mr. Lam is currently President of Macau Innovation
Development Research Association, focusing in studies and research
of government policies and strategies.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton (“Mr. Pang”), aged 54, is the financial
controller and the company secretary of the Company. He currently
holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Pang has
extensive experience in the field of accounting, auditing, business
advisory services and financial management. He has been engaged
in the senior financial and company secretarial position in listed
companies in Hong Kong since 2014. Mr. Pang holds a Master of
Professional Accounting degree from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is a fellow member of the Association of International
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chiu Kam Sang (“Mr. Chiu"”), aged 58, is the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chiu joined the Group in 2018 and
has extensive experience in waterproofing works and maintenance
industries.

Mr. Li Sze Yan (“Mr. Li"), aged 43, is the project controller of a

subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Li join the Group in December 2017 and
has extensive experience in fitting out and engineering industries.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The board (the "Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present this corporate
governance report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers that incorporating the elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures and internal
control procedures of the Group could balance the interests of
the shareholders, customers and employees of the Company. The
Board has adopted the principles and the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
15 of the Rules (the “GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) to ensure that business activities and decision
making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.
In accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has established an audit committee, a remuneration
committee, a nomination committee and a compliance committee
with specific written terms of reference. During the year ended 31
March 2023, the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has put in place internal policies to ensure the
compliance and has adopted and complied with the code provisions
set out in the CG Code during the year except for the following
deviation from the Code provisions:

. Code provision A.2.1 stipulated that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The post of chief executive
of the Company has remained vacant since 21 February 2020
and as at the date of this report. The duties of chief executive
have been performed by other executive Directors. As there is
a clear division of responsibilities of each Director, the vacancy
of the post of chief executive did not have any material impact
on the operations of the Group. Nevertheless, the Board
will review the current structure from time to time and if a
candidate with suitable knowledge, skill and experience is
identified, the Board will make an appointment to fill the post of
chief executive as appropriate.
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DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors in accordance with Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

No Director has dealt in the shares of the Company during the year.

Following specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors confirmed
that they have complied with such code of conduct throughout the
year ended 31 March 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board currently comprises
two executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Directors in office during the year
and up to the date of this annual report are set out in the “Report of
the Directors” in this annual report on pages 83 to 91.

Functions of the Board

The principal function of the Board is to consider and approve
the overall business plans and strategies of the Group, develop
and implement the corporate governance function, monitor the
implementation of these policies and strategies and the management
of the Company. The Group has a professional management team,
which is led by a team of senior management with substantial
experience and expertise in the Group's business and the Board
delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing the
Group's policies and strategies. During the year, the management
provided all members of the Board with updates in accordance with
the code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means
of electronic communication in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association. All minutes of the Board meetings were
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the decisions reached.
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During the year, the Board held 11 Board meetings and 1 general
meeting. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:

REERN EFEERETNREFEEHERIR
IRERARE -BEEHHEFBNT

Attendance/
Number of Attendance/
General Number of
Meeting Board Meeting
entitled to entitled to
attend attend
HERE HERE
BEUEN BEWEN
BREXE EFgg;
BITRH BITRHY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman) fREiESE (F/E) 11 11/11
Mr. Wang Jun FERE 1/1 11/11
Mr. Zhang Weijie RERLE
(resigned on 13 February 2023) RZE_=F"B+=H#D 0/1 2/10
Non-executive Director ERITES
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong BilEiE
(resigned on 3 June 2023) MRZBEZ=FB=H#&MD 1/1 11/11
Independent non-executive Directors BIIERITES
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex PRI A& 11 11/11
Mr. Wu Zhao Skt 171 11/11
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va4t & 1/1 11/11

Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal
Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, each of the executive
Directors, the non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of two or three years and such
term shall be governed by the articles of association and/or other
relevant regulatory requirements unless terminated by either party
giving at least three months' notice in writing.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, all
directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject
to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment. By virtue of article 113 of the articles of association of
the Company, the Board may appoint any person as an additional
Director or to fill a casual vacancy, provided that any person so
appointed shall hold office only until the conclusion of the next
following general meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a
casual vacancy) or until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company (in the case of an addition to the Board), and shall then
be eligible for re-election.
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In addition, every director should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 141
of the articles of association of the Company, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation but shall be eligible for re-election.
Where the number of Directors is not three or a number divisible by
three, the number of Directors to retire will be the number which is
nearest to but not less than one-third of the total number of Directors.
If there are less than three Directors, they shall all retire. The Directors
to retire by rotation will be those Directors who have been Directors
longest in office since they were last elected, or appointed by the
Members (as the case may be). Every retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors to
comply with Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules. Furthermore, among
the three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chan Chiu Hung
Alex has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required by Rule 5.05(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules. In accordance to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence. The
Company, based on such confirmation, considers Mr. Chan Chiu Hung
Alex, Mr. Wu Zhao and Mr. Lam Cheok Va to be independent.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The post of chief
executive of the Company has remained vacant since 21 February
2020 and as at the date of this report. The duties of chief executive
have been performed by other executive Directors. As there is a clear
division of responsibilities of each Director, the vacancy of the post of
chief executive did not have any material impact on the operations of
the Group. Nevertheless, the Board will review the current structure
from time to time and if a candidate with suitable knowledge, skill and
experience is identified, the Board will make an appointment to fill the
post of chief executive as appropriate.
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Delegation of Powers

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to executive
Directors and management of the Company with department heads
responsible for different aspects of the business/functions, while
reserving certain key matters in making strategic decision for its
approval. When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to management, it gives clear directions
as to the powers of management, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management need to report back and obtain
prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering
into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Continuing Professional Development

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
shall participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company would
arrange and/or introduce some Director’s training courses for the
Directors to develop and explore their knowledge and skills.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment, so as
to ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he is fully aware of his
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements. The Directors are continually
updated on the legal and regulatory developments, as well as
business and market changes, to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.

All Directors during the reporting period have participated in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills through suitable trainings. The participation
in such trainings is to ensure that their contributions to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering the
liabilities in respect of legal action against the Directors that may arise
out in the corporate activities which has been complied with the CG
Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing
Rules and code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors and
is chaired by Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex. The other members are Mr.
Wu Zhao and Mr. Lam Cheok Va. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include the review of the Group's financial reporting
process and the internal control systems as well as risk management
of the Group.

The Audit Committee had reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed financial matters, including a review of the audited
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

5 Audit Committee meetings were held during the year. Details of
the attendance of members of the Audit Committee meeting are as
follows:
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ZHBRBREFRAEERZ AT E UK
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REFER BEREZEGRISRNER -BLEE
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Attendance
Members RE HiFERE
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman) BREIESE (F/E) 5/5
Mr. Wu Zhao Skt 5/5
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Vast & 5/5
A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the MU TNABZEZEGNAFRMETZ TIEHE !
year is set out below:
(@)  reviewed the audited consolidated results of the Group for the (a) BREAEEHE—_ZT-_—_F#=-F=+—H

year ended 31 March 2022;
(b)  reviewed the unaudited financial statements for three months

ended 30 June 2022, six months ended 30 September 2022 and
nine months ended 31 December 2022,

(c) reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s financial controls,
internal control and risk management systems,

(d) reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and practices, and
financial reporting matters;
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(e) approved the remuneration and the appointment and the
terms of engagement of the external auditor; and

() reviewed the external auditor's independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of audit process in accordance with
applicable standards.

In the meeting of the Audit Committee in June 2023, the Audit
Committee reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, the financial statements and other reports
for the year ended 31 March 2023 and discuss any significant
audit matters with the Company’s external auditor and the
senior management before recommending them to the Board for
consideration and approval. The Audit Committee recommended the
Board in relation to the re-appointment of Mazars CPA Limited as the
Company's external auditor for the financial year ending 31 March
2024 at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision E.1.2
of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr.
Lam Cheok Va. The other members are Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex
and Mr. Wu Zhao. The primary duties of the remuneration committee
are to review and recommend the terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to the Directors and the
senior management personnel of the Group, including benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment.

1 Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year to
review the remuneration packages of all Directors. Details of the
attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee meeting
are as follows:
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Attendance
Members [54=] HERE
Mr. Lam Cheok Va (Chairman) Lam Cheok Va4 (#/%) 1/1
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex PR 1) A e 4 11
Mr. Wu Zhao SIREE 1/1
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Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior
Management

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and
allowances. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated based
on the performance of individual employees and are reviewed
regularly. Subject to the Group's profitability, the Group may also
provide a discretionary bonus to employees as an incentive for their
contribution to the Group. The primary goal of the remuneration
policy with regard to the remuneration package of the executive
Directors is to enable the Group to retain and motivate the executive
Directors by linking their compensation with performance as
measured against corporate objectives achieved. The executive
Directors are entitled to the remuneration packages including basic
salaries and discretionary bonuses.

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by sole Shareholder by way of written
resolution on 30 June 2014. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
(i) employees of the Group (whether full-time or part-time); (ii)
directors (including executive directors, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors (where applicable)) of the
Group; (i) substantial shareholders of each member of the Group and
(iv) associates of directors or substantial shareholders of the Group
of which includes any of the abovementioned persons (together, the
“Participants” and each, a “Participant”) with an opportunity to obtain
an equity interest in the Company, thus linking their interest with the
interests of the Group and thereby providing them with an incentive
to work better for the interests of the Group.

The Company believes that by offering the Participants a shareholding
stake in the Company, the interests of the Participants and the
Company become aligning and thereby the Participants have
additional incentives to improve the Company's performance.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for
the year ended 31 March 2023 are as follows:
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Nomination Committee

The Board is empowered under the Company’s articles of association
to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy on
or, as an additional member of the Board. Qualified candidates will be
proposed to the Board for consideration and the selection criteria are
mainly based on the assessment of their professional qualifications
and experience. The Board selects and recommends candidates for
directorship to the shareholders having regards to the balance of
skills and experience appropriate to the Group's business.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.3.1
of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Wu
Zhao. The other members are Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex and Mr. Lam
Cheok Va. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board regarding the candidates for
directorship, either to fill vacancies on or appoint additional Directors,
and succession planning for Directors, in particular, the chairman and
the chief executive of the Company.

R%ZEg
EXERBAAEMEMEZMAFTRTES
ZEEAATHESFLUEFRR ZHR > 0A
EXZEANAHE -AERBEEAREREZESY
DHERE MEFEETBRBBRBEAZIEER

RS TEER - ERERERBEEAES
FERBEBRBERERE  RERDRRE
BHHUEESE-

SABTN _E—NESB=Z+HRIUIEREES
(MRELZEEE)) WERGES AT ZSFE
B EBI K] EEBEHE IRR T E SR
H=2BYIFERTERER AR EET
F[E > HER S BRI E Rlam Cheok Vasc
F o REEETHNTIERSATMREREETAE
DUERTERREENEEEURESHTE (BH
RANBEEREIBITHRAR DESSREE

1 Nomination Committee meeting was held during the year to review  RAERN IREEZE T LE1T1 ’K’SE%M%%iEE
the appointment of all Directors. Details of the attendance of the BEZZE - RELEZEGHELELHZFBN
members of the Nomination Committee meeting are as follows: T

Attendance
Members [53= HERH
Mr. Wu Zhao (Chairman) LI E (/) il
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex Egalp e 1/1
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va 171
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board had adopted and established a set of board diversity policy
(the "Board Diversity Policy”) setting out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board with the aims of enhancing Board effectiveness
and corporate governance as well as achieving the Group's business
objectives and sustainable development. The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the
quality of its performance. In designing the Board's composition, the
Nomination Committee will consider a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. Since the Board was comprised with single gender Directors
as at the date of this report, the Board aims to nominate and appoint
at least one female candidate to be the Board member within the
next two financial years. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and reports to the Board on the achievement
of the measurable objectives for achieving diversity under the Board
Diversity Policy.

Compliance Committee

The compliance committee of the Company (the “Compliance
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference. The Compliance Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired
by Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex. The other members are Mr. Wu Zhao and
Mr. Lam Cheok Va.
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The primary duties of the Compliance Committee are to review
matters relating to the historical conduct of the operations of the
Group with a view to () understand the relevant legal compliance
obligations; (ii) recommend procedures and protocols for
implementation and/or inclusion into the policies of the Group for
regulation of our recent or future operations to ensure compliance
with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, and to review such
policies from time to time to consider whether any amendments
or updates are necessary and to make recommendations to
the Board for amendment and adoption as appropriate, and (iii)
review the effectiveness of and compliance by the Group with the
policies implemented by the Group and to recommend remedial
actions to be taken (if any) in the event any non-compliance is
discovered. Any incident of non-compliance will be reported to our
compliance committee. Meetings will be held on a monthly basis
or as and when necessary to perform the functions set out above.
For effective monitoring, external independent professionals will
be engaged to conduct reviews of our internal control system and
its implementation and effectiveness on an annual basis, and if
considered necessary by compliance committee, at frequency as it
considered appropriate.

1 Compliance Committee meeting was held during the year. Details
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of the attendance of the members of the Compliance Committee E@REHEEHEZFIBFWNT
meeting are as follows:

Attendance
Members [74= HERE
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman) FREREE (F/E) 11
Mr. Wu Zhao SIS E 11
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok VaZt & 1/1
Corporate Governance Functions TEERRAE

According to code provision D.3 of the CG Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
of the Company. The Board shall have the following duties and
responsibilities for performing the corporate governance duties of the
Company:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

o8 to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code as set
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in
the corporate governance report of the Company.

Accountability and Audit

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledges their responsibility to prepare the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial period to give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board has selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent
and detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report. The
Directors continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing
the consolidated financial statements and are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company's
auditors, Mazars CPA Limited, in respect of their audit and non-audit
services was as follows:

4. HE BRAERBANREFREEZT
ATURGHEFM WA ; &

5. BRAREEFGEM LETRAIMER15PTE
Z2EEEATANBRURNR AT RE
EARARETANRIKEFE

BB RZH
EERZBANGEMBRROEE

SRR EE SR UANEERMHEE
MG EMBEREX LEBR AT KRAER
AZEEENEBR AR EERIRERE - NRE
HE_ S =—F=-FB=+—HILEENGGY
BKHRKRF EECCRENRERERABEN g
B EHBE A FREENH &G 1
B EREEERUREMERR -EENEE
RER—EBRNBNEHRESEBNEE
KB IE R BEE R B IRITA - BRIZ AT
HEEUERRNBSSTNE RN BEILIZ
MRS - ERBERNTELCEELE DRI
BMBHREX BN ANEBEEAEAFTHRRER
BRAEEHAABEARBECSEERELT X
SRRSO o

= BN =

BEAFE MBRAIFEZRFENIENE
RNEVZHEAPERIR (BB SstAEBFAAR
ARWBEIT

HK$'000

FET

Audit service EIZRTS 720
Non-audit services JEBIZARFE B -
Total 4ast 720
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company and for
reviewing its effectiveness, is committed to implement an effective
and sound risk management and internal control systems to
safeguard the interests of shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board is responsible for establishing the Group's internal
control framework, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls, as well as risk management
functions of different systems. Review has been carried out in a
systematic approach based on the risk assessments of the operations
and controls. The Board considers that the key areas of the Group’s
internal control systems are reasonably implemented.

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted a review, via an appointed professional
firm to perform internal audit function, on the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
financial, operational and risk management aspects. The systems
were considered effective and adequate.

The Group adopts a complete process style of risk management
in a functional bottom up manner, including risk identification,
assessment, evaluation and treatment. The functional areas across
the Group provide input of risks with treatments, which are appraised
and maintained. The risk management system, as well as the internal
control system, are continuous, proactive and systematic processes.

With the implementation of internal audit function, the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems is reviewed by
conducting internal audit assignments. Recommendations for major
observations of control weaknesses from the audits will be provided,
S0 as to resolve material internal control defects.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted and established a set of dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”). The Company currently does not have a pre—
determined dividend payout ratio. Any declaration, payment and
amount of dividend in the future are subject to the Board's discretion
having regard to the Group's future financial performance and
earnings, capital requirement and surplus, general financial conditions
and other factors as the Board may consider relevant.
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS
The Company values communication with the shareholders and
investors. The Company uses two-way communication channels to
account to shareholders and investors for the performance of the
Company. Enquiries and suggestions from shareholders or investors
are welcomed, and enquiries from shareholders may be put to the
Board through the following channels to the executive Director:

1. By mail to the Company’s principal place of business at Suite
2201, 22/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong;

2. By email to info@royalcentury.hk.

The Company uses a number of formal communications channel
to account to shareholders and investors for the performance of
the Company. These include () the publication of quarterly, interim
and annual reports; (i) the annual general meeting or extraordinary
general meeting providing a forum for shareholders to raise
comments and exchanging views with the Board; (iii) updated key
information of the Group available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company; (iv) the Company’s website offering
communication channel between the Company and its shareholders
and investors; and (v) the Company'’s share registrars in Hong Kong
serving the shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors with
high standards of disclosure and financial transparency. The Board
is committed to provide clear, detailed, timely manner and on a
regular basis information of the Group to shareholders through the
publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports and/or dispatching
circulars, notices, and other announcements.

The Company strives to take into consideration its shareholders’
views and inputs, and address shareholders’ concerns. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting for which at
least 20 clear business days’ notice shall be given. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Compliance Committee, or in their absence, the Directors are
available to answer shareholders’ questions on the Group's
businesses at the meeting. To comply with code provision E.1.2 of the
CG Code, the management will ensure the external auditor to attend
the annual general meeting to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.
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All shareholders have statutory rights to call for extraordinary
general meetings and put forward agenda items for consideration by
shareholders. According to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance,
The directors are required to call a general meeting if the company
has received requests to do so from members of the company
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the members
having a right to vote at general meetings. A request (a) must state
the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting;
and (b) may include the text of a resolution that may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting.

A shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring director or
recommended by the board of directors for election as a director by
validly lodging the following documents within the period hereinafter
mentioned at the registered office of the Company at Suite 2201,
22/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong:

1. a notice in writing of the intention to propose the appointment
or reappointment of such person to the office of director, which
must state the full name of such person, include the person’s
biographical details as required by rule 17.50(2) of the GEM
Listing Rules and be signed by the proposing shareholder; and

2. a notice in writing signed by such person of his willingness to
be appointed or re-appointed as a director together with his
written consent to the publication of his/her personal data.

Such documents shall be lodged at the registered office of the
Company within the period of seven (7) days after the dispatch of
the notice of the general meeting. Upon receipt of such documents,
the Company shall verify the documents and, if the proposal is found
to be in order, publish an announcement or issue a supplementary
circular in respect of the proposal in accordance with rule 17.46B of
the GEM Listing Rules.

In the event of any general meeting called by at least ten (10) clear
business days’ (as defined by the GEM Listing Rules) or fourteen (14)
days’ (whichever is the longer) notice in writing, such documents
lodged within the aforesaid period may be received less than ten
(10) business days prior to the general meeting, in which case the
Company will consider the adjournment of the general meeting
in order to give shareholders at least ten (10) business days to
consider the relevant information disclosed in the announcement or
supplementary circular.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains website (http://www.royalcentury.hk) which includes the
latest information relating to the Group and its businesses.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton is the company secretary of the Company.
During the year, Mr. Pang has duly complied with relevant professional
training requirements in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year, the Company has not made any changes to its
articles of association.

Annual Report 2022/2023
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Purpose and Objective

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Group” or “we") are
pleased to present our annual Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG") Report (the “Report”). The Report discloses the Group's
management approach, strategies, policies and performance on
various sustainability issues in a transparent manner. We recognise
the importance of ESG value and are dedicated to creating long-
term shared value for the environment, employees, customers and
community by paying attention to our stakeholders' needs.

Reporting Scope and Period

Unless otherwise specified, the scope of the Report is consistent with
the reporting scope of the Group's annual report. The information
disclosed in the Report covers our core business segments, including
(i) provision of design, fitting-out and engineering procurement of
furnishings and related products services (“design, fitting-out and
engineering services”); (i) leasing of construction equipment and
provision of related installation services (“leasing of construction
equipment”); (iii) sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare
wines (“wines merchandising”); and (iv) financial services business
comprising securities advisory services, securities dealing and
brokerage services and asset management services and money
lending (“financial services business”), for the period from 1 April
2022 to 31 March 2023 (the “Reporting Period").

The reporting boundary is determined according to the corresponding
materiality of each business segment to our business and operations,
as well as the sustainability impact.

Reporting Standards

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the latest
disclosure requirements of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix
20 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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Reporting Principles

The Report has been prepared based on the reporting principles of
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency outlined in the ESG
Reporting Guide to ensure that the Report clearly presents the ESG
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issues that are of concern to our stakeholders.

Reporting
Principles
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Materiality
EEMH

Quantitative
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Balance
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Consistency
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Access to the Report

Our Application
FKMHrEF

The Report is structured based on the materiality of respective sustainability issues, as assessed
and identified through regular stakeholder engagement activities and materiality assessment.
Issues that reflect the highest significance to both the Group and key stakeholders, in terms of
environmental and social impacts, are considered material and will be further discussed in the
Report. For further details of our stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment processes,
please refer to the sections of “Stakeholder Engagement “and “Materiality Assessment”.
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We have listed relevant quantified environmental and social key performance indicators
(“KPIs") and their historical data, where applicable, in the Report so that stakeholders can better
understand the Group's sustainability performance.
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The Group has provided an unbiased picture of our ESG performance by impartially disclosing
relevant ESG performance, challenges and opportunities of the Group during the Reporting Period
in the Report.
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The Report has been prepared to be consistent with the methodology applied in previous ESG
reports, allowing for meaningful comparisons over time, unless otherwise specified. Necessary
explanations would be provided regarding any changes to the methodology used, as compared to
the previous year, in the Report.
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As part of the annual report of the Group, the Report has been
prepared in both English and Chinese and is available on our
corporate website at http://www.royalcentury.hk. In case of any
discrepancy, the English version shall prevail.

Your Feedback

The Group endeavours to connect with our stakeholders through the
Report. We would like to invite you to share your valuable opinions,
which would help us further refine our sustainability management
approach and performance. If you have any inquiries or suggestions,
please contact us at info@royalcentury.hk.
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ABOUT THE GROUP
The Group is principally engaged in four business segments,
including:

o Provision of design, fitting-out and engineering and
procurement of furnishings and related products services,

. Leasing of construction equipment and provision of related
installation services,

J Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines; and
. Financial services business comprising securities advisory

services, securities dealing and brokerage services and asset
management services and money lending.

Our Operations
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OUR MANAGEMENT APPROACH TO
SUSTAINABILITY

ESG Management Approach and Strategy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally, socially
and economically responsible manner across all segments of our
business. In pursuit of a sustainable future for the environment,
employees, customers and community, the board of directors of
the Group (the “Board”) approves the ESG framework including four
sustainability pillars: (1) Creating Value for Our Employees; (2) Creating
Value for Our Customers; (3) Creating Value for Our Environment; and
(4) Creating Value for Our Community, as well as the sustainability
goals and targets* for each of the sustainability pillars as set out
below.

our Goal
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To enhance customer
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products and services for
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our Goal

EMRBR

To shoulder corporate
social responsibility
and give back to our
communities
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our Goal*
PR BE
To pursue green and sustainable

Creating Value for operations by reducing our
QU EE Tt impact to the environment in

ARSI EE -
response to climate change
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ESG Governance and Board’s Oversight

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting. The Board provides oversight of our ESG issues and sets
the overall direction for the Group’s ESG management approach
and strategy. Delegated by the Board, the ESG Working Group is
responsible for overseeing the Group’s ESG management approach,
driving the planning and implementation of the Group’s ESG-related
matters, and advising the Board on the matters including but not
limited to the below on a regular basis:

o developing and reviewing the ESG management approach,
vision, goals and targets, and strategies for the Group;

o identifying, evaluating, prioritising and managing material ESG-
related risks (including but not limited to climate-related risks
and environmental and social risks along the supply chain) and
formulating preventive and mitigation plans;

. formulating and overseeing the implementation of ESG-related
policies and initiatives;

. reviewing the material interests of the Group's key stakeholders
and reporting their opinions on material issues to the Group to
ensure the long-term ESG strategic direction;

. reviewing and monitoring the implementation of the Group's
ESG performance and progress made against the ESG-related
targets and goals;

. embedding the sustainability strategy in each department of
the Group;

. reviewing and monitoring employees’ training and
development of the Group;

. coordinating with other staff to deliver ESG-related matters in
daily operations; and

. preparing an annual ESG report on its activities for the Board's
approval.
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ESG Governance Structure

ESGEA%EIE

The Board
Exg

Finance and Administrative
Division

AT AT ERERF ANEIREDFI

ESG Risk Management

The Group considers ESG risk management as an integral part of
sustainable operations and sound corporate governance. Being
accountable for the sustainable growth of the Group, the Board
retains the ultimate responsibility for the oversight of the Group's
ESG-related risk management activities. The ESG Working Group is
responsible for identifying, evaluating, prioritising and managing ESG-
related risks including but not limited to climate-related risks and
also environmental and social risks along the supply chain. Relevant
control measures are formulated and implemented to mitigate
material ESG-related risks at corresponding business levels. The Board
reviews the effectiveness of the control measures and provides
relevant suggestions, if necessary, on a regular basis. For more details
of our corporate governance and risk management approach, please
refer to the “Corporate Governance Report” section in this annual
report.

Stakeholder Engagement

Maintaining on-going communication with stakeholders allows us
to better understand their expectations regarding our sustainability
performance and respond to their needs appropriately. We
communicate with internal and external key stakeholders through a
variety of communication channels to identify material sustainability
issues. This would guide us in further refining our future sustainability
management approach and strategy and continuously improving our
corporate social responsibilities.
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Human Resources Division

Sales and Administrative
Division
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We have summarised the key stakeholder groups and

communication channels in the following table:

Key Stakeholders

TERMNE

RE:

Communication Channels

ABERE

RUEETERPRE T TERMEENREBEE

Customers .
'R

Customer meetings

BR g

Meetings with sales representatives
HERKEE

Customer hotline

BRHE

Shareholders and Investors 3
BRREEEE

Shareholders’ and investors’ meetings
BREREEESZR

Company website

REVHEE

Email

B EfH

Employees .
==

Departmental meetings
EREE

Staff appraisal meetings
BT EEE
Seminars, workshops and trainings
BT &~ TR R IEE
Intranet

) B 4

Email

BT M4

Internal memo
A=

Suppliers and Business Partners o
R EESEBH

Physical and phone meetings
ERKEEEE

On-site briefing and trainings

IR 5 R R s 5l

Collaboration between project managers
EEKEBEZBENETE

Co-ordination with purchase managers
RIS IR B 178
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Key Stakeholders

FERGE

Government and °
Regulatory Authorities
B KR EE S .

Communication Channels

BEBRE

Seminars, reports and circulars on regulations
RAFOER A & ~ 3RS K@K

Company website

REVHEIL

Email

BT Y

Fax

BE

Enquiry hotline

BN

Financial Institutions °
ERIEAE

Physical and phone meetings
ERREERH

Financial report

MRS

Corporate announcement

NSIVN =

Media .
EL

Media meetings after shareholders’ meetings
BREREASBNEEZZR

Company website

NGIE D

Email

BFHH

Enquiry hotline

B AR

Community and Non-governmental .
Organisations (“NGOs”)
HERIEEFFEEE o

Participation in community activities
ZHEtEED

Community news

& H
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Materiality Assessment

The Group identifies the materiality of ESG-related issues to both
the Group and its stakeholders based on stakeholder engagement
activities on a regular basis. Facilitated by an independent
sustainability consultant, our most recent materiality assessment
was carried out in 2021/22, engaging both internal and external key
stakeholder groups through online questionnaires; the results of this
materiality assessment continue to represent the material topics
raised by stakeholders. The following steps describe our materiality
assessment processes:

CIEERERAIRAE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

HFEMTME

SEETHEBFMHE S HEH ) T EESGHE
A AEENFNENEE S E B T
BEREMENOHES T RAREHNEZR ST
§R2021/22F E#1T > B3 L MERAT RS
KON EBR M EAREITER ; ZTEERE
BENMFNERBINEE U TS BT &
FNEB M HBTE -

e We engaged an independent sustainability consultant to identify a list of 25 ESG issues

Identification relevant to the Group by referencing to the The Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide,
gl industry characteristics, business operations and stakeholder feedback.

s RMEFTBUNKELRER BBRSEEBHIFIESGREES M TERM EHE

EURFFNERNREE #i5 72500 A B AR RAMESGEBE B E

e We invited internal and external key stakeholders to complete an online
questionnaire and rate the importance of the ESG issues.
o HMBFEABRININEZFHETHAR LBERE > WHESGEERN

BB o

e We evaluated and analysed the results of questionnaire rating to identify
the prioritised material ESG issues, and compiled a materiality matrix.

e BMEMEHAENGERETTTHMNON UEEBLEZTENEKX
ESGRE » W AR I T EEEFER -

e A list of 6 most material ESG issues was presented to
the ESG Working Group for discussion and validation.

o B EIER6EREAESGEEMNSIFRIRZ24ESCT (E/)\A
DAYESY 30 S BT ©

i
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Materiality Matrix

EEMIER
Ny
._%O{DIE
o 21 ® 15
® 13
® 18
% ® 10 ® 19 @ 22
E H ® 17 ® 24 o7
o8
L o0
‘3 ?E © 14 ® 12 ® 16
S ¥
§ = ® 23 ® 20
Eo ®56
®3 ® 25
04
o8 o2
@5 e
3w ® 11
Low High
& Significance to the Group =
HALENEZN
List of ESG Issues ESG:& &SR
Air emissions 10.  Clean technology 18.  Product assurance and quality
EERBE IRRIRMT EmREHES
Waste 11.  Green finance 19.  Customer service
EEE4Y) AR R B ARTS
Energy consumption 12.  Staff welfare 20. Intellectual property rights
BEIRHAE EERA management
Greenhouse gas emissions 13.  Equal-opportunity, diversity, NHE#SE
BEREBHEK anti-discrimination 21.  Marketing and advertising
Water consumption TEHE 2 RE®R MGHEERES
KEIR 14.  Occupational health and 22.  Anti-corruption
Packaging material safety SV
consumption BEREREZE 23.  Community investment
B EYRHE A 15.  Staff development and HEeRE
Climate change risk training 24, Product design and innovation
REEEHNRERE BT #EEKRIE E R st EARIFT
Green procurement and 16.  Employment compliance 25.  Data protection and
sourcing BESRME cybersecurity
AR IR 17.  Ethically responsible B REAPRZS
Environmental risk in supply sourcing
chain BETXRE
RS PV IRIE B
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The 6 ESG issues at the top right quadrant of the above materiality I _EEE 4B A £ AN B AI6TEESGE 8 5
matrix indicate the most material sustainability issues identified and ~ BAREANIFEL BEE Wi EARE D

will be further discussed in the Report. E—FTme
Material ESG Issue Section
B AESG:EE =1:1]
7. Climate change risk Climate Change
RIEEERY R K RIZEE
9. Environmental risk in supply chain Supply Chain Management
R pESE P IV IRIE BB HAEREIE
15.  Staff development and training Development and Training
BT ERAIEI R EE
18.  Product assurance and quality Product and Service Quality
EmfrERES EmRRBEER
22.  Anti-corruption Anti-corruption
k&S k&S
Anti-money Laundering
%R
24.  Product design and innovation Product and Service Quality
B mmaR 5t B AT EmRRBEER

T TR CFERE
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR EMPLOYEES

ABRMANETIRIGEEE

Our Goal:
KA EE:

HEMNETEI —EESMNREN TIFRR

Material Topic(s) Covered:

FRiREmNERERE !
o Staff development and training
BT #ERIEI

o To build an inclusive and joyful work environment for our employees

The Group values its employees, as they are of utmost importance to
the Group's long-term development and success. We strive to create
a safe, inclusive and joyful work environment to our staff where
they feel rewarded, encouraged and accommodated. We ensure
strict compliance with applicable laws and regulations in relation to
employment practices in Hong Kong and in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), including but not limited to:

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

Annual Report 2022/2023
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Employee Distribution

As of 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of 34 full-time employees
(2021/22: 37 full-time employees). The employee distribution by
gender, age group, employment category and geographical region is

as follows:
By Gender
IERED
2 4
2021/22
W 2022/23
5
&)
Male Female
it keq i
By Employment Category
REEEREIS
24
22
2021/22
W 2022/23
10 9
3 3
Senior Middle General And
Management Management  Technical Staff
BREEE PREERE —MRRAEMET

Employee Turnover

During the Reporting Period, the overall employee turnover rate was
18% (2021/22: 16%). The employee turnover by gender, age group and

geographical region is shown in the following graphs.

BTN

HEZZ-=F=-HA=+—RH ' ~EEHEUL
2RET (2021/22 1 372 2WET) - 4R &
B EEEERMEE ONETHHNT

By Age Group
RERHERIBIS
12
11
10 2021/22
9 9 W 2022/23
8
6 6
0 O
Below31  31-40 41-50 51-60  Above 60
3BT 31405k 41405 51-40B% 60REMLLE
By Geographical Region
freulen Iba)
32
30
2021/22
W 2022/23
5 4
Hong Kong The PRC
&5 FE
BIRK

RREMRE  HRPNE T EERAEXEE18%
(2021/22 1 16%) ° TERET T2 %ER] ~ FH 48
A EEDRIE THKE.

Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate
(By Gender) (By Age Group) (By Geographical Region)
BIMAE BIMAE Tk
(Z1%51819) (FRERAERIBI9) (ﬁithﬂJﬁ)
40% 50% 50%
33%
2021/22 33% 2021/22 2021/22
W 2022/23 W 2022/23 W 2022/23
16
13% » 18% 19%
13%
8% || 10%
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% . 0%
Male Female Below31 3140 4150 51-60 Above 60 Hong Kong The PRC
fegid 3T 31-40s%  41-408%  51-408%  GOBRMA L &% E

Notes:

1) All employee-related data covered the entire Group, including employees in 1)

the PRC.

st -

R

FrEET RSB REREED SFETENET

TECCfF TECCFERE
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Employee Rights and Welfare

We aim to enhance the wellbeing of our employees and protect
their rights. We uphold the principle of equal opportunities and
adopt zero-tolerance towards any kind of discrimination related to
race, nationality, ethnic origin, religion, sex, or marital status. In this
regard, our policies related to equal opportunity, diversity and anti-
discrimination are clearly stated in our Staff Handbook. During our
recruitment process, we provide equal opportunity to consider
the right candidates based on their appropriate experiences, skills,
competencies and qualifications for a particular position. We provide
equal opportunity of access to appropriate training and development
based on identified business and individual needs.

To safeguard the rights of our staff and foster employee welfare,
we have in place fair and comprehensive human resources policies
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
development and training, working hours, rest periods, benefits and
welfare, and which are set out in our Staff Handbook.

Employee Benefits

BI&EM

BT

HPI RS B TR I (RE M FIBIREF]
RURFTTEHERA BEFEEER  HHE-
TR~ R 1B BRI R B R R S AR SRR
ABVREE UL FAV(ETTM) BHESRRK
FPIERTER S Lo b UK RIXARBRIAIEER ©
AREBRET HARKBERHTSHE I
REBMFER RO LA B S8R BaE 88

MER > ZEEEHIREE - RABRBESHAIEY
EGNAARE REEERIRERNTSH

@o

RHREE T kEE S TR HFIEFHM
KR e~ B R E 7 S REEI TIFRE R
B FBEEREMNEIEET ATYREENAS
ERER > WeFH R R FAN(EIFMI e

Paid Leaves Caring Benefits
AR FRTE R 42

e Annual leaves o Staff birthday parties
FiR BT4HIKE

e Maternity leaves e Festival celebrations
ER g HE

Apart from employees’ work performance, we are also concerned
about their wellbeing and encourage work-life balance. To foster a
joyful and positive work atmosphere, we organise various employee
activities each year. During the Reporting Period, a series of lunch
gatherings were organised at our offices to celebrate Mid-autumn
Festival, Christmas and Chinese New Year with our employees.

Attracting and Retaining Talents

Talent acquisition is crucial to the Group's long-term success and
competitiveness. To attract and retain employees with loyalty, passion
and desired skillsets, we provide competitive remuneration package
and benefits to our staff. We continuously monitor market practices
and receive feedback from our staff on salary compensation to
ensure that the salary package provided is in line with the market
standards. Staff appraisal is conducted annually to provide our
staff with sufficient opportunities for advancement and help them
to improve and grow. The staff appraisal result forms the basis for
determining employees’ salary, discretionary bonus and promotion
opportunities.

Annual Report 2022/2023

e Discretionary bonus
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Occupational Health and Safety

The Group regards safety as the first priority in our business as we
have the responsibility to safeguard the health and safety of our
people, subcontractors and the public, where appropriate, in the daily
operations. As such, various occupational health and safety measures
and relevant procedures are implemented for our staff in offices and
construction sites. The Group also strictly complies with applicable
laws and regulations in relation to health and safety in Hong Kong and
in the PRC, including but not limited to:

Hong Kong
BE

HWERERARS
FEERZER/RMEFTHEE IR ARFAAE
BEEEHEEETRESEI - DEBRAR (W
BRNEENZZ2 -BAIL HPERSPLRERE
RTHNETERSERERERZE2HEHL
RAERERF AEETERETEERTEARM
BERZENBERZERRER SREETRR

. Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (¢ % & K @B B EA)))
. Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance ({TJk R T Z4&=EE)))

The PRC
i

. Labour Law of the PRC ({(Fh#EE AR HFE %))

. Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases ({FRZE A B 70 B 5 22 558 5% )

During the Reporting Period, there were no recorded cases of
material work-related injuries (2021/22: nil). The total lost days due
to work injury were 0 days (2021/22: 0). No work-related fatality has
been recorded for the past three years including the Reporting Period.
During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

Construction Health and Safety

To promote health and safety at construction sites, safety policies,
working procedures, plans and measures are set out in the safety
manual for our design, fitting-out and engineering services business.
The safety manual is distributed to all workers and the person-in-
charge of the subcontractors to ensure that they understand all
safety standards. Workers are required to follow all safety rules
and regulations set out in the safety manual, such as wearing
safety helmet at all times and preventing unauthorised use of lifting
construction equipment. To reduce risks of safety hazards, workers
are required to acquire permits for specialised work of high safety
risks.

RIRERE AEBLETAERTEEHRNE
ZER0E% (2021722 ) MEATBBLL TEHE
20K (2021/22 : 0) o lbSh  RBE=ZEGERE
B MR ETEAMREA T TUHREZRTE R
REHAR BN AMBEAARELZE TR
BRFEREESCHREGSESMEEINEERE
RN ERERIBER

BREIRERAZZ

PEERETMNRERZS RAORKRT K
EBRIERBESHNZETFMHELZE2ER T
ERF StE RER - RMERAMEE I AN E
BNaE AREZEF M WREMM T EE
ZERE BT NARBTLZEFMPETINMA
Z2RVNRE > FIINEEARBREZ2EE
URBIEERERETEREERERE BfE
Bzz2zRE RAERETESRESZ2AR
BRETERFFAE
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To ensure proper implementation of safety measures, safety
inspections are conducted on a regular basis at our construction
sites with follow-up actions, when appropriate. We have in place an
emergency plan to allow workers to respond quickly and properly in
the event of safety incidents.

We raise awareness of workers on occupational health and safety
through various safety promotion programmes and activities. We also
evaluate the safety performance of subcontractors to ensure that
they are in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and
safety standards.

Office Health and Safety

To provide a safe and healthy working environment for our
employees, smoking is prohibited in our office operations. We also
arranged our staff from office operations to take part in fire safety
training to raise awareness and strengthen capabilities in coping with
emergency situations during the Reporting Period.

Response to the COVID-19

To prevent outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have set up
the COVID-19 emergency response unit to monitor the pandemic
situations and ensure strict compliance with government guidelines
and policies. During the Reporting Period, we implemented various
pandemic prevention measures in offices and work sites, including
but not limited to:

o Requiring all staff and visitors to check their body temperature
before entering the office;

. Providing hand sanitizers at the reception counter for hand
hygiene,

. Providing face masks for all staff and requiring them to wear in
the office and at worksites; and

. Promoting regular and thorough hand washing habit to our
staff.

Annual Report 2022/2023
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Development and Training

Employees’ growth and development is beneficial to the Group's
long-term development and sustainability. To help our staff grow
together with the Group, we provide them with various vocational and
job-related trainings to help them equip with the skills and knowledge
required for their positions. To support our employees in acquiring
professional qualifications and skills beneficial to their work, we
sponsor our staff to take professional courses, seminars, workshops
and conferences. During the Reporting Period, training programmes
were arranged covering topics on regulatory compliance updates,
anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, sustainability and fire safety,
etc.

The percentage of employee trained and average training hours
completed per employee by gender and employment category during
the Reporting Period are as follows:

25 R B3|
ETIRENERAMNNAEENREMAIFE
R -pHMEIRRFERRBMR KB
SR (&= AR R 2 DU B TARARRARVIE A LB
Bh P22 12 HI (U P T BO R BEAN R34t o 232353
MNETESHATFAEBNEXERIK
BB RFIBHETISMERRRE MG ITIF
pMEE e NREE RAZHE T REGHEE
M RES RARB UREERUKHENZ
2FTENIENIRZ

PRERE AR LR R ESENB DHNZIES
BREURELEETMZINA T EIRHIT

2022/23 2021/22
Percentage of employee trained (%) ZiMEE B/ 7 Eb(%)
By Gender 1L &5
Male B4 82% 75%
Female g 18% 25%
By Employment Category HIES 5527
Senior Management BREEE 23% 21%
Middle Management IR EIRE 32% 29%
General and Technical Staff —MREMET 45% 50%
Average Training Hours (Hour) SRESSERZINTRE (M)
By Gender #5257
Male B 3.0 3.0
Female Z% 2.0 17
By Employment Category HIESEFZ 7
Senior Management BREEE 2.4 2.2
Middle Management AR EIEE 8.7 8.7
General and Technical Staff —BREMET 2.4 24
Notes: B
1) The calculation of the percentage of employee trained and the average 1) RBEHE ZIMBREEDEURELEERRT

training hours completed per employee during the Reporting Period included
the training data of employees who left the Group during the respective
reporting year, to present an accurate reflection of the training resources

invested by the Group.

==

H 0 TR BB E OAE T RS E PR A
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Labour Standards

The Group upholds high labour standards, and prohibits child
or forced labour as it violates human rights and the protocol of
international labour conventions. We ensure strict compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong, and the Labour Law and
Labour Contract Law in the PRC.

To prevent the occurrence of child or forced labour of any kind, we
conduct checking on the applicant’s identity documents to prevent
underaged hires. We would strictly follow the employment contracts
and would not prejudice the employment relationship in any way
between the employees and the Group, such as detaining a deposit,
forcing to work against their will under any kind of threat. Our staff
has the right to terminate the employment contract as long as it is
in compliance with the relevant laws and the Group policies. Once
child or forced labour is identified, we will report to the authorities,
and the employment would be terminated. Our Human Resources
Department reviews the employment practices regularly to ensure
the effectiveness of our existing measures against child and forced
labour. During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any
material non-compliance with the laws and regulations relating to
preventing child and forced labour.

Annual Report 2022/2023
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR CUSTOMERS ARMNEREIEEE
Our Goal:
EMeEE:

. To enhance customer experience with quality products and services for the benefit of customers
MEENERNRBRERARARBR EEATE

Material Topic(s) Covered:

FRiRENEKRER

. Anti-corruption
RES

. Product assurance and quality
EmREEES

. Product design and innovation
E st AR

o Environmental risk in supply chain
HAE R IRIE R R

The Group recognises that delivering products and services with high AEEEHIIUEESEERME RMARFH
quality standards is crucial to our long-term business success, and ~ FFIRRIAEFBMINERMEE > W FEIR
is dedicated to continuously enhancing our customers’ experience  F+3 = BIBE SR 1M B E o FHPIFE (R B AR B~ B4R
and satisfaction. We ensure strict compliance with applicable laws — HE®MRFBEENBEREZENER  BFET
and regulations relating to the delivery of our products and services, — BRIX :

including but not limited to:

\\
CE T T R \\ 55



ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

56

BB~ Hh e RIS

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance of laws and regulations relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided.

Product and Service Quality

To ensure the quality of our fitting-out projects, we have in place
a well-established quality management system. In each project, a
project controller is assigned to monitor the progress and ensure
the quality of the project. We also monitor the production progress
of furnishings and fittings used in our projects to ensure satisfaction.
Inspections are carried out to ensure that safety and design
specifications are followed and implemented during the production
Process.

At the execution phase of our project works, we constantly check our
designs against the constraints to ensure the feasibility of the works.
During the working process, we continuously monitor the progress
to ensure that the expectations and requirements of our customers
are met. At the completion stage, we conduct final checking with our
customers to ensure all works are completed in accordance with the
design specifications and the customers’ requirements. A warranty
period from one month to one year is offered to our customers to
ensure completion and satisfaction.

For our construction equipment leasing business, we conduct third-
party testing on the safety of our equipment by qualified test centres.
We also perform regular and proper maintenance on our construction
equipment to ensure its quality and safety. After testing, test reports
are provided to customers to assure the quality of our products. We
also provide guidance to our customers on the proper and safe use
of our construction equipment upon their request.

To ensure quality for our wine products, we conduct regular
inspection of products we received against quality standards. Once
non-conformity is identified, we report it to the wine vendors to
further discuss the arrangement for product recall or other remedial
actions. In addition, we will provide training and clear instructions to
our employees and ensure that the receiver is of age when receiving
the alcohol package. If the receiver's age cannot be ascertained and
there is doubt about his age, no delivery would be made.
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For our financial services business, we ensure that we provide high—
quality agency and money lending services. As a licensed money
lender and a securities broker, we are operating under the Money
Lenders Ordinance (“MLO") and the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO"). To protect the interest of our customers, we require our
employees to abide by all forms, procedures and requirements in our
standard procedures as prescribed under the provisions of the MLO
and SFO when providing financial services. We ensure that all product
features, terms and conditions and any associated risks are clearly
communicated to our customers, allowing them to be well-informed
about all necessary information before making decisions.

As a responsible money lender, we provide memorandums to clients
to remind borrowers of the repayment details and ensure that debt
collection is conducted in a lawful manner.

Customer Feedback

We value opinions and feedback from our customers, as they help
us improve our product and service quality. Customer feedback is
collected through various channels, including email, post and fax,
etc. All customer complaints received will be reported to responsible
staff for follow-up actions and rectification. To enhance customer
satisfaction, guidelines are provided to staff on handling customer
feedback and enquiries in a professional manner.

During the Reporting Period, we did not receive any material
complaints related to products and services (2021/22: nil). There were
no products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons during the Reporting Period (2021/22: nil).

Data Protection and Intellectual Property Rights

As our operations involve collection of customer information,
we take the responsibility for safeguarding the data privacy of
our customers. Our financial services business strictly follows
regulations and practices related to data privacy as set out by the
regulatory authorities, such as the Stock Exchange, the Hong Kong
Monetary Authority and the Securities and Futures Commission.
When handling clients’ data, we strictly follow applicable laws and
regulations and provide internal guidelines on the proper collection,
use, management and protection of data and information. Security
measures are adopted to protect customer data against unauthorised
or accidental access, processing or erasure.
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Rules regarding protection of intellectual property rights are
clearly set out in the Staff Handbook. All staff are required to pay
close attention to the Group's proprietary information, customer
information as well as individual’s personal data. Any document or
written material provided by the Group must not be removed, passed
on, copied or disclosed to third parties without approval by the Group.

Advertising and Labelling
We ensure that our advertising materials do not contain any
misleading or false information.

As a responsible wine merchandiser, we ensure that intoxicating
liguor must not be sold or supplied to a minor in the course of
business as stipulated by local laws, and display a sign containing the
related prescribed notice in both Chinese and English on our online
stores in a reasonably legible manner.

Supply Chain Management

We attach great importance to the quality and performance of
our suppliers, including subcontractors. To ensure the selection
and engagement of high-quality suppliers, we have established a
stringent selection process for our suppliers and subcontractors
based on criteria such as product quality, safety standards,
productivity, compliance with relevant laws and regulations, service
quality, and cost effectiveness. In our wine merchandising business,
we select wine merchants based on their good reputations, high
ratings, reliable supplies, and positive trading histories. We also take
into consideration the socially and environmentally responsible
performance of our subcontractors and suppliers.

To promote environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, we give priority to local suppliers and contractors
to reduce carbon footprint in the transportation process. We also
prioritise the use of energy-efficient equipment such as LED and
encourage them to opt for products with fewer packaging materials
to reduce unnecessary waste.

To ensure that suppliers and subcontractors uphold high standards,
we conduct supplier assessment on a regular basis. Suppliers
and subcontractors who fail to meet our expectations related to
labour practices, health and safety standards and integrity will face
termination of business relationships. An ESG-related risk assessment
has been conducted to identify environmental and social risks along
the supply chain. The supply chain risks and control measures are
carefully monitored, evaluated and managed by the Board and ESG
Working Group on a regular basis.
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During the Reporting Period, we engaged a total of 65 suppliers
(2021/22: 96), including subcontractors. The geographical distribution
of suppliers during the Reporting Period is shown in the below graph.
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Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region
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All suppliers, including subcontractors, were implemented the
practices relating to engaging suppliers during the Reporting Period.

Anti-Corruption

The Group requires its staff to uphold high standards of business
ethics and integrity at all times. All of our directors and staff in Hong
Kong are required to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Hong Kong) (the “POB Ordinance”), and our staff in Mainland China
are required to abide by relevant laws and regulations including but
not limited to the Criminal Law, Anti-Money Laundering Law and Anti-
unfair Competition Law of the PRC. During the Reporting Period, we
were not aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. There were no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees during the
Reporting Period (2021/22: nil).

We prohibit the transfer of benefits between our employees and
other related parties. Guided by our internal policies and procedures,
all directors and staff shall not provide or obtain any gifts or benefits
from clients, suppliers or any person with business dealings with
the Group. Our Staff Handbook and Code of Conduct also clearly
outline that employees shall not accept advantages and gifts from our
business partners.
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To raise awareness on anti-corruption, anti-corruption training has
been provided to directors and employees with access to relevant
anti-corruption training materials from the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (“ICAC").

Whistleblowing Policy

To encourage employees to report any suspected misconduct, we
have established various whistle-blowing channels. If employees are
aware of any suspicious acts and malpractices, they are encouraged
to report to the senior management of the Group through email.
All whistle-blowers’ identities and reported cases are treated in
confidence and reported cases would be appropriately handled in a
fair manner.

Anti-Money Laundering

The Group is aware of risk of money laundering practices in its
financial services business. To prevent such practices, we strictly
comply with all applicable anti-money laundering laws and
regulations including but not limited to the Anti-Money Laundering
("AML") and Counter-Terrorist Financing (“CTF") Ordinance and the
Guideline on Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing Requirements for Licensed Money Lenders.

To mitigate the risk of money laundering and terrorist financing, we
have established a series of internal policies and procedures. We
adopt a risk-based approach and conduct comprehensive customer
due diligence, risk assessment, regular review of customers’
information, record keeping, identifying suspicious money laundering
behaviours and reporting of suspicions transactions. To ensure
effective implementation of the AML and CTF system, AML training is
provided to all new employees. We also organise regular training to
existing staff to allow them to keep abreast of the latest regulatory
requirements and guidelines.
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR ENVIRONMENT
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Our Goal:
BMNBERE:

change

Material Topic(s) Covered:

HENEERE .

o Climate change risk
RUIRECRY E R

. To pursue green and sustainable operations by reducing our impact to the environment in response to climate

BERLORMAHRENZEUEBREEE BRECNIFENEE

We endeavour to operate in an environmentally conscious manner
to promote environmental responsibility and address climate change
issues. Policies and procedures are formulated to guide employees
on enhancing efficient use of resources, proper handling of emissions
and cultivating green habits in workplaces.
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The Group strictly abides by the applicable environmental laws and A& B BA&ETE B IBE A ENEE  61E 8
regulations including but not limited to: NSy

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material ~ E3REHE AEBRMAMNEBEERABEIRAER
non-compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations  fEHEM - B R T AP - BERBEEEY
relating to air and greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions, discharges into  MNESERERREFHRAE BEAEATER
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous — HVI&EL

waste.
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Climate Change

Currently, climate change is one of the most pressing environmental
concerns in the world. Various extreme weather events, such as
heatwaves, flooding, and droughts, may have an impact on our
business operations. To address climate change, we have established
the Climate Change Policy, which details our strategy and efforts on
climate change mitigation as well as enhancing our resilience and
adaptability to climate change.

Mitigation

L 4ty
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SEHRRMNEBEEELTE - R TRAEREE
1B HAIFIE T RIGEIEEER » B FAARAK
BAERERIEEELU IR MY RIEEE
RO 1% R & 77 75 T Y SR BR A HU% ©

Resilience and Adaptation

AR FERBEAN

» Establishing and monitoring carbon reduction and
energy-saving targets
$R 7 BE Z AR e B AE B A2

* Incorporating energy efficiency considerations into
our operations

»  Establishing and maintaining effective
environmental management systems to manage
energy use and carbon emissions

Continuously reviewing climate-related risks
FriE B3 RUEAE R R R A i a8

Integrating climate-related considerations into our
risk management and decision-making processes
R RERRANZ BAA MR R ERBFORRNE
2z

Monitoring and responding to market and regulatory
changes associated with low-carbon transition
R8I FE 5 A AR AR B AL Y T 35 e BE B b
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FA Re Bk HETR

* Encouraging innovation and collaboration to
mitigate climate-related risks
SENAIFT R EE > LUBES R EERIB R R

¢ Promoting communication with stakeholders on
the Group's Climate Change Policy
RERFNERAEEBNREECEERETER

An ESG-related risk assessment has been conducted to identify
potential climate-related risks and the impacts on the operations. The
climate-related risks and control measures are carefully monitored,
evaluated and managed by the Board and ESG Working Group on a
regular basis.

To mitigate climate-related risks, relevant control measures are
formulated and implemented in our business operations. Our
employees are guided by the staff handbook which has clearly
outlined the flexible work arrangements under typhoon and
rainstorm signals. We maintain close communication with the building
management company of our office, pay close attention to weather
warnings and implement necessary response measures to cope with
adverse weather conditions such as typhoons or rainstorms.
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Workers with outdoor job duties at construction sites might suffer
from illness such as heat stroke under extreme hot days, while
tropical cyclones and heavy rainstorms could potentially lead to
disruptions at construction sites. To respond, we have formulated
guidelines and provided necessary precautionary measures for
workers to effectively cope with adverse weather conditions. Work
schedule would also be properly adjusted to ensure workers have
sufficient rest and ensure their wellbeing. Further, we remain vigilant
concerning upcoming regulatory changes and potential risks posed
by climate change and will endeavour to identify opportunities for
increasing efficiency and reducing carbon emissions.

In an effort to combat climate change, the Group has set the below
green targets:
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Emissions To reduce air and GHG emissions through implementing environmentally responsible measures.
B BIRETNHIRIE 8 B ERE RV ER R E RSB
Waste To minimise waste by promoting recycling and the use of recycled materials.
EXEY) BEBEELWMU KR ERERYE B2V BEEY) -
Ny
Energy To optimise energy use efficiency and advocate for energy-saving practices.
AEIR BACAEREANE  (BEE A TETE ©
Water To promote water efficiency and water saving by implementing water conservation measures.
K BBEIEKIEN (B2 AR U R ETAI K

®

We will continuously monitor our progress against our green targets
and update when necessary.
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Energy, Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Major sources of our energy, air and GHG emissions are purchased
electricity consumed for daily office operations and fuel consumption
of company vehicles, including unleaded petrol and diesel. To
raise employees’ awareness on environmental protection, we
have formulated energy saving policies and procedures in our
staff handbook and continuously encourage our employees to
conserve energy. In our office operation, we have adopted various
green practices to help reduce energy usage and greenhouse gas
emissions. Examples of such practices are:

. Setting air-conditioners at certain designated temperature to
optimise energy use efficiency;

. Switching off unnecessary use of computers, lighting, air
conditioners and other equipment after office hour or when not
in use; and

o Combining offices of the fitting-out and engineering operations
with our headquarter office to further reduce energy
consumption.

With regard to our design, fitting-out and engineering services, dust
and volatile organic compound (“VOC") are usually produced as
one of the air emissions during the construction and demolition
processes. Our employees and subcontractors are required to
manage air emissions properly and minimise dust emission during
our construction work. A series of measures are implemented to
control air emissions and improve air quality:

. Adopting low-dust techniques and equipment to collect
construction dust; and

. Ensuring VOC-containing materials are kept in air-tight
containers to prevent air pollution.
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We also put considerable efforts in reducing excessive amount of air
emissions and GHG emissions from our vehicles and forklift trucks,
including but not limited to:

. Conducting proper maintenance and services to improve
combustion efficiency of fuel, and

. Constantly monitoring fuel consumption and mileage usage of
vehicles to further improve our environmental performance.

Waste Management

Due to our business nature, our waste generations are mainly
wastepaper and other office general waste from office operations
and also construction waste from our design, fitting-out and
engineering services business. We do not generate a significant
amount of hazardous waste in our operation.

A series of measures and procedures are in place to ensure the
construction waste from our fitting-out projects is managed in an
environmentally responsible manner. We collect, sort, and arrange
for either licensed waste collecting service providers or our
subcontractors to transport the construction waste to government
waste disposal facilities to handle and dispose appropriately and
legally of construction waste. We also recycle construction waste as
much as possible, and re-use the useful residual materials in other
projects before disposing of the construction waste.

Whereas for office general waste, the waste is collected, handled
and disposed of by a professional cleaning company appointed by
the building property management company of our office operations.
Meanwhile, we continue to implement different waste reduction
measures in office operations, including but not limited to:

. Promoting online communication to avoid using papers;

° Encouraging employees to adopt double-sided printing to
reduce paper consumption;

. Placing recycling boxes next to printers and fax machines in
offices to collect and reuse paper for printing draft documents;

and

. Arranging printing suppliers to collect used printer toner
cartridges for recycling to reduce waste.
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Water Conservation

Our source of domestic water comes from local water suppliers,
and we did not encounter any issue in sourcing water that was fit
for purpose during the Reporting Period. We consume insignificant
amount of water for purposes of drinking, toilet flushing and office
cleaning in our daily operations; however, we are still mindful of
reducing water use and improving water efficiency. We constantly
raise awareness on water conservation and encourage our
employees to develop habit of water saving, such as posting water
conservation notices at the prominent places to remind employees of
proper water usage.

Minimising Environmental Impacts

The Group is dedicated to preserving natural resources and
reducing the impact of our business activities on the environment.
Although timber is often one of the natural resources used in our
design, fitting— out and engineering services business, we actively
recommend our customers to opt for eco-friendly alternatives to
reduce the consumption of timber and save natural resources.

Responsible Use of Packaging Materials

In our wine merchandising business, we do not consume a
significant amount of packaging materials as we mainly use the
original incoming packaging provided by the wineries and deliver our
wines directly from our wine storage warehouse to our customers.
This would conserve use of resources and avoid excessive and
unnecessary use of packaging materials.

Noise Management

In respect of noise control in our worksites, construction operations
are carried out according to the permitted work hours as specified
in relevant laws and regulations. During the construction process,
we use specialised equipment to ensure the noise does not exceed
specified thresholds and affect the surrounding environment.
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BMEmRERE A EZRERNEAR  LURL AR
MEVHFE  BIRARE R

BEREMERSEME
ERMNZBEHEST D RFVLBHEREN
R ARRAETEEAETRHNRGE
8% UTREBEZEURMANZERFRER
EREFANER ERHOERER BREE
AP E2thE R B o

IREEE

RABS R T3t B IR F 4l > 1 TR X 2% IRAERE
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Environmental Performance Data'? IRIBRIYIE"2
2022/23 2021/22 Unit
==Rivi
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) KEHIINOY 25.4 257 kg F7E
Sulphur oxides (SOx) BRE1E4(SOY 0.1 0.1 kg T3
Particular matters (PM) FERIHI(PM) 2.4 24 kg T
Total GHG emissions REREHIREE 62.8 56.5 Tonnes of COe
(Scopes 1 and 2) (BBE152) NP A EREE
Direct emissions (Scope 1) B EE) 24.2 24.9 Tonnes of COze
REZFERES
Indirect emissions (Scope 2) B (B E2) 38.6 31.6 Tonnes of COze
R _FIERES
Intensity of total GHG emissions 4R =R AR HEN 1.9 1.5 Tonnes of CO/
(Scopes 1 and 2) HWE1K2) BE employee
RE_AERES
3=
Total energy consumption BERHER S 168.0 1533 MWh JKE B
Purchased electricity SMNEE 83.6 66.5 MWh JEE B
Vehicle fuel FRERRR 84.5 86.8 MWh JKEBS
Intensity of total energy REERHERE 4.9 41 MWh/employee
consumption JKEEE BB
Total non-hazardous waste EBEBREVES 436.3 4414 Tonnes ‘AMa
Office general waste —EMAEEEY 1.3 1.2 Tonnes ‘AMA
Construction waste EEEEY) 435.0 4402 Tonnes AMa
Intensity of office general waste ~ —fRItAEEEEY) 37.3 315 kg/employee
BE F=/1BE
Intensity of construction waste ~ EREEYZE 435.0 220.1 Tonnes/project
NP =!

The environmental performance data covered our Wan Chai office and Yuen Long warehouse.
RIERBEBEHERMNEFERERNTRARE-

Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding.

ERIEEA BN AT

In accordance with The Greenhouse Gas Protocol — A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (Revised Edition) published by World
Business Council for Sustainable Development and World Resources Institute, Scope 1 direct emissions are resulted from operations that are
owned or controlled by the Group, while Scope 2 indirect emissions are resulted from the generation of purchased or acquired electricity,
heating, cooling and steam consumed within the Group.
REBEERCEXEEREZEGNURERMRMERNCEERBEETETE X FTEREER (BFTHR) ) EENNEZFRUIAR
EEBEAREFNEFERES > MEBE2 VBN B AEERICHE @EANEIEH) BB~ HE- WS RESNHERMESE
Vehicle fuel included unleaded petrol and diesel consumed by company-owned vehicles.

The intensity unit for construction waste is the total number of projects in our design, fitting-out and engineering services business at the end
of the respective reporting year.

BEEVNEEBUZEEREFERGEREMANEK SR TEREEBNIBEEH -

The data has been adjusted to reflect actual situation.

BIRKBABUR MBS R
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR COMMUNITY

AEMANHLERIEEE

Our Goal:
BMNBERE:

s  REREMETEM CWBEHE

. To shoulder corporate social responsibility and give back to our communities

Continuous support from the community is crucial to the Group's
development. As part of our commitment to corporate social
responsibility, we actively seek opportunities to give back and make
a positive impact on the community. Guided by our Community
Initiatives, Sponsorship and Donation Policy, we are dedicated
to supporting the community by focusing on four main areas:
environment, education and development, community wellbeing, as
well as arts and culture.

Amidst the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic, we
dedicated ourselves to protecting the health and livelihoods of our
local community and did not participate in any community and
charity activities during the Reporting Period. Adhering to government
recommendations, we issued guidelines and provided caring advice
to ensure the safety of our employees and alleviate the burden on
local healthcare workers.

We foster a spirit of employee volunteerism and actively seek
to contribute to programmes that drive positive community
development. Looking ahead, we remain committed to exploring
opportunities to create meaningful and sustainable value for the
wider community, as we continue our journey towards a more
inclusive and resilient future.

HENFEXFHAEENEREREZ -FH
BB EECGEEEEN—BD > RABEBS
B EREd e B EETEEZE - ERMA
it &B5%  EEMBEBRIIEET » R
DN ZEHRE EANOAER R -HERK
BR HEBEUEUKRB R

FECOVID- 19 B 2R BIBKEL T » PIB D fRE
EMtERRENES EREHBLES EE
FHEMEEEE - BREBFNEZR HIREH
THRESH KRS DIEFREMAEINZ IR
HEMBRIFENEE-

HFEE S THSRERFIE®S LB A ST
BIEGE ROVEBIFHE R - RERZR AN
AR ERERE > REEZNTERAIEEEN
AFEEE BEFAE—EEHERREIIENR
AT

—E T F TECFERE
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B~ th AR

HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TEHE BE - —RNERRARERISE

A. Environmental
A IBiE

Aspect A1: Emissions

Bt X FRESGIR & 155

Chapter/Disclosure
=8 WE

EBHEA1 : HEiY
General Disclosure Creating Value for Our 61
—RRig Environment
REMNIRZEAEEE
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BRABERMMAERBHM BARTHNHE S - BEERESEEYNESE
£m
@ B &
(b) BFHEBEITABEALENEREZE ARG
KPIAT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Environmental 68
RS | sepism e e o Performance Data
FE1ZAT1 IRIFRI[EIE
KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas | Environmental 68
RS AR emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. | Performance Data
151RAT.2 per unit of production volume, per facility). IRIBERIVEIE
Bi% @EE) RERBE EE2) BEREHRE CUEE)
B QN@ER) ZE MUSESEN SEFRETE)
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Due to the business N/A
RS AR appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | nature, we do not produce TER
5HRA13 facility). a significant amount
FTEEBEEEYEE CINETE) & (WER) BE US| hazardous waste.
ES2B SEXREHE) o HREBEE  BMEE
EERENEEREEY -
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Environmental 68
RSRE appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | Performance Data
{E1ZA1.4 facility). RIERIREUE
FTELESEEYRE CUEE) & (ER) ZE WUE
EEBA SGEREE) o
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR - EBE - —RRERARERIEE =E B

A. Environmental
A. B

Aspect A1: Emissions
BmEA1 : i

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to | Climate Change; 63
ARG achieve them. RAREE ;

$E1ZA1.5 HIMPTET L HINE B IR R A ER L B R ERER & 5 o
Energy, Air and 65
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
BER BERIAEREHE

his
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are | Climate Change; 63
REREN handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps | & {EZ1L ;
FE1EA1.6 taken to achieve them.
HWRIERAEBREEEYN G L RAMPIETIIAREEE | Waste Management 66
B AEEELE BRI F 5] o EEEY)EE
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BHEA2 : BERER
General Disclosure Creating Value For Our 61
— AR Environment

ARFNIRIEREEE
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials.

BUERER (BIEER KREMEME) BB

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. | Environmental 68
ARG electricity, gas or oil) in total (kwh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. | Performance Data
FEIEA2.1 per unit of production volume, per facility). IBIE RIBHIE

REABNONWEER SEZER WE - R3Uh) EES
UTFEFTRESE) kBE MUSESEN - SHERKRM
8]
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TEHE B —RIEERARERISE

A. Environmental

A. 1215

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : BERER

Chapter/Disclosure
BHIRE

KPI A2.2
RASR AR
$EIRA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity.
BIEAEREE UESESEN -BSEREE) o

The water supply in our
Wan Chai office and

Yuen Long warehouse
was controlled by the
building management,
whereas the water supply
at our worksites was
provided either by the
main contractors or our
customers. Therefore,
water consumption data is
unavailable and cannot be
disclosed.
HMIREFAEMEREN T
AR ER A KHERYZE
BEIRECFIES MM T
HEAKBBEEERER
REMNEF A HFE R
ESAREERIEEVIS 6 i
RS-

N/A
i
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR - EBE - —RRERARERIEE =E B

A. Environmental
A. IR

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : BEER

KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps | Climate Change; 63
ARG taken to achieve them. RAREE ;
161223 HILPTE] LAY RE TR 18 FA 3 s B AR R 2 555 L5 B AR R ERER

B 5% o Energy, Air and Greenhouse 65

Gas Emissions
BEREBERARERES

eI

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water | Climate Change; 63
REREN that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps | RIEEE ;
FE1EA2.4 taken to achieve them.

HAUKEGE A ACR E eI BRI RERE  UKRPRE] A K | Water Conservation 67

BiR Kk AEDE LB EPTIREE L 5 o BRI E TR
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products, and if | We primarily rely on the N/A
RASRAE RN applicable, with reference to per unit produced. original packaging provided | %/
FE1EA2.5 ST EEMENAEE (UNEETE) & WER) S£ &S | by wineries, resulting in

G & o minimal consumption

of packaging materials.
Packaging materials are
not applicable to our other
businesses due to the
business nature.

FFE SRR
HNRIEES B FRIUF
MRENENBEMEE
FE-RREBMENRR
BEMMNRERREMN
HhZo
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERISE BHIRE

A. Environmental
A. 1215

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BHEA3  RIERKXAER

General Disclosure Minimising Environmental 67
— iR Impacts
FEAVHRENTE
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.
BEBETAHRIERRABEREME AT ERBER -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the | Minimising Environmental 67
RSRERN environment and natural resources and the actions taken to | Impacts
FEIEA3.1 manage them. BERAVHRENZZE

WM ER EHHIREARABFNEATLERERIEE

BRFENTH -

Aspect A4: Climate Change
EBHEA4 : mIZEE

General Disclosure Climate Change 63
— R EE RIZEME

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
A REHER R A HETAEELENEARGEREENBER

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which | Climate Change 63
RETRAE have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and | F &£t
FEIZEALN the actions taken to manage them.

HE R RO EEHETAEERENEARERBEER
K e 178 ©
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHE - EH - —RIEERARESIER B HE
B. Social
B. 1 &
Employment and Labour Practices
EERS TER
Aspect B1: Employment
BB : B1E
General Disclosure Creating Value For Our 48
— i EE Employees
AERMNETAIEER
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
BRAFN R E - BREREA TEHH - R TERE Zuh  RIER
LUK H MG BRI -
() B &
(b) BFHBITABEAXENEREERROINER
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- | Employee Distribution 49
RE SRR or part-time), age group and geographical region. BT D
$51ZB1.1 HER - REEE MBI RE) - FRANRMES SN
BEEEH-
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical | Employee Turnover 49
RE AR region. SRS
1518812 MR~ FlMAR Rt & B DI BB RAKLLE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

Chapter/Disclosure

TEHE -EH  —REERARGEZISR BB
B. Social
B. 4t
Employment and Labour Practices
BERSTIER
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EMEB2 : BRERE
General Disclosure Occupational Health and 51
— MR Safety
BEREREZE
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer.

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
BRAREZE2TRRERREEEREHELBEN .
(@) B ; &
() BFHETABEARZENERERERRONER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of | Occupational Health and 51
RARRAAN the past three years including the reporting year. Safety
1612821 BEZF (BIEEREE) SFRITUTHMABRLEZE. WERREZE

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health and 51
RARAEN ATEERTEH#- Safety

51%B2.2 WERREZE

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | Occupational Health and 51
RAREN adopted, how they are implemented and monitored. Safety
1618823 HIMPTERAN AV R R R T 28 KRBT RERS | BERREEZD

e
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR - EBE - —RRERARERIEE =E B

B. Social
B. #®&

Employment and Labour Practices
EfE RS TER

Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EMEB3 : FEERIE

General Disclosure Development and Training 53
—RIE gt

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties

at work. Description of training activities.

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid
by the employer.

BRI EERBIT TIER SRR R SEBVEUGR o B SEE) o

s EIEREEY aEREEAENRIMERRE

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee | Development and Training 53
AR EN category (e.g. senior management, middle management). gl
$51ZB3.1 BERREELERN MERERE PREERRE) 890

EEBDLE.
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender | Development and Training 53
RE A and employee category. R B
$612B3.2 BERREERENE D  SRESTAZTINN TR -
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERISE EE WE

B. Social
B.#t&

Employment and Labour Practices
BERETER

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
JEMEB4 : & T#8|

General Disclosure Labour Standards 54
— MR BT AR

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRABIEE T asasss T

@ B &

(b) BFHETABEAEZENAEBERRRANER

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | Labour Standards 54
RASRAE N avoid child and forced labour. w5 T

E1%B4.1 H A SR RSB G AV HE T A B o B T Re s bl 85 T o

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when | Labour Standards 54
RARRAEN discovered. T #R|
151%B4.2 T IR B RRDER B RIE R PT IR AR & B o
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR - EBE - —RRERARERIEE =E B

B. Social
B. #®&

Operating Practices
EEEG

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EMEBS5 : HREREE

General Disclosure Supply Chain Management 58
—RIE HrEtE S

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
BIEHEENIRE R ERBEE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management 58
RASR AN e B HEREE o HrEiE SR

51ZB5.1

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number | Supply Chain Management 58
RESRAE K of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how | {/& 2 &2

$51EB5.2 they are implemented and monitored.

AR AEERNES mERITHERIBAMNHERE
B UREEIITRERTT A

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental | Supply Chain Management 58
REBRAA and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are | {HFESEEIR
$54ZB5.3 implemented and monitored.

B R AR RS ERENRIE R g RABRAIER > X

FAERE AT R B 5%
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally | Supply Chain Management 58
RGN preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, | fFEEEE
}51ZB5.4 and how they are implemented and monitored.

T REHER R EE L BIRFRE R RRBIIES > UK

TERAIT R BE TR 7% o
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TEHE B —RIEERARERISE

B. Social
B.#t&

Operating Practices
EEEN

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
JEEB6 : ERMEIE

Chapter/Disclosure
BHIRE

General Disclosure Creating Value For Our 55
— MR Customers
BEMNEFEIEER
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
BRAMREESMRBNEERZS  ES BB AAEEEUREHRS
EBY
(@ B &
(b) BFHETABEARZENERERERAANER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls | Customer Feedback 57
ARG for safety and health reasons. EP KA
$51ZB6.1 EENEEXERAHTRZHEREAMEAERKNE
Dtbe
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received | Customer Feedback 57
RAREN and how they are dealt with. BERREE
}512B6.2 BREBNERMRBNEFEEURELR 5%
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | Data Protection and 57
ARG intellectual property rights. Intellectual Property Rights
}512B6.3 it B A 58 R IR PR R S AE RE B BERVIE B o IR IR A B A
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall | Product and Service Quality 56
RGN procedures. ERERBEEER
151EB6.4 HE SR T BE R EmLEIKIERS -
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, | Data Protection and 57
RERRAAN how they are implemented and monitored. Intellectual Property Rights
161EB6.5 AU BB ERMRE R AR URERRITRERS | BURREEAMER
VE o
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR - EBE - —RRERARERIEE =E B

B. Social
B. #®&

Operating Practices
EEEG

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BmEB7 : R&5

General Disclosure Anti-Corruption; 59
—fRiREE R&5;
Information on: Anti-Money Laundering 60
(@) the policies; and G REE

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.

BRI LLFARE ~ 131~ MR RO R ERRY ¢

@ B%E; &

(b) BFHBEITABEALENEREZERROINER

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | Anti-Corruption 59

RASR AN brought against the issuer or its employees during the | &5

S1ZB7.1 reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERBARETAREHEBEERH L EBEENESHAE
HHHE KRR

KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing | Anti-Corruption 59

RERRAA procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. S

$51%B7.2 BB HIEE R B RIET  URBERRITRER DA

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors | Anti-Corruption; 59
REBRAA and staff RES;
}618B7.3 WRmEERETRENRESE-
Anti-Money Laundering 60
AR
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERISE EE WE

B. Social
B.#t&

Community
HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[BTEBS : {tERE

General Disclosure Creating Value For Our 69
— MR community
BEMOTEAIEER
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities” interests.
AREMMERHETREBMEIHEEENRREER T EZ BLE

F 7 BOBLER ©

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Creating Value For Our 69
RASRAE N EIEMEE MHAE RESE S THER @EFE L8 | Community

$512B8.1 Ao AEMANTEASEER

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Creating Value For Our 69
RAEAA TEFHEMBASR NS EEFR) o Community

151ZB8.2 AEANTEAIEEE
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HE S

The board (the "Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the "Group”) is pleased to present this annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) provision of design, fitting
out and engineering, and procurement of furnishings and related
products services, (i) leasing of construction equipment and provision
of related installation services, (iii) sourcing and merchandising of fine
and rare wines and (iv) provision of financial services.

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note
39 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a review of the
Group's business during the year under review and a discussion
on the Group's future business development, possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing and important events
affecting the Company which occurred during the year ended
31 March 2023 are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement”, the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report and note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements which forms part of this directors’ report.

Discussions on the Group's environmental policies and performance,
relationships with key stakeholders, and compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations are contained in the”Environmental, Social and
Governance Report“on pages 37 to 78 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2023
and the state of affairs of the Group as at that day are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 101 to 210.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2023, there was no reserves available for distribution
to the shareholders of the Company.

CRERZERBRARE (AR5 EREMKEB
rEmEIrER) B (E5) 2 (E59)
RAREFFERUREEDBRE_ST _=F=
B=+—HUEFEZEERGEMHERE

FEFRFRFEHLIE

FABNEZEZHRKREER  RENBARE
ERFORERF - EERIRE RFEBEHREK
HEAERERS (MEERRREBREHBEARZE
AR - (i) 582 8 DU (VAR (1 2 R AR TS

FABETEMBABDF BN GREMBERERM
51390

RIE R EHFR AN RSP ERE ZFEBFHRAE
—FIHmkot ETREAMEEFERER
FHENRBEAAERAERRREST LR AEE
FIAEEBRER R A EENS  URBEZE =
FZA=+—HUEFEHENTELARTINE
REMBER RURNAERETERESE)—H
MEEE R DI —BREGE M HREMEE
6> WARBEFTREN—EMD

ERAEERBEERARE - BEBRMNENRS
BRAERERKEREREENRBNEE
WEIEBRZIRE - HEREBRE]

EERRE
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the investment property of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BORROWINGS
Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set
out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group's top five customers
accounted for approximately 70.7% of the revenue. The top five
suppliers accounted for approximately 14.7% of the total purchases
for the year. In addition, the Group's largest customer accounted for
approximately 55.9% of the revenue and the Group's largest supplier
accounted for approximately 8.3% of the total purchases for the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
During the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Directors were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen

Mr. Wang Jun

Mr. Zhang Weijie (resigned on 13 February 2023)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong (resigned on 3 June 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex

Mr. Wu Zhao

Mr. Lam Cheok Va
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All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the articles of association (the “Articles”).

In accordance with article 141 of the Articles, Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
and Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 18 to 19 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES
A list of the names of the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries
during the year and up to the date of this report can be found in the
Company's website at www.royalcentury.hk.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the year under review, each Director has a service contract or
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of two to
three years and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles of Association. Save as disclosed above,
none of the Directors has a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year under review and up to the date of this report,
Directors’ interest in any business apart from the Group’s business,
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the Group’s business that need to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
11.04 of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Director Name of company
= NELTE

Nature of business
¥xME
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REERREBFRE EREUFEERBEEE
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Nature of interests
EmtE

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen Hong Kong ChaoShang Group

Limited (“HK ChaoShang") and

Money lending business
and securities and asset

Executive director and
chief executive officer of

its subsidiaries management business HK ChaoShang
BREE L ERPEEEFRAS BIEEB UGS E ERPEZANTESE K
(F&EE#E) RERBAB EECEEY TEAREL

As the Board is independent to the boards of directors of the
abovementioned companies, the Group is capable of carrying on its
business independently to, and at arm’s length, from the business of
those companies.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors was interested in any
business (apart from the Group's business) which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the year.
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS IN
CONTRACTS AND COMPETING INTERESTS
There was no contract of significance between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and a shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) or any of its subsidiaries, at any time during the year under
review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2023.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior management of
the Group is set up by the remuneration committee of the Company.
Further details of emolument policy are set out in Management
Discussion and Analysis on page 16 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the directors and five individuals
with highest emoluments are set out in note 14 and note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in
making mandatory provident fund contributions for its Hong Kong
employees.

Information on the Group's retirement benefits schemes is set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OF ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company (the “Chief Executive”) had any interests or short positions
in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQ") as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors
of listed issuer as referred to in rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules (the
“Required Standard of Dealings”).
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2023 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
the Company or any other body corporate.

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2023 had the Directors
and the Chief Executive (including their spouses and children under
18 years of age) any interest in, or been granted, or exercised any
rights to subscribe for the shares (or warrants or debentures, is
applicable) of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO).

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, so far as is known to the Directors and the Chief
Executive and based on the public records filed on the website of
the Stock Exchange and records kept by the Company, the interest
and short positions of the persons or corporations (other than the
Directors and the Chief Executive) in the Shares or underlying Shares
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company
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Approximate

percentage

Capacity/Nature of Number of of the issued

Name of shareholder interests in capital Shares held Shares
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Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited Beneficial owner 46,221,600 29.48%
SEHBERERAT BaEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, there was no person
or corporation (other than the Directors and the Chief Executive) who
had any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year ended 31 March 2023, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme enables the Company to grant options to
any full time or part time employee of the Company or any member
of the Group (the “Eligible Participant(s)”) as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to the Group. The Company conditionally adopted
a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 30 June 2014 whereby the
Board are authorised, at their absolute discretion and subject to the
terms of the Scheme, to grant options to subscribe for the shares (the
“Shares”) of the Company to the Eligible Participant. The Scheme will
be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing from the
date of adoption of the Scheme.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for Shares granted
pursuant to the Scheme (the “Option”), the Eligible Participant shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the grant.
The Option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21 days from
the date on which the Option is granted. The subscription price for
the Shares subject to Options will be a price determined by the Board
and notified to each participant and shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options, which
must be a day on which trading of the Shares take place on the Stock
Exchange (the “Trading Day"); and (ii) the average closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the 5 Trading Days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
Options.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that the
total number of Shares which may issue upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Scheme does not exceed 10% of the Shares
in issue on the Listing Date. The Company may at any time refresh
such limit, subject to the shareholders’ approval and the issue of
a circular in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, provided that
the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under all
the share option schemes of the Company does not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issued at the time. An option may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a
period as the Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years
from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.

As at 31 March 2023, the total number of the Shares available for
issue under the Scheme is 3,000,000 Shares (as adjusted for the
Share Consolidation on 18 November 2021), representing 1.91% of
the issued Shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit") of the aggregate
number of Shares in issue immediately upon completion of the listing
of the Shares on 18 July 2014 (as adjusted for the Share Consolidation
on 18 November 2021) and representing 1.91% of the issued Shares
as at 31 March 2023.
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the Options granted and to be granted pursuant to the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group to each Eligible
Participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant of the options
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue and
representing 1,567,800 Shares as at 31 March 2023.

Since the adoption of the Scheme, no share option has been granted
by the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 March 2023 the
Company has maintained the public float required by the GEM Listing
Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group has not made any charitable donations during the year
(2022: nil).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-
executive Directors were independent during the period from their
respective appointments and up to 31 March 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected transactions
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As far as the transactions set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements are concerned, the remuneration of the
Directors as determined pursuant to the service contracts/letters of
appointment entered into between the Directors and the Group were
connected transactions which were exempt from any disclosure and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Directors have confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirement in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company's articles of association provide that the Directors
are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the
Company against all action, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they may incur or sustain in the execution of the duties of their
office.

During the year, the Company has put in place as appropriate
insurance cover in respect of Directors” liabilities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company maintains a high standard of corporate governance
practices. Details of the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 21 to 36. The Directors believe the long term financial
performance as opposed to short term rewards is a corporate
governance objective. The Board would not take undue risks to make
short term gains at the expense of the long term objectives.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to observe the relevant laws and regulations.
The Group has appointed a compliance officer and an external
compliance adviser to oversee compliance with all relevant
regulations.

The Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group throughout the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
is set out in the five years financial summary on page 212 of this
annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the
management and the Company’s external auditor the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, and discussed the
auditing, internal control and financial reporting process including the
review of financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 March
2021, 2022 and 2023 have been audited by Mazars CPA Limited
("Mazars”) who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Mazars as the
auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Chan Chi Yuen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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7 BT
mazars

To the shareholders of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 101 to 210,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023,
and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the "Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Mazars CPA LIMITED
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements for the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

ko ]

BRES>SEHE UREHFERHELE
BABEZ G EMBREMEEAETE2 -
EXEERENGSYBRERLARRED
BEZEEE EETOHRETERTRRE

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we  R-°

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matters
FRREHEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
RBHAPEREMAREIEEZSE

Revenue recognition for provision of fitting
out and engineering services and design and
procurement of furnishings and related products
services

Refer to notes 4 and 7 to the consoligated financial
Statements

The Group recorded revenue from contracts with
customers in relation to the provision of fitting out and
engineering services and design and procurement
of furnishings and related products services totaling
HK$45,910,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.
REBEEZZ=F=BA=+—HIHFE> S£EHEH
HERTERBURSE ST REERERBRZE DR
BRI E P & # W & T 445,910,000 7T

Revenue is recognised over time using the input method
or the output method, as appropriate.
W 60 AR B A £ 38 £ (RIS E) PERF ST o

Revenue recognised over time using the input method is
based on the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of the performance obligations, by reference to the
cost incurred up to the end of the reporting period as a
percentage of estimated total costs.

BRBAEMRERERZNRRLER S£EATHE
HEAMELENBAEBR A T2EHERSHAFREE
BI AL A (G (it 5T 4R AN RV EE B 5T 28 ©

Revenue recognised over time using the output method
is based on direct measurements of the value of services
delivered or surveys of work performed by the Group up
to the end of the reporting period.

AR EMRERNERINKRDERERSE 558
BHERSFHAFXREINRBNEENSETIIFAEN
BEFTE-

MR HEERIREZRBURRFARRBHRAREBRERR
52 o 5T

BRI SR AN AR

Our key procedures, among others, included:
BEEHARER EH8iE

. Understanding the design and implementation of
key internal controls over the revenue recognition
Processes,

. TR GEREFTS T ENBEENR T RHRIT

. Evaluating the key estimates and assumptions adopted
by the management in estimating total revenue and
total costs;

. ST B IR G 1T (i ST AR U R R 48 il A BE PR ER AR AY 3= E My
R ;

. Evaluating, on a sample basis, whether the key terms
and conditions in contracts with customers and
subcontractors have been properly reflected in the
estimated total revenue and estimated total costs;

. TR A2 B EmTE LN A RN Z BRI
A& 2 B 1E 7 & PRI 48 1 51 W i Re 4B 1 A AR
o

. Checking, on a sample basis, the costs incurred for the
projects up to the end of the reporting period;

s  HBRREBERSHARANEEEENRSE;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FIEETFE @

Key Audit Matters
RSBt R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
RESPERERAEEAEEZAE

Revenue recognition for provision of fitting
out and engineering services and design and
procurement of furnishings and related products
services (Continuea)

Management reviews and revises the estimates of
revenue and costs for each contract by comparing the
most current budgeted amounts with corresponding
actual amounts as the contract work progresses.
EEEERSNIEES BBRILLREIHANTERE S
RIEENER S BRKRETSMNSAONKE KRR A
Bt & o

The measurement of revenue involved the use
of significant judgements and estimates by the
management. As a result, we identified this as a key audit
matter.

Wast 8 REBEEMAEARFEMNMGS HiL &%
1S ELFEE A RARE T EIE
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Bz mE (&

o Discussing the status of projects with project managers,
to identify any variations of contracts and claims, and
to obtain explanations for fluctuations in margins and
changes in budget as well as the expected recovery of
variations; and

. BT B IR s IE B AR U E S RM KRBT
st > WEVS B AR B K8 R R SRR &
EIEBMTERREIIER 5 &

o Comparing the revenue recognised, on a sample basis,
with reference to the certifications from independent
surveyors or performing recalculation of the revenue
recognised with reference to actual costs incurred and
estimated total costs.

. SEF IO AP E B AE S AL E A 5L
2E BN £ IR A A (5 B4R B A4S e S8 9 UR 2 2
TEMTE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FIEETFE @

Key Audit Matters
RSB EE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
RESHEERRBESSEEZSE

Valuation of investment property
Refer to notes 4 and 19 to the consolidated financial
Statements

As at 31 March 2023, the investment property held by the
Group was stated at fair value of HK$29,500,000.
RIEBEZ_=F=R=+—H> BEEEMEBEZXEY
2 DUR 78(E29,500,0007E 7551 8K ©

The fair value of investment property as at 31 March 2023
was assessed by the management with reference to the
valuation performed by an independent professional
valuer engaged by the Group.

BEE2EZ E£EZENBUEEGEMETNG
B ETR _E=F=A=1+—HEEVENAR
Ee

The valuation of investment property involved significant
judgements and estimates, including prevailing market
rents for comparable properties in the same location and
condition, expected future market rents and appropriate
discount rates. Therefore, we identified the valuation of
investment property as a key audit matter.
WEYZENGE Y REAH G G IFEEH A
RN EZRITHISZHEE ) FBIARKRTIHBEE
MEENFRF-FIL EEREEMENLEEE H
BRI E st S8

REMEZHE
BRI S R BRI FART9

Our key procedures, among others, included:
BEHARRER HPEE !

. Evaluating the competence, objectivity and capabilities
of the valuer;
. BEGEMZBEEN - BFEENRHEZETEER

. Understanding the valuation techniques adopted by
the valuer and assessing the appropriateness of the
valuation technigues; and

. THGEEMRA 2 GERT T EEERITESE
2k

° Evaluating the appropriateness of the key input data
used in the determination of fair value and comparing
the key input data to supporting evidence such as
recent market transactions.

. SN EEANERMAERAZEBERABBEZESNG
B UHERAABRETRIRE WAz THER
) {ELE® o

— 55—
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuea)

AT EIE @)

Key Audit Matters
RSBt R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
RESPERERAEEAEEZAE

Impairment assessment of construction
equipment and right-of-use assets in leasing of
construction equipment segment

Refer to notes 4, 18 and 20 to the consolidated financial
Statements

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of construction
equipment and right-of-use assets amounted to
HK$13,851,000 and HK$4,573,000 respectively (collectively
the “Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment Assets”)
are included in the cash-generating unit of leasing of
construction equipment segment.
RIZEZ=F=ZA=+—H BEEXENTRAEEE

(A TTHERERBIBEE) NEREAEESNA
13,851,000/ 75 524,573,000 7t > M EIEN A ERHER
BEOEREEEEMN -

The Group is required to assess whether an indicator
has appeared that may affect the value of the Leasing
of Construction Equipment Segment Assets or such
indicator affecting the impairment loss of these assets
previously made has no longer been in existence.
EEEBIGIEREHEERARENBEEBEN
ERESEER AR EBRNZEEEFENRERS
BERE R FE-

Management carried out an impairment assessment for
the Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment Assets
which have an impairment indicator. The recoverable
amount of the Leasing of Construction Equipment
Segment Assets is determined by value in use calculation
using discounted cash flow projections based on the
financial forecasts approved by management.
BIEEHNAEREEENHERERE I EEET
BEF L - HERRZEDBEENTIWEI SR A
EREEEMEMBREANMRRESRERUNAERE
FREEEE-

The assessment of impairment indicator and value in
use calculation involved significant judgements and
estimations. Therefore, the impairment assessment of the
Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment Assets is
considered as a key audit matter.
REEEREABESENT G REAF G-
At HEERZE D BEERET LR RAREES
£Igo
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Our key procedures, among others, included:
BEEBARRER HPEE !

o Understanding management’s process for identifying
impairment indicators;
. THREEEH#HREERRE

o Evaluating the judgements made by management in
identifying impairment indicators;
. HEIRE T AR EIE RSP ERFIER (R 571

o Reviewing management’s impairment assessment
of the Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment
Assets;

. EREEEHEEREREDBEENRET G ;

o Verifying the external sources data used by
management in value in use calculation of the Leasing
of Construction Equipment Segment Assets;

. BREEENGEHEREERE N EETHBER
P FARVSMER R E L

o Enquiring of management in relation to key
assumptions in their business plan and evaluating
the key assumptions applied by comparing them to
historical information and our understanding of latest
market information and conditions;

. AR EEEEMEERTIPNRRER WA
FErERRBMAHRITTISRE SNSRI TRETTE
8 TSP AR RS

o Checking on a sample basis the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used by management in
value in use calculation; and

. et ERETEREES EREANEARR
BOZERE 14 R ABRE 1 5 K2

o Checking arithmetical accuracy of the calculations.
. BB T E P EM R
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information in
the 2022/2023 annual report of the Company but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
iS necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process. The audit committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

Lfth &

AREFEAHMENAT - HtENG
# BARSRI_F /"B -EFRFAN
2HERD T OER AR ERRREE LY
BR 4 o

mh St
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B EFRAEREREEAT A ZRES

o
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HMESRGEMBERRAEFNET TIEmE
REHMZBHREEATETER XAEHMS
IR EARRERA o 5 & F B P EIT TIEM
SHAMENAEABRRM &R IEFEA
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Companies Ordinance
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Annual Report 2022/2023
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

ZHEAMB i S M BHRRAEZE
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 June 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is:

So Chun wai

Practising Certificate number: P07513
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CON SOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

o T B Bt A i Wk

i

Year ended 31March2023 #HE_ZE_=Zf#=H=+—HIFEZE

2023 2022
—E-= B HF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M EE FAT FAET
Revenue & 7 55,761 57,660
Cost of sales tHE A (53,646) (47,758)
Gross profit EF] 2,115 9,902
Other income Hni A 9 1,417 952
Other gains, net Hithie s > /358 10 991 1,266
Impairment of intangible assets mREERE 22 (2,678) (690)
Allowance for ECL on loan and interest FEW B =R B ] B Fa 4R
receivables EEBERE 6(b) (721) (377)
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables B RWHIBTEREE
B EE 6(b) (1,680) (4,350)
Reversal of allowance for (Allowance for) S BEETEHAEEEIE
ECL on contract assets [O]# (B 8) 6(b) 19 (14)
Change in fair value of investment property & E#)2 N FEE 19 3,300 (800)
Administrative expenses THEX (26,762) (26,203)
Finance costs EE=YD N 1 (797) (622)
Loss before tax PRI AIES 1B 13 (24,796) (20,936)
Income tax credit (expense) FMERER (Y 12 232 (132)
Loss for the year attributable to KABEB NELEERE
owners of the Company (24,564) (21,068)
Other comprehensive income (loss) TEEHM2ERE (B518)
for the year
Item that may be reclassified EB#OJGEEN 7 E
subsequently to profit or 10ss: Em 2 EHE .
Exchange differences arising on MEBIINEBELEZER
translation of foreign operations et} 136 )
Total comprehensive loss for the year KABEBE NEGEEE
attributable to owners of the Company PHEEIBAEEE (24,428) (21,074)
Loss per share: SEE -
Basic and diluted (HK$) BEARRE#E GBr) 17 (0.16) 0.13)
The notes on pages 107 to 210 are an integral part of the SF107EE210EMMEAZSHSHBREN

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

G BHIR LR

Asat 31 March 2023 HR_E_=Z#=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= TECCHF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
[z FAET FET
Non-current assets ERENEE

Property, plant and equipment ER - E Y 18 14,134 22,400
Investment property KREYE 19 - 26,200
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 20 8,190 13,919
Goodwill meE 21 - =
Intangible assets BEE 22 3,099 5,777
25,423 68,296

Current assets REMEE
Loan and interest receivables FEWE R F) B 23 4,770 5,451
Inventories e 24 1,304 1,087
Trade and other receivables B 5 KM E M EREIE 25 15,378 17,259
Contract assets BNEE 26(a) 2,110 3,931
Cash and bank balances Re MIBTT4RR 27 5,915 6,190
29,477 33,918
Non-current asset held for sale FIEHENIERENEE 19 29,500 -
58,977 33,918

current liabilities wREaE
Trade and other payables B R EMENTIA 28 19,320 12,929
Contract liabilities BHEE 26(b) 1,594 229
Income tax payable FEITER1SIR 93 93
Lease liabilities HEaRE 29 6,816 6,643
27,823 19,894
Net current assets BREMEE 31,154 14,024
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERREBAR 56,577 82,320
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

G BHIR LR

Asat 31 March 2023 HR_-_E_=Z#=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= B _F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
[z FAT FAET

Non-current liabilities EREAE
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE 31 961 1,193
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 2,634 8,717
Other borrowing Hihg & 30 5,000 -
8,595 9,910
NET ASSETS BEE 47,982 72,410

Equity i

Share capital &N 32 205,523 205,523
Reserves B (157,541) (133,113)
TOTAL EQUITY EES 47,982 72,410

The consolidated financial statements on pages 101 to 210 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28

June 2023 and signed on its behalf by

Chan Chi Yuen
BREE
Director
B

The notes on pages 107 to 210 are an integral part of the

consolidated financial statements.

HFINFE0EL0BZGREMBRRER
ET-FRBITN\BREFTEHERRET
WL THNEFARES !

Wang Jun
E
Director
EFE

FI07EF2N0EHNMERZTREMBRERL
MR ER D o

TR T T E T CFERA

RAE]
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tui S2 B 93

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

Share  Accumulated Exchange
capital losses reserve Total
[ REEE ERGHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET FTET FET
(Note 32) (Note)
(fyz£32) (it =)
At 1 April 2021 AZZ - —FMB—H 205,523 (111,891) (148) 93,484
Loss for the year KEEFE - (21,068) = (21,068)
Other comprehensive loss Hitn2mEA518
Exchange differences arising on MEBNEBELZERER
translation of foreign operations = = ) (6)
Total comprehensive loss for the year REEZHEEBEHE = (21,068) ©6) (21,074)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 A_E-"E=B=+—HER®
“E-"FPA—H 205,523 (132,959) (154) 72,410
Loss for the year FEERBE - (24,564) - (24,564)
Other comprehensive income Hit 2wk
Exchange differences arising on MEBNEBELZ ERER
translation of foreign operations - - 136 136
Total comprehensive (loss) income FEERE (518) WmlE
for the year - (24,564) 136 (24,428)
At 31 March 2023 R_E_=F=B=+—H 205,523 (157,523) (18) 47,982

Note: Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from translation of the financial statements of the Group's foreign
operations upon consolidation. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial

Statements.

The notes on pages 107 to 210 are an integral part of the
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SR BlEi R R

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

2023 2022
—E=F B CHF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 TERT FExT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE)
Loss before tax PRI RTS8 (24,796) (20,936)
Adjustments for: FHEE
Impairment of intangible assets B EERE 22 2,678 690
Change in fair value of investment KREMELAFEED
property 19 (3,300) 800
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables B 5 R IBTEA
SEEERE 6(b) 1,680 4,350
(Reversal of allowance for) Allowance for ~ BHNEEFEHAEE
ECL on contract assets 518 (RE0IE) BE 6(b) (19) 14
Allowance for ECL on loan and interest FEW E R B ] EFEHE
receivables EEBIERE 6(b) 721 377
Waiver of amount due to a former director ~ ZA SR FE( — & Bl EE S 2B 10 (809) S
Write-back of other payables HE FRIEE# 10 (126) =
Depreciation of property, plant and ME B RRBINE
equipment 18 7,510 8,109
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 20 5,729 6,570
Finance costs A A AR 11 797 622
Bank interest income IRITHEUA 9 (9) (1
Compensation gain on disposal/write-off ~ BRE FHiNERLHE
of construction equipment fE R 10 (157) (1,266)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - HERRE
equipment g 10 (2) =
Operating cash flows before movements =@ &ESEBF 2
in working capital KRERPME (10,103) 671
Changes in working capital: EEETEY
Inventories =7E (217) 52
Loan and interest receivables FEWE T & (40) (270)
Trade and other receivables B 5 K EAhEWEIE 1,115 (2,774)
Trade and other payables B 5 e EMELRIE 4,763 1,331
Contract assets BNEE 1,840 (1,371)
Contract liabilities aHnaE 1,365 120
Net cash used in operating activities K& FEFIAZFRE (1,277) (3,583)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SR BlEi R R

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

2023 2022
—E=HF —EITHF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 FHT FExT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREEE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B8 & Y2 « 1 25 K25 15 (9) (657)
Compensation received from disposal/ BREEHEEREmE
write-off of construction equipment Frigsr1a 36 95
Proceed from disposal of property, HEME KB RREZ
plant and equipment Frig=1a 5 -
Bank interest received BUWIRITHIE 9 1
Net cash from (used in) investing REFEME FrA) 2
activities BRE 41 (561)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Addition of unsecured other borrowing g EIREMEE 34(a) 5,000 =
Interest paid BNFE 34(a) (343) (527)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAaR 34(a) (3,694) (5,869)
Net cash from (used in) B ESEEIFRTS (FRA) 2
financing activities FRE 963 (6,396)
Net decrease in cash and cash HEeERREEEBYFRLD
equivalents (273) (10,540)
Cash and cash equivalents FUMZzRERNEEEY
at the beginning of the year 6,190 16,728
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXRgHzTE
changes (2) 2
Cash and cash equivalents FRZVERINEEEY
at the end of the year 27 5,915 6,190
The notes on pages 107 to 210 are an integral part of the SF107EFE210ENMEAZSHEEMBREN

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR o A 5 R B ik

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

GENERAL INFORMATION

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Hong Kong as a company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of
the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company is disclosed in the corporate information section of
the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally
engaged in:

(i) provision of design, fitting out and engineering and
procurement of furnishings and related products
services;

(i) leasing of construction equipment and provision of
related installation services;

(i) sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines; and
(iv)  provision of financial services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands (“HK$'000") of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless

otherwise stated, which is also the functional currency of the
Company and its Hong Kong subsidiaries.
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ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new/
revised HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS(s)"), amendments and interpretations
("Int(s)"), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time.

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Annual Improvementsto ~ 2018-2020 Cycle
HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 16: Proceeds before
Intended Use

The amendments clarify the accounting requirements for
proceeds received by an entity from selling items produced
while testing an item of property, plant or equipment before
it is used for its intended purpose. An entity recognises the
proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those
items, in profit or loss and measures the cost of those items
applying the measurement requirements of HKAS 2.

Amendments to HKAS 37: Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of
fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate directly
to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract include
both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (for
example, direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR o A 5 R B ik

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

2,

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continuea)

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in
2018. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception
to its requirement for an entity to refer to the Conceptual
Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability.
The exception specifies that, for some types of liabilities and
contingent liabilities, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should instead
refer to HKAS 37. The exception has been added to avoid an
unintended consequence of updating the reference.

Annual Improvements Project — 2018-2020 Cycle
HKFRS 1: Subsidiary as a First-time Adopter

This amendment simplifies the application of HKFRS 1 for a
subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter of HKFRSS later
than its parent — i.e. if a subsidiary adopts HKFRSs later than
its parent and applies HKFRS 1.D16(a), then a subsidiary may
elect to measure cumulative translation differences for all
foreign operations at amounts included in the consolidated
financial statements of the parent, based on the parent’s date
of transition to HKFRSs.

HKFRS 9: Fees in the “10 per cent” Test for
Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

This amendment clarifies that — for the purpose of performing
the “10 per cent test” for derecognition of financial liabilities —
in determining those fees paid net of fees received, a borrower
includes only fees paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16: Lease Incentives

The amendment removes the illustration of payments from the
lessor relating to leasehold improvements. As currently drafted,
Example 13 is not clear as to why such payments are not a
lease incentive.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continuea)

Annual Improvements Project — 2018-2020 Cycle
(Continued)

HKAS 41: Taxation in Fair Value Measurements

This amendment removes the requirement to exclude cash
flows for taxation when measuring fair value, thereby aligning
the fair value measurement requirements in HKAS 41 with
those in HKFRS 13.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

New/revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new/revised
HKFRSSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies '

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction '

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 -
Comparative Information '

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current 2
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants ?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

& The effective date to be determined

The Group is in the process of making a detailed assessment
of the possible impact on the future adoption of these new/
revised HKFRSs. So far the management is of the opinion that
the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs will not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR B LR B

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022 except for the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs
in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements that are
relevant to the Group and effective from the current year.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment property that is
measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the Group's accounting policies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (jii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s
returns. When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, power over the investee may be obtained
through: (i) a contractual arrangement with other vote holders;
(i) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; (iii)
the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights; or (iv)
a combination of the above, based on all relevant facts and
circumstances.

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above. Consolidation
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control of the
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, profits or loss, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
entities of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest determined at the date
when control is lost and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on
the same basis as would be required if the parent had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any investment
retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or
to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset,
associate, joint venture or others as appropriate from the date
when control is lost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (continuead)

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and the non-controlling interest. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interest even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations except for business combinations
under common control. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either fair
value or the present ownership interests’ proportionate share
in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying
amount of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date;
any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit and loss.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or a liability is recognised in accordance
with HKFRS 9 either in profit and loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of
any previous equity interest in the acquiree at the acquisition
date over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in profit or 10ss.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUS"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the
lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying amount of the
CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries

In the Company's statement of financial position, which is
presented within these notes, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less impairment losses. The carrying amount of
the investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on an
individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is as
follows:

- Sales of fine and rare wines
- Provision of fitting out and engineering services

- Provision of design and procurement of furnishing and
related products services

- Provision of installation service for construction
equipment

- Provision of financial services except for providing
finance
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continueaq)
Identification of performance obligations
At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identifies
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(@ agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that
is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same pattern of
transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(@  the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

(b)  the Group's promise to transfer the good or service
to the customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good or service is distinct within the context of the
contract).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continuea)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset. The
Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

(b)  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c)  the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continueaq)
Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)
The Group recognised its revenue by taking into consideration
the type of customers, the type of transactions and the
specifics of each arrangement. Revenue is recognised as
follows:

i) Sales of fine and rare wines

The Group sells fine and rare wines. Revenue from sales
of fine and rare wines is recognised at a point in time
when control of the products has been transferred, being
when the products are delivered to the customers, and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customers' acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs
when the products have been delivered to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customers, and either the customers
has accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

ii) Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision
of design and procurement of furnishing and related
products services/Provision of construction equipment
installation services
A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as
a service contract when the contract relates to work on
assets under the control of the customer and therefore
the Group's activities create or enhance an asset under
the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a service contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised over time using either the output method (i.e.
based on direct measurements of the value of services
delivered or measurement of work performed and the
estimated total revenue for the contracts entered into
by the Group) or the input method (i.e. based on the
proportion of the actual inputs deployed to date as
compared to the estimated total inputs), as appropriate,
to measure the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continuea)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continuead)

i)

Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision
of design and procurement of furnishing and related
products services/Provision of construction equipment
installation services (Continued)

If the projects have no alternative use to the Group
contractually and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment from the customers for performance completed
to date, the Group satisfies the performance obligation
over time and therefore, recognises revenue over time
in accordance with the input method for measuring
progress.

The likelihood of contract variations, claims and
liguidated damages are taken into account in making
these estimates, such that revenue is only recognised
to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent
of contract costs incurred that are expected to be
recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised.

The principal input applied in the input method is:
- Provision of fitting out and engineering services/

provision of design and procurement of furnishing
and related products services: costs incurred.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

ii)

iii)

Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision
of design and procurement of furnishing and related
products services/Provision of construction equipment
installation services (Continuea)

The principal input applied in the output method is:

- Provision of fitting out and engineering services/
provision of design and procurement of furnishing
and related products services (only applicable
when surveyor was appointed): surveys of
performance completed to date.

- Installation services income from construction
equipment: square meters of areas completed to
date.

Provision of financial services except for providing
finance

Commission income for broking business is recorded as
income at a point in time on a trade date basis.

Underwriting commission income, sub-underwriting
income, placing commission and sub-placing commission
are recognised as income at a point in time in
accordance with the terms of the underlying agreement
or deal mandate when relevant significant act has been
completed.

Proof of funds commission and clearing and handling
fee income are recognised at a point in time when the
relevant transactions have been arranged or the relevant
services have been rendered.

Management fee is recognised over time when the
relevant services have been rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR o A 5 R B ik

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied
to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of 10ss
allowance) of the asset.

Rental income
Rental income from operating leases of construction
equipment and investment property is recognised when the
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If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely,
if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract
is presented as a contract liability when the payment is made
or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is
the Group's right to consideration that is unconditional or
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts
are not presented on a net basis.

For some of the contracts for fitting out and engineering
services, design and procurement of furnishing services
businesses, the Group receives from the customer the whole
or some of the contractual payments before the services are
completed or when the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing
of revenue recognition for such transactions). The Group
recognises a contract liability until it is recognised as revenue.
During that period, any significant financing components, if
applicable, will be included in the contract liability and will be
expensed as accrued unless the interest expense is eligible for
capitalisation.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continuea)
On the other hand, for some of the contracts for fitting out and
engineering services, design and procurement of furnishing
and related products services businesses, in accordance with
the standard payment schedules, payments are not due or
received from the customer until the services are completed or
when the goods are delivered. However, for such transactions,
revenue is recognised over time and therefore, a contract
asset is recognised until it becomes a receivable or payments
are received. During that period, any significant financing
components, if applicable, will be included in the contract asset
and recognised as interest income.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise t0 a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continuea)

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises:

(@ the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) anyinitial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the
lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful
lives of the right-of-use assets (unless the lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of
the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects
that the Group will exercise a purchase option — in which case
depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life of the
underlying asset) as follows:

Office premises
Warehouse

3.3 years
6 years

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date of the contract.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@)  fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b)  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continuea)

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to
zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the
lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of
the remeasurement in profit or 10ss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets,
and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

(a)

the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
over the revised lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continuea)

(d)  for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the
lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the
lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full termination
of the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to
the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss.

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease
or an operating lease at the inception date of the lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor - operating lease
The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period except for exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of
which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and when a
reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made.
Expenditures for which a provision has been recognised are
charged against the related provision in the year in which the
expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money
is material, the amount provided is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only
when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), the employees of the Group's
entities established in the PRC are required to participate
in defined contribution retirement plans organised by local
governments. Contributions to these plans are expensed
in profit or loss as incurred and other than these monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits to its employees.

No forfeited contributions for the above plans may be used by
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for
that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the years necessary to match the grant on a systematic
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXGHEE ®
(Continued)
Taxation RIE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continuea)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Non-current asset held for sale

Non-current asset is classified as held for sale if its carrying
amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded
as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset
is available for immediate sale in its present condition.
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within
one year from the date of classification. Non-current asset
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the year in which they are incurred.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continuead)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment to their residual value, if any,
using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives
or depreciation rates as follows:
Leasehold improvements Unexpired lease term or useful
life of 3 years

Furniture and fixtures 3years
Office equipment 3years
Motor vehicles 3years
Construction equipment 5 years

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or 10ss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the asset is
derecognised.

Investment property
Investment property is property held by owner or lessee, to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is measured at its fair
value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment property are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise. The fair value of investment
property is based on a valuation by an independent valuer who
holds a recognised professional qualification and has recent
experience in the location and category of property being
valued.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful
life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to
determine whether events and circumstances continue to
support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from the date
of change is in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than
goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to assess whether there
is any indication that its property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets or right-of-use assets may be impaired or
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In addition,
the Group tests its intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets that are not yet available for use
for impairment by estimating their recoverable amount on an
annual basis and whenever there is an indication that those
assets may be impaired. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that
generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as
expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term
deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument on a trade date basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or 10ss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuead)

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit
or loss); and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. The Group derecognises
a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group'’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest method. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in other gains/(losses) together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

o Fair value through other comprehensive income: Assets
that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“OCI"). Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit
or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest method. Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Financial assets (Continuea)

Debt instruments (Continued)

° Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses (“ECL") associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and contract assets. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost
other than trade receivables is measured as either 12-month
ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a
significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred
since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime ECL.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the
proceeds receivables are not settled in accordance with the
terms stipulated in the agreements, management considers
these receivables as underperforming or non-performing and
impairment is measured as lifetime ECL.

Measurement of ECL
ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used
for determining the ECL should be consistent with the cash
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Impairment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(i) nature of collateral

(iv)  industry of debtors

(v)  geographical location of debtors

(vi)  external credit risk ratings
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Impairment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial instrument, except in the case of debt instruments
measured at fair value through OCI, the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Definition of aefault

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuead)

Impairment (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. In particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

o the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or
interest on the due dates;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if
available);

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

o actual or expected changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have or may have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet
its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

0) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Impairment (Continued)

Low credit risk (Continued)

As detailed in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, bank balances and other receivables are
determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, operating lease receivables and contract
assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECL at each reporting date and has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about
the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Impairment (Continuea)

Write-off

When management considers that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, the financial assets measured at
amortised cost will be written off. The Group has a policy
of writing off the gross carrying amount based on historical
experience of recoveries of similar assets. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s procedures for recovery of
amounts due, taking into account legal advice if appropriate.
Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or 10ss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables and
lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is
recognised on an effective interest basis.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first in, first out for
construction materials and weighted average method for fine
and rare wines. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

0} The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(V) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

(viy  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group.

3.

CIEERERAIRAE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERGEEER @
FRET (&
b M TINEEGEEER B ZEREA

EERARE

0]

(in

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

BRALEESFA KBNS
GISYNSINGIEPNSSIEES
B AREBRILAEERE) o

R—BEASBREZHRER
B EERR (Hns—BE
FABEEMEZBMEATNEG

BAT) o

BEROAR-F=ZAZ5ER
E‘o

R-—EBRAS=FERZGE
AR ME—BERAE=AE
- AN

BERAMAEENEAERS
FzEBRZESENRIIZEE
BEREMNEE - HAEEES
RILZBEBR R 5t R
HENZ BETRAEREH
o

BEREZ@PFEATERSH
[EI1EH] o

@OPFFREANTHEREESE
FENARZERIHESA
BZIEEEAE-

BREIMEEEEMEAME
ABAAEERHEIEZEEA
BRF -

TE T TECFERE

143



ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

144

SR e A B AR Bk

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value for the purpose of impairment
assessment, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset at the
measurement date.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorises the fair value measurements
into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follows:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation technigues for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group's
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimation (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in consolidated financial statements.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying the Group's
accounting policies (Continued)

Classification of leases - as lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance
lease or an operating lease at the inception date which
involves the overall assessment of whether the lease transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the underlying asset. As part of the assessment, the Group
considers all the relevant factors including the contractual
terms and the circumstances of the contractual parties to
determine the substance of the transaction.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue from contract with customers within HKFRS 15

Revenue from fitting out and engineering services and design
and procurement of furnishing services is recognised over
time, which is dependent on estimating the outcome of the
contract, as well as the work done to date. The Group reviews
and revises the estimates of contract revenue and contract
costs, prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Budgeted costs are prepared by management
on the basis of quotations from time to time provided by
the major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved and
the experience of management. In order to keep the budget
accurate and up-to-date, management conducts periodic
reviews on the budgeted costs by comparing the budgeted
amounts to the actual costs incurred.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the contract
revenue and contract costs which may have an impact on
revenue recognised to date. In addition, actual outcomes
in terms of total revenue or costs may be higher or lower
than estimated at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue recognised in future periods as an
adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continuea)
Income tax

As at 31 March 2023, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the tax losses and deductible temporary
difference of approximately HK$149,290,000 (2022:
HK$128,788,000) and HK$5,230,000 (2022: HK$2,798,000)
respectively due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where the
actual future profits or taxable temporary differences are less
or more than expected or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future taxable profits estimation,
a material reversal or recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period
in which such a reversal or recognition takes place.

Allowance for ECLs on loan and interest receivables,
trade and other receivables and contract assets

The Group calculates ECLs for loan and interest receivables,
trade and other receivables and contract assets based on
the Group's historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, loan and interest receivables, trade and other
receivables and contract assets with significant balances and
credit impaired are assessed for ECLs individually.

The allowance for ECLS is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast general economic conditions.
The information about the ECLs and the Group’s loan and
interest receivables, trade and other receivables and contract
assets are disclosed in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements. If the financial condition of the customers or the
forecast economic conditions were to deteriorate, the actual
loss allowance would be higher than estimated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR B LR B

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continuead)
Estimated useful lives and impairment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group's management determines the estimated useful
lives, and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets. The estimates are
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of those assets of similar nature and functions. Management
will increase the depreciation where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives. It will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable lives and therefore affect the depreciation
charges in future periods.

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists,
management has to assess whether an event has occurred
that may affect the asset value or such event affecting the
asset value has not been in existence. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amounts of the asset would be
determined based on the higher of the value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal, which involve significant
judgements and estimates.

Valuation of non-current asset held for sale/investment
property

Investment property is carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at 31 March 2023 at its fair value of
approximately HK$29,500,000 (2022: HK$26,200,000). The fair
value was based on a valuation on this property conducted by
an independent professional valuer using property valuation
techniques which involve certain assumptions of market
conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
Group’s investment property and corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continuea)
Impairment of intangible assets

The Group evaluates whether intangible assets have
suffered any impairment based on impairment assessment
performed at least annually and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
intangible assets may not be recoverable, in accordance with
the stated accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of the
intangible assets have been determined based on the higher
of the fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. These
calculations require the use of estimates and judgements.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategies
remain unchanged from prior year.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a continuous basis taking into account the cost of capital and
the risk associated with the capital. Based on the directors’
recommendation, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through payment of dividend, issuance of new shares
as well as the raising of new debts or the repayment of existing
debts.

A group entity is regulated by the Securities and Futures
Commission (the “SFC") in Hong Kong and is required to comply
with the financial resources requirements according to the
Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (the “SF(FR)
R"). Management closely monitors, on a daily basis, the liquid
capital level of the regulated entity to ensure compliance with
the minimum liquid capital requirements under the SF(FR)R. The
regulated entity has complied with the capital requirements
imposed by the SF(FR)R throughout the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

6(a)

6(b)

6.

CIEERERAIRAE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR o A 5 R B ik

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

EMTH

Categories of financial instruments 6(a) TR T AEER
2023 2022
—E-= B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost IR ATIEZSHEE
Loan and interest receivables W ERRF) S 4,770 5,451
Financial assets included in SABSREMEWRTIEY
trade and other receivables TREE 14,673 17,105
Cash and bank balances R& R IRITHER 5,915 6,190
25,358 28,746
Financial liabilities at RBERATIR SRAE
amortised cost
Financial liabilities included in SFABSREMECGRIEY
trade and other payables TRBE 13,114 10,219
Lease liabilities HEar’ 9,450 15,360
Other borrowing HimEEs 5,000 -
27,564 25,579

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include loan
and interest receivables, trade and other receivables,
cash and bank balances, trade and other payables, other
borrowing and lease liabilities. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risks (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. Management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

6(b) M EREEBRRRER

FEEZIEZESRMTAGEREE
MR FE B R EMBEURRIE R
ERIRITHER B 5 REMBNR
E-HEEURBEER -ZEE
MTARZFBEERERMERE A
ZEEMTITAERZARBETS
R (EEREERRAZER - EER
REOREE AR - WA EZE R
RZHREIIN T -EEEEER
ERZERE  UEFRKFA M
TTEERE

—E T F TECFERE
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMMTHR %
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) AEEAMGEEBERBER (&

152

policies (continuea)

Market risk 5 &k
Currency risk =g

The Group has certain portion of cash and bank
balances, trade and other receivables and trade and
other payables denominated in currencies (such as
Renminbi (“RMB”), Singapore Dollars (“SGD") and
United States Dollars (“US$") other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise. Management
reviews its foreign currency exposures regularly and
considers there is no significant exposure on its foreign
currency risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances with variable interest rate. The
Group has no significant exposure to interest rate risk.

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances, loan and interest receivables, trade and other
receivables and contract assets. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR o A 5 R B ik

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

£MTH®
6(b) BAFEEIREIEEERBE (&

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continuea)

Credit risk (Continuea)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk represents the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, management of
the Group has delegated an officer responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverability of each individual trade debt at
the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by authorised credit-rating agencies.

Other receivables

The Group considers that other receivables have low
credit risk based on the counterparties’ strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and low risk of default. Impairment on other
receivables is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects
the short maturities of the exposures.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMMTHR %
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) AEEAMGEEBERBER (&
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policies (continuea)

Credit risk (Continuea) EERRE &)

Other receivables (Continued) Bipg#a (&

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account R BHREESER  AEEEE
the historical actual credit loss experience over the BBEAE (CEZ 24 3F) NES

past 3 years (2022: 3 years) and the financial position of
the counterparties by reference to, among others, their
management or audited accounts and available press
information, adjusted for forward-looking factors that are
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in
estimating the probability of default of these financial
assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
lifetime ECL on trade receivables and contract assets.
To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The Group has considered historical and
available forwarding-looking information in estimating
ECL.

Trade receivables

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. The Group normally allows
average credit period ranging from 30 to 60 days
(2022: 30 to 60 days) to its trade customers. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
management.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMIH®
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) BAEEAMEEAEREBE &
policies (continuea)
Credit risk (Continueq) EERRE &)
Trade receivables (Continued) EZEKTE (&
As at 31 March 2023, the Group recognised loss A2 _fF=ZBA=1+—H'XK
allowance of HK$6,484,000 (2022: HK$4,812,000) on the SENEZRBRIERDEIERE
trade receivables. The information about the exposure to #%7%6,484,0008 T (& - —
credit risk and ECL for trade receivables using a provision 4,812,000787t) - BRI E 5 EWFIE
matrix is summarised below: ZEEREBREREESEBEERE
RN E R
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
HEER IRE4E BERE EEHE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
B FERT TR
At 31 March 2023 RIEZ=F
=A=+—-H
Non-credit impaired BEERHE
Not past due K 1.0 7,128 (71) No &
Within 90 days past due HHEA0H R 14 1,747 (24) No #
91t0 180 days past due HHAVIE180H 1.8 453 (8) No &
18110 270 days past due #E18122708 2.8 436 (12) No £
271 t0 365 days past due HHR271E 365 28.4 345 (98) No
Over 365 days past due BHA365H M & 46.4 5218 (2,422) No #
15,327 (2,635)
Credit impaired EERE
Over 365 days past due #HA365H M £ 100.0 3,849 (3,849) Yes B
19,176 (6,484)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continuea)

6. TRTH @
6(b) BB AMEEEBRBK @)

Credit risk (Continuea) EERRE &)
Trade receivables (Continued) ESEKTE (&
Gross
Expected carrying L0sS Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
REBEE FREAE BERE EERAE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt TAT TER
At 31 March 2022 R-B-Z&
=A=+-H
Non-credit impaired BEERE
Not past due Pt 10 6,621 (66) No &
Within 90 days past due HAEA0H A 14 2220 (31) No &
910 180 days past due HER9121808 17 2,048 (35) No &
18110 270 days past due #ER18122708 20 2,537 (51) No &
271 10 365 days past due #2712 3650 28.3 2,113 (597) No &
Over 365 days past due 365 A 530 345 (183) No %
15,884 (963)
Credit impaired FERE
18110 270 days past due #HA181ZE2708 100.0 529 (529) Yes B
271 10 365 days past due #HA2712365H 100.0 343 (343) Yes B
Over 365 days past due HEA365H M E 100.0 2,977 2.977) Yes &
3,849 (3,849)
19,733 (4.812)

The Group does not hold any collateral over these

balances.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

£MTH®
6(b) BAFEEIREIEEERBE (&

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continuea)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for trade
receivables are set out below:

EERR @)
B 5 EWE (i

B RRIERRREE ZEET

2023 2022

—EZ=HF ECHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

At 1 April =R = 4,812 2,712
Increase in allowance BB 1,680 4,350
Write-off of allowance BEMEE (8) (2,250)
At 31 March R=BA=+—H 6,484 4,812

Included in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are individually impaired trade receivables
with an aggregate balance of approximately HK$172,000
(2022: HK$172,000) and HK$3,677,000 (2022:
HK$3,677,000) which had been long outstanding and
under liquidation respectively. The individually impaired
trade receivables are recognised based on the credit
history of its customers, such as financial difficulties or
default in payments, and current market conditions.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as approximately 25% (2022: 20%) and 79%
(2022: 67%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

BSERERBRERETDREE
ERARZRKRENBERNERE
BB E ZEWGIE  4BEREED B B K
172,0007& 75 (ZZ 224 : 172,000
HB7T) 523,677,000 70 (Z T "4 :
3,677,000 70) L H @R ERESZ
SREBFEBEEENREREANEER
&% BIU0 I B RIS ST TR AT IR
TG E RS

RIEZ=F=-BA=+—H dHIrE
SEWRIBLEEE Z #925% (B -
F 1 20%) K79% (ZBEZZF 1 67%)
DREREREEAZBRBATARE
AAFE WALEEBEERKE
RZIER e
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continuea)
Credit risk (Continued)

contract assets

As at 31 March 2023, the Group recognised loss
allowance of HK$21,000 (2022: HK$40,000) on the
balances. The information about the exposure to credit
risk and ECL for contract assets using a provision matrix

6. EMTH @®

6(b) MBRAMERBFERER @)

FERR (@)

LA G =
SAYHE

A TE T ZFZR=+—H > FEE
TS FR IR SR A 18 B 1521,0008 7T (2

T T £ 1 40,0007

BT cBREHE

EZEERBNREREERREER

is summarised below: BBBEERNE R -
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
REGEEX IRE4E ESER G EEnE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Btk TAT FTET
At 31 March 2023 RIZZ=F
=B=+-H
Not past due Pt 1.0 2,131 (21) No &
At 31 March 2022 RIBE-_F
=ZR=+—-H
Not past due Pk 10 3971 (40) No £

The movements in the loss allowance for contract assets

are set out below:

BNEERBRRBZEFHUT

2023 2022

—EBZ=HF TEIF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

At 1 April rEA—H 40 26
(Decrease) Increase in allowance B CRlZ) 18 (19) 14
At 31 March R=A=+—H 21 40
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continuea)

Credit risk (Continuea)

Loan and interest receivables

Regular reviews on these loans are conducted by
management based on the historical information about
counterparties default rates, latest status of these loans
and the latest available information about the borrowers.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and whether the financial asset is credit-
impaired, the Group has taken into account the historical
actual credit loss experience of the borrowers and the
financial position of the counterparties by reference
to, among others, the background search for individual
borrowers, their assets proof and available press
information, adjusted for forward-looking factors that are
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in
estimating the probability of default of these financial
assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.

As at 31 March 2023, the loan receivables have
been past due and the Group has been negotiating
with the borrowers about the settlement plan. The
management, after considered credit rating analysis and
economic outlook provided by an independent qualified
professional valuer (the “Valuer”), is in the view that the
probability of default of these loan receivables increased.
As such, hence, additional provision on ECL was made
for the year.

6.

£MTH®
6(b) BAFEEIREIEEERBE (&
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continuea)
Credit risk (Continuea)
Loan and interest receivables (Continued)
As at 31 March 2023, the Group recognised l0ss
allowance of approximately HK$1,540,000 (2022:
HK$819,000) on the balances. The information about
the exposure to credit risk and ECL for loan and interest
receivables is summarised below:

£MTH®
6(b) BAFEEIREIEEERBE (&

EERRE &)

EREZRAE (&

A TE T ZFZR=+—H > FEE
ThAERRFERR IR 5 491,540,00078 7T
(ZZ -4 :819,00087T) A&
FERERKEFEZEERR&RTEL
EE R 1815 B B SR PR AV B LR 2
mr

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
Basis of ECL loss rate amount allowance
HEHEE
BEEE TEHRESIRE IREAE EiakE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
B FET FEx
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=ZF
=B=+-H
Past due HHA lifetime 24.4 6,310 (1,540)
21
At 31 March 2022 RZBZZF
=B=+-H
Past due A lifetime 13.1 6,270 (819)
28

The movements in the loss allowance for loan and
interest receivables are set out below:

REERRF EBEEFEZZEW
T

2023 2022

—EBZ=HF TEIF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

At 1 April == 819 442
Increase in allowance BEE 721 377
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,540 819

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as approximately 51% (2022: 52%) and 100%
(2022: 100%) of the total loan and interest receivables
was due from the Group's largest borrower and the two
largest borrowers respectively.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continuea)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the
utilisation of source of funding and considers the risk is
minimal.

The following table details the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest cash flows are at floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
curve at the end of each reporting period.

6. EFRITH ®
6(b) BIFERAMGEIREEEREE &

MEBEE AR

EERBESARE  FEREEREKR
HEEEEIREURVEERE
ERABREMERIFEZRE
RIFETFBYIKE - EEEERIRT
BEZBHABRRAMES IR I
REARABR-

TRFVRBEWMRE ZBRIFETR > &
SR TEESREBRHRTZEHE
HIER 2R IRBAERAMNRZ
EPEMBREMaBEIREREERES
MEMARS -

ZRBENEBREEHEME -NE
BREFR HANRRERERFEF
o QIR ALIR S RATH AR BA R A 5t
%O

More than More than More than
3 months one year two years
but not but not but not Total
Within exceeding exceeding exceeding  undiscounted Carrying
0On demand 3 months 12 months two years five years cash flows amount
BiB=faR
BFER Bip—F BRzE BARER
REX =fiRR +Zf8R (BFREB-F EFBALE REne REEHE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR THER TR TR TAT
At 31 March 2023 RZZZ=£=R=+-H
Trade and other payables B RAMENTE 16,157 - - - - 16,157 16,157
Lease liabllities HEBE - 2,322 4,765 2,684 - 9,771 9,450
Other borrowing HitifEE - 250 - 250 5,250 5,750 5,000
16,157 2,572 4,765 2,934 5,250 31,678 30,607
At 31 March 2022 RIBZZF=ZB=1-H
Trade and other payables ESREAMETTE 10,219 - - - - 10,219 10,219
Lease liabilities HEBE - 2443 4,765 6,35% 2,684 16,246 15,360
10,219 2443 4,765 6,354 2,684 26,465 25,579

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of current financial assets and current financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values due to
their immediate or short-term maturities.

ERBEFRRR REaMBHRERD
REBHEAATRZADEMEER
mBEREERANBESAERAE
R WHREEREATERES-

—E T F TECFERE
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7. REVENUE 7. Y=
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows: NEEFRWRZ DA T -
2023 2022
—EI=HF =SS
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Design, fitting out and engineering et EE R TRERFUA
services income 45,910 33,785
Installation services income from BEIXHB 2 ZERBUWA
construction equipment - 3,296
Rental income from leasing of HERERBEHEISWA
construction equipment 6,756 10,045
Sales of fine and rare wines EEHEWRA 2,525 9,977
Interest income from money lending BEMEUWA 540 539
Commission income from introducing M 4B& AL IRFS RS A
brokerage services 30 18
55,761 57,660
Revenue from contracts with EARAMBWMEENEISR
customers within HKFRS 15: BETEFR&HWE -
Revenue recognised at a point in time — J* R —FFRTBER 2 W 75
— Sales of fine and rare wines —EEHEWA 2,525 9,977
- Commission income from — MR LR R E A
introducing brokerage services 30 18
Revenue recognised over time PR —EEFREIERZ W
- Design, fitting out and engineering —HE N EERTRERBERA
services income 45,910 33,785
— Installation services income from —BEIZEZLERBUA
construction equipment - 3,296
48,465 47,076
Revenue from other sources: HfthaRuka -
- Rental income from leasing of —HERREZEHREWA
construction equipment 6,756 10,045
- Interest income from money lending  —3ZEIEF] B A5t E G
calculated using effective interest FEUA
method 540 539
55,761 57,660

The revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 is

based on fixed price.
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors, being the
chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of goods or services delivered or provided. The directors
of the Company have chosen to organise the Group around
differences in services.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments are
as follows:

@

(o)

@

Provision of design, fitting out, engineering and
procurement of furnishings and related products services
("Design, fitting out and engineering services”);

Leasing of construction equipment and provision of
related installation services (“Leasing of construction
equipment”);

Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines
(“Wines merchandising”); and

Financial services business comprising securities
advisory services, securities dealing and brokerage
services and asset management services and money
lending (“Financial services business”).

DEPE R

ARTES DEBLEEREE > LR
AEERRTEIBRRZERERRE
TERR S ERABHEE A ATE
SERRBEREMEER-

AREMES AEEFTE2RAREEDHNT :

RMERE B TRAFBRER
MERE®RRTE (R EBEKRITRER
%),

—
QO
=

() HEREREBREHEEZERS
(MEERERME) ;

© EHEXAE (EHEE) ; &

) =BBRBEZEEMREFEHRE
R BERG LSRR EEEE
BRF R (TZRARFER)

CE T TR CFERE

CIEERERAIRAE

163



ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

164

SR B LR B

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources among segments, the Company'’s
executive directors monitor the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segments assets include all assets except for corporate assets
which are managed on a group basis. All liabilities are allocated
to reportable segment liabilities other than unallocated head
office and corporate liabilities which are managed on a group
basis and certain other payables and accrued charges.

Revenues and expenses are allocated to the operating
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets attributable
to those segments. The measure used for reporting segment
results is profit/loss before taxation without allocation of other
unallocated corporate expenses and income.

For the purpose of assessing the performance of the operating
segments and allocation of resources among segments, the
Group's results are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments and other head office and
corporate administrative costs.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 8. EEM &
Segment revenue and results D ER U R AR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results MUTAEERN G KRERE ] 2|RREE
by reportable and operating segments: DENER Z DM -
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_E_=F=B=1+—HLEE
Design, fitting
out and Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines services
services  equipment merchandising business Total
FEER
IRRE HERERE BHEE  SRRBER st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Tén T#n T#n T#n

Segment revenue AElE 45910 6,756 2,525 570 55,761
Segment operating (l0ss) profit PHEE (518 & (7,083) (10,492) 223 (1,549) (18,901)
Impairment of intangible assets BV EERE = = = (2,067) (2,067)
Segment (loss) profit A ER) & (7,083) (10,492) 223 (3,616) (20,968)
Unallocated: RO
Other income HitA 1,095
Other gain, net Hitla 38 804
Corporate administrative costs RRTERA (8,810)
Change in fair value of investment property REMENTEEY 3,300
Finance costs REMA (217)
Loss before tax TS (24,796)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BEZT__H-A-+HIEFE
Design, fitting
out and Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines Services
services equipment  merchandising business Total
FetHER
IRRYE #ERER EHEE SRREER fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000

TAR TAR THn THR THR

Segment revenue AEkE 33,785 13,341 9,977 557 57,660
Segment operating ((0ss) profit PHEE (58 wA (866) (7,403) 361 (1,884) 9,79
Impairment of intangible assets BYEEAE - - - (476) (476)
Segment (loss) profit P (E548) B (866) (7,403) 361 (2,360) (10,268)
Unallocated: AR

Other income HitA 912
Corporate administrative costs RRTE A (10,651)
Change in fair value of investment property RENELTEED (800)
Finance costs RERE (129)
Loss before tax BiRBIEE (20,936)
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. NEEH @
Segment assets and liabilities NHEERAR
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities RERREREKEDHE D2 EERE
by reportable and operating segments: (=3I
As at 31 March 2023 WZEZ=F=H=+—H
Design, fitting
out and Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines services
services  equipment merchandising business Total
et EER
IkE HERERE EHEE SRBRBER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TiEr
Segment assets PEE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VEN e 16 14,116 - - 14,132
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 4,573 - - 4,573
Intangible assets BV EE - - - 2,499 2,499
16 18,689 - 2,499 21,204
Current assets HEEE 10,235 6,984 464 4,770 22,453
Segment assets NHEE 10,251 25,673 464 7,269 43,657
Unallocated: FOE:
Cash and bank balances Re RS 5915
Others Httr 34,828
Total assets per consolidated statement of GEMBRAREELEE
financial position 84,400
Segment liabilities AaE
Non-current liabilities EiiE=NE
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE - - - 413 413
Lease liabilities HEaR - 732 - - 732
Other borrowing Hitfg& 5,000 - - - 5,000
5,000 732 - 413 6,145
Current liabilities ek 9,244 6,187 1,325 386 17,142
Segment liabilities par- 0=k 14,244 6919 1,325 799 23,287
Unallocated: KRR
Others Htty 13,131
Total liabilities per consolidated statement of GRUBHRRRAEEE
financial position 36,418
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 8. EWEH®
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) IHREEREE E

As at 31 March 2022

RIE__HF#=A=+—H

Design, fitting
out and Leasing of Financial
engneering  construction Wines Services
services equipment  merchandising business Total
Rt EER ‘ ) ‘
TERE HERERG EHER  SRRBEER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TEL TET TERL
Segment assets AHEE
Non-current assets FrRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VEN: b 21 22,36 - - 22,387
Right-of-use assets PREEE - 8,493 - - 8,493
Intangible assets BVEE - - - 4,566 4,566
2 30,859 - 4,566 35446
Current assets TEEE 9,178 9,632 2,383 5451 26,644
Segment assets PHEE 9,199 40,491 2,383 10017 62,090
Unallocated: KRR
Cash and bank balances ReRBIER 6,190
Others =t 33934
Total assets per consolidated statement of GAMBRIREELR
financial position 102,214
Segment liabilities KHaE
Non-current liabilties FErBaf
Deferred tax liabiliies EEREEE - - - 754 754
Lease liabllities REEE - 4,999 - - 4,99
- 4,999 - 754 5753
Current liabilities DoE=t] 4,665 5612 1,769 3R 12,334
Segment liabties NHak 4,665 10611 1769 1092 18137
Unallocated: Kok
Others Hih 11,667
Total liabilities per consolidated statement of SERBRRREEAE
financial position 29,804
TR T TR oFERE
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8.
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources among segments:

all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain property, plant and equipment, certain right-
of-use assets, investment property/non-current asset
held for sale, certain prepayments, deposits and other
receivables and cash and bank balances as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain accrued expenses and other payables,
certain lease liabilities, certain income tax payable and
certain deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2023

DEBEH ()
PHEERER &
RERDBRRARAEE D HEFM

= .
=

PRUEBEERER Y BT 18
hRFE -ETHERAREE REWE
SRAERENIERBEE  ETRA
A B R HMEWRIE R IR E K
IRTTHERRIN FREBEERRDEEER
P2 E -

BRUEEEREEZETROMS
REMENREBE-ETHERE A&
TERAMGRAE TELERESR
S FRE BEHRDEERFTZ2RD

BB

HithoEpE R
BE_E_-—F-HA=+—HLEE

Design,
fitting out and Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines services
services equipment merchandising business  Unallocated Total
Fit BER
IRkE HEEERE EHEE  SRREBER RAE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#ET TR Thw FEw TFEw TR
Impairment of intangible assets BVEERE - - - 2,067 611 2,678
Allowance for ECL on trade and B 5 REMENTERS
other receivables EEREEE 55 1,616 9 - - 1,680
Allowance for ECL on loan and EHERRASEREESRRE
interest receivables - - - 21 - 721
Reversal of allowance for ECL on BNEERREERRRBDA
contract assets (19 - - - - (19)
Change in fair value of RENFATEED
an investment property - - - - (3,300) (3,300)
Depreciation of property, ME-BBREENE
plant and equipment 13 7,486 - - 1 7,510
Depreciation of right-of-Use assets FRREERE - 3,920 - - 1,809 5729
Compensation gain on disposal/write-off of R E /FHEBRERERENE
construction equipment - (157) - - - (157)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME BRRDE NE
equipment - (2) - - - (2)
Additions to property, plant and equipment BB 48 Kk 9 - - - - 9
Bank interest income SRITRIS A - - - - 9) 9)
Finance costs RMEME 232 348 - - 217 797
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. EEM &
Other segment information (Continued) HthoEER @
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE_E__F-A=-+—HILEEFE
Design,
fitting out and Leasing of Financial
engineering construction Wines services
services equipment  merchandising husiness Unallocated Total
R EER
TiRkE HERER EHEE  SRREER FAE st
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TEn TiEx TiEn TEx TEn TEn
Impairment of intangible assets BYBERE = - - 476 214 690
Allowance for (Reversal of allowance for) ~ EZREMERTEREEEHEE
ECL on trade and other receivables e () 21 4,089 (20) - - 4350
Allowance for ECL on loan and BHENRASBHEESARE
interest receivables - - - 377 - 377
Allowance for ECL on contract assets BHEERBCERRRE 1 = = = = i
Change in fair value of RENEATEED
aninvestment property - - - - 800 800
Depreciation of property, ME BBRRENE
plant and equipment 13 7734 - - 362 8,109
Depreciation of right-of-Use assets FRREERE - 3,505 - - 3,065 6,570
Compensation gain on disposal/write-off  RE /FEBRERERERG
of construction equipment - (1,266) - - - (1,266)
Additions to property, plant and equipment BB SRR & E 9 648 - - - 657
Bank interest income SRITRIBIA = = = S (1) (1)
Finance costs BB - 493 - - 129 622
Geographical information & &k}

The Group's operations are principally located in Hong Kong
and the PRC.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is presented
based on the location of customers. The geographical location
of non-current assets is based on the physical location of the
assets, in the case of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and investment property, and the location of the
operation, in the case of goodwill and intangible assets. The

FEBREBENEBRTEHEE

KREERBINDERZIWABERE M
REE2T ERBEEMMFE B
EREEENREMEMSMELE
EREENERUE MBERETLE
EME B IEEME - R EEE IR
B REIIBEZERHRAFTIERBEED

analysis of the Group's revenue from external customers and
non-current assets by geographical location is as follows:

0T

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

REIBERZUWA ERBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC=HF =St S —- ) ==
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Hong Kong BB 54,163 56,333 25,423 68,296
The PRC 2] 1,598 1,327 = =
55,761 57,660 25,423 68,296
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 8. EEN @
Information about major customers EERZEN
Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of the total BERAEBBEWZI0%T U ENE L WG
revenue of the Group is as follows: wr
2023 2022
—E=F B HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Customer A’ ZAA 31,303 15,756
Customer B23 ZFB? N/A RiEHR 7,979
1 Revenue from Design, fitting out and engineering services ! RER HEERTRRBAW S
2 Revenue from Wines merchandising ¢ =R BN
3 The corresponding revenue in 2023 did not contribute 10% or more of E ZMHEAR@EN S =F U REMAERR
the total revenue of the Group IR 2 10%3 A =
9. OTHER INCOME 9. HfhlxA
2023 2022
—EZ= B
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FEE FERT TFAET
Bank interest income IRITHBEUA 9 1
Rental income HEUWA 9(@a) 884 870
Sundry income FEIFURA 117 81
Government subsidies BT %EEh 9(b) 407 -
1,417 952
9(a) Rental income 9(a) FHEUWA
An analysis of the Group’s net rental income from AEERBEREMEZAEBAT
investment property is as follows: BEAMMT -
2023 2022
—E-=HF BT F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Gross rental income from KEREVEZ B ALEEE
investment property 884 870
Less: Direct operating expenses 8 : EiEEESTH GTATTHERES)
(included in administrative
expenses) (159) (118)
725 752
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9. OTHER INCOME (continued) 9. HMtA @
9(b) Government subsidies 9(b) EXAFHHEN
The government subsidies were granted from the B AT B2k B & B F 1T & AT
Employment Support Scheme, under the Anti-epidemic EhEES T HEERMESEHE
Fund of the Government of the Hong Kong Special ECOVID-19B B T RIFMEREY
Administration Region, which aims to retain employment BiEe

and combat under COVID-19 epidemic.

10. OTHER GAINS, NET 10. Hithzs o 3 %E
2023 2022
—E-= BT HF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
[z FAET FET

Compensation gain on disposal/ BREHIHEERE

write-off of construction equipment & U 157 1,266
Gain on disposal of property, HEME KB RREZ
plant and equipment g 2 -
Loss on liquidation of a subsidiary B ABEREIE (103) =
Waiver of amount due to a former FERIEEEIEER R
director (emoluments payable) (FETEN =) 14(a) 809 =
Write-back of other payables H e (S FIE o] 126 =
991 1,266
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. RIERZ
2023 2022
—F°= >t =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Interests on: UTFEEBEZHE
— lease liabilities —HEAaRA 565 622
— unsecured other borrowing — BRI EMEES 232 -
797 622
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12. INCOME TAX 12. FIFBIR

2023 2022
—E_= B
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 T#ET FHET
Hong Kong Profits Tax HENEMR
Current year ~EE = =
Deferred tax BRI
Current year KEFE 31 (232) 132
Income tax (credit) expense FEFFK (8% B
for the year (232) 132

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong Kong,
the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of a qualifying group entity
are taxed at 8.25% and profits above HK$2,000,000 are taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of other group entities in Hong Kong not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime continue to
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income tax in
the BVI.

The PRC corporate income tax in respect of operations in the
PRC is calculated at the applicable tax rates on the estimated
assessable profits for both years based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.
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12. INCOME TAX (continuea) 12. F)18KR @
The tax (credit) expense for the year can be reconciled to the AEERIE (FR) MEREEEGTRE
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss 2 EUNEIRFRFTTRIRAIES IR 2 $ AR W
and other comprehensive income as follows: Ik
2023 2022
—E=HF B HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Loss before tax PRI RTRS R (24,796) (20,936)
Tax expense at rates applicable to profits 2 BRI B =B BERREAE 2
in the jurisdiction concerned MIBREZ (4,103) (3,520)
Tax effect of income not taxable RRWAZRIEEE
for tax purpose (626) (212
Tax effect of expenses not RENMIBERZ 2 BT E
deductible for tax purpose 51 319
Tax effect of taxable (deductible) RIEBAESRR (RI0R) EBF
temporary differences not recognised ~ EZEBZ MG E 469 1,152
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  RFEBIRIBEIBZ BT E 4,134 2,560
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised — RIEERIRIERSIE 2 FE A (157) (167)
Income tax (credit) expense for the year F£EFIER (E%) B (232) 132
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

13. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax has been arrived at after charging

13. BRIRAIES1R

AEBBFRATGRED SR GTA) TAI&

(crediting): 15 .
2023 2022
—E-=H BT F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
I FHET THET
Salaries and wages included in FERIE
cost of sales GTAHE ) 2,293 2,210
Salaries and wages included in FreEkIE
administrative expenses: GTATTHERS) !
Directors’” emoluments EEWE 14 3,090 3,437
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER
(excluding directors’ emoluments) FrEREsie) 5,522 6,558
Contribution to defined contribution 52 TE RS %
plans (excluding directors’ FrEEESHD)
emoluments) 254 289
11,159 12,494
Cost of inventories sold EEHEEMA 12,645 13,290
Depreciation of property, plant MEBBRREITE
and equipment 7,510 8,109
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FREBEFE 5,729 6,570
Auditor’s remuneration Z M & 720 630
Compensation gain on disposal/ BREEINERSE
write-off of construction equipment & U & (157) (1,266)
Gain on disposal of property, HEME- - HERRE
plant and equipment W= (2) =
Impairment of intangible assets B BEERE 2,678 690
Lease payment under short-term MEERHEZEE
leases on premises 431 210
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

14. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS
14(a) Directors’ emoluments
The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid and payable
to the directors of the Company by the Group during the
year are as follows:

14. ERAEFERIEN

14(a) EFME

FEEARAFEEXNRENTE
NEEFHMEBERNT ¢

Year ended 31 March 2023
BE_Z-=F=B=1+—-HLEE
Contributions
Salaries to defined
and other  contribution

Fees benefits plans Total
&M FR N
&R HithigFl BE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT THET FTERT TET
Executive Directors: HiTES:
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BEBRLE - 2,080 18 2,098
Mr. Wang Jun TERE - 240 3 243
Mr. Zhang Weijie (note () SRERLE () - 258 15 273
Non-executive Director: EHTES:
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong (note (i) BB RE (FEH) - 105 - 105
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
Directors:
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex B RE 130 - - 130
Mr. Wu Zhao SkEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok VaZt & 120 - - 120
Total 4t 370 2,683 36 3,089
Notes: 5T -
i) Mr. Zhang Weijie resigned as executive director of the i) REALEENR - Z-Z=5"H4

Company with effect from 13 February 2023.

ii) Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong resigned as non-executive director of
the Company subsequent to the end of the reporting period
with effect from 3 June 2023.

TZHREALRRTES-
i) BRLERENREARRRHELL

BFRTEFUN S _=F"A
=HEX-
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176

14. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS (continuea)

14(a)

14(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

14. BEAEERNEN @

14() EFME &

Year ended 31 March 2022

BE_Z__F-A=+—HILEFE

Contributions
Salaries to defined
and other contribution
Fees benefits plans Total
HeM EEEHAR
A Hitnig#! REIGEA iast
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TERT TET FET
Executive Directors: HiTES:
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BREREE - 2,080 24 2,104
Mr. Wang Jun IERE - 240 - 240
Mr. Zhang Weijie REREE - 600 18 618
Non-executive Director: FRITES
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong BiLERE - 105 - 105
Independent non-executive BIERTES .
Directors:
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BRI 4 130 - - 130
Mr. Wu Zhao SkEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Vast & 120 - - 120
Total 45t 370 3,025 42 3,437

No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to
any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
Mr. Zhang Weijie waived emoluments of HK$243,500 for
the year ended 31 March 2023. In addition, Mr. Zhang
Weijie also agreed to waive the accrued emoluments of
approximately HK$809,000 for the previous years payable
to him. As such, the related directors emoluments
payable (included in other payable) of HK$809,000 has

been derecognised during the year.

No emoluments represent the payments to a
management service company in respect of directors’
services in connection with management of the affairs of
the Group.

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of the directors of the Company that were entered
into or subsisted during the year (2022: Nil).
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

14. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF

DIRECTORS (continued)

14(c) Directors’ material interest in transactions,
arrangements or contracts
Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, there are no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Company's
business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company or a connected entity
of the director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2022: Nil).

15. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS
During the year, the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group include one (2022: two) director(s)
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 14
to the consolidated financial statements. The emoluments of
the remaining four (2022: three) individuals were as follows:

CIEERERAIRAE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. ERAEERAEH @

14c) EFEXRZ THHABRNEK
&=
R iR e MBS IRERM 36T IR E S
4> FERBF R A E A BRS - 2s
NBMESETHMEMA S REAT
CEEMAAD 2 EERNEE M
MERERABBEERHEEEX
NFZEBRH ZHRER (T2
TTF ) o

15. MiERENAL

REFER ZFrEEMERSHAAA
FOHER—(CEIIE W) AAESE O H
AR S M BRI EE 14 I R - HERT
TETTF D) ABBNET

2023 2022
—E-=F TECCHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Salaries and other benefits HeMEMER 2,371 2,071
Contributions to defined TERBMH AT BN
contribution plans 90 72
2,461 2,143
Their emoluments were within the following band: MENFUOTEE -
2023 2022
—E-= BT F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ABA# AEA#
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0-1,000,00078 75 4 3

No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to any of
the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of these individuals waived any emoluments during the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

FERTERALLRSIHA T IHEN
#EM o (FRRSIMARERIIMA LS ER
BHEBREAEBEE - E-_T =
FRZEBIFZRB=+—HLFERE
ZEANTBEERBE -

CE T T T T CFERE
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

16. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed

since the end of the reporting period.

17. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share

16. g8

BE_S-_=FR-B-_F=/=+—
HLEFERAERIHARRZLERE  B]

SHRE TAERKEEARE -

17. SiREE

EREEBNBEEREANRBEEER

attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the TR E
following data:
2023 2022
—E-=f —EoCE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Loss attributable to owners of the MEREANREEHEMS
Company for the purpose of basic KABEB ANEGEZEE
and diluted loss per share (24,564) (21,068)
2023 2022
—EC=H TR CHF
‘000 ‘000
T Th
Weighted average number of ordinary  FtEREAKREEHEEMS 2
shares for the purpose of basic and LB INETEH
diluted loss per share 156,780 156,780
HK$ HK$
&t BT
Loss per share FZREFR
Basic and diluted EAR RS (0.16) (0.13)
Since there were no potential dilutive shares in issue during the HRB8E_S-_=-FrRZZE-Z°ZF=AH
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, basic and diluted loss —t+—BLEFERBEETHSEETR

per share are the same for both years.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ
18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ME KB HRE
Leasehold  Furniture and office Motor  Construction
improvements fixtures equipment vehicles equipment Total
HENEEE RANEEERE WAZRME RE BERE a5t
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FHT THT THT THET THET THET
Cost; A
At 1 Apri 2021 RoB-—&MmA—R 4,55 720 315 1492 35,201 4232
Disposal and write-off HEREH = = = = (1,776) (1,776)
Additions RE - - 45 - 612 657
At31March2022and 1April 2022 RZE-_Z_F£=F=+—-Hk
“E-_4£MA-R 4,554 720 360 1,492 34,077 41,203
Disposal and write-off HEREH - - - (60) (2,855) (2,915)
Additions RE - - 9 - - 9
At 31 March 2023 W-E-=£=HA=+-H 4,554 720 369 1,432 31,222 38,297
Accumulated depreciation: Ritie:
A1 Apri 2021 RoZ-—£mA—R 3098 71 234 786 6628 1457
Disposal and write-off HEREH = = = = (763) (763)
Charge for the year KEETH 649 1 7 194 6,388 8,109
At31March2022and 1April 2022 RZEZ"F=F=+—HK
“B-—#mA-R 3,747 712 311 1,280 12,753 18,803
Disposal and write-off HEREH - - - (57) (2,093) (2,150)
Charge for the year KEETH 649 8 36 106 6,711 7,510
At 31 March 2023 RZB-=£=A=+-A 4,39 720 347 1329 17,371 24,163
Carrying amount; BREfE
At 31 March 2023 W-E-=£=RA=+-H 158 - 2 103 13,851 14,134
At 31 March 2022 RZE-—FZA=+-A8 807 8 19 M 21324 22400
The Group leases its construction equipment to third parties AEBRUKEHEHAHERREBETE=
under operating leases with rental calculated on a daily basis. FoHESRERBEGE - HEFEEEM
The leases do not include any purchase option. Rental income EEEEH LERERERESWAESH
from leasing of construction equipment is set out in note 7 to G AR & I TSR R MIEET ©
the consolidated financial statements.
The construction equipment is subject to residual value risk. BEXREARASTFHGREERR HIL - BE
The lease contract, as a result, includes a provision based on BHRBE BRSO BIL XEBBER
which the Group has the right to charge the tenant for any THEGRFRRERSEHE 2 EABIERES
damage to the construction equipment at the end of the lease. RHE b REBSERBAEERE
Besides, the Group required the tenants to purchase insurance REEEMAISEE RSN EZ BEIBIET
to protect it against any loss that may arise from accidents or EfF e o=
physical damages of the equipment.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY/NON-CURRENT 19. REWME FHEHEZIERSHE

ASSET HELD FOR SALE

=

2023 2022
—E-=F TECCHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Fair value: AFE:

At 1 April RrUB—H 26,200 27,000

Change in fair value recognised in RIESZERZ A FEEH
profit or 10ss 3,300 (800)
At 31 March BR=B=+—H 29,500 26,200

The Group's investment property located in Hong Kong has
been presented as non-current asset held for sale as at 31
March 2023 as mentioned in note 19(a). The fair value of the
investment property as at 31 March 2023 has been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out by the Valuer that
not connected with the Group. The Valuer is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The valuation was arrived at
using prevailing market rents for comparable properties in the
same location and condition, expected future market rents and
appropriate discount rates.

The property is measured subsequent to initial recognition at
fair value categorised as Level 2 based on the degree to which
the inputs to fair value measurement are observable. There
were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy during
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

19.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY/NON-CURRENT
ASSET HELD FOR SALE (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair value
of the property as at 31 March 2023 is determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used):

. REYE FEHEZIERHE
E #®)

TRBIEER -_E-=&£=B=+—0
THEZAFEEN (LEESRER2E
BN RBA R

Fair value
as at
Fair value 31 March
hierarchy 2023 Valuation technique and key inputs
RIEZ=%
=B=+—H
RTEER ZRTE HERNTREEHARE
HK$'000
FET
Investment property Level 2 29,500 Investment method of valuation
classified as (2022: — Prevailing market rents for comparable properties
non-current asset 26,200) in the same location and condition, expected
held for sale (2022: future market rents and appropriate discount rates.
Investment property)
DEAFEHEZ BE R 29,500 REGEE
FERBMEEZ (CE2EIHF: — B—#EBEMRATALYENE BT SES T8
KEME 26,200) FFAREMBHEERBEENTIRE.
(s =%
BEYE)

Leasing arrangement - as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the property of
HK$29,500,000 (2022: HK$26,200,000) are held under head
lease with the remaining lease term of 24 years (2022: 25
years). The lease contracts do not impose any covenants on the
Group.

The property interests in leasehold land and the buildings
thereon (including the whole or part of undivided share in
the underlying land) in Hong Kong of HK$29,500,000 (2022:
HK$26,200,000) are held by the Group as the registered owner.
Those property interests were acquired from the previous
registered owners by making lump sum payments at the
upfront. Except for the variable amounts to be charged by the
government subsequently that are reviewed regularly with
reference to the rateable values, for example, there are no
ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the land
lease.

HEZH—EAETEA

R EREEAZK » 29,500,000 T (C - _F:

26,200,00058 70) YR IRBEERER

ﬁ CER TR AUE (TT T TE 1 255)
HEEHOTERAERENE AR

NEBREBEATMEEARENHEE
TR E FWIEE (B EAER T2
FEBD A D ENS B B9 ERE 29,500,000
Bt (ZEF T Z4F 126,200,000 7T) ° %
EYERR B BEH—FBBENHIER
F—2aEmES ARERE EEBNEE
2 EEEEMAEMNEBUWE R &5
B> 2HAMs RELIMBEERESRE
HIFEA R

—E T F TECFERE
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY/NON-CURRENT

ASSET HELD FOR SALE (continuea)

Leasing arrangement — as lessor

The property is leased to tenants for a term ranged from
one to two years, in which the first year is non-cancellable
and the second year is cancellable with a notice period of 2
months (2022: 2 months) by the tenant. The lease does not
contain any renewal option. Monthly rental charges consist of
fixed payments. The Group bears the management fees and
amounts charged by the government such as the rates levied
on the Group.

The property is subject to residual value risk. The lease
contract, as a result, includes a provision based on which the
Group has the right to charge the tenant for any damage to
the properties at the end of the lease. Besides, the Group has
purchased insurance to protect it against any loss that may
arise from accidents or physical damages of the properties.

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately HK$884,000 (2022: HK$870,000). The property
held for rental purposes is expected to generate rental yields of
3.00% (2022: 3.32%) on an ongoing basis. The property held has
committed tenants for the next year.

Below is a maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to
be received from the leasing of the property.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR o A 5 R B ik

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

19. REME FHEHEZIERSE

E#®

HEZHE—1FAHBAA
MERNTIE2EAPHBATHEE ]
REERTESY A AR E ELUEA
(CBE-ZF 288 BNBHN-AE
O EATERER SAHEeART
T AEEARESEERBATFRERN
HIE > I A IO A o

MEERZRFEERR RIL - HESLY
BE—EEX B AERFRNES
EREMYEZEMBREABERRE I
S AEBRCEERE  REEMABER
BN EMEZ EEIREMS EAIRK

REE Y S WA TS %884,00078 7T
— T T T4 870,000 70) o FIEHTE

FRRB9Y) 2 78 HB AR O] 2R == 4 (R 523.00%
TETTHF13.32%) WKF-FEZY

ERRECBBEEABAC

DU R e B E R W R IRAE N
BV EA AT

2023 2022

—E-=F “ECCHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Year 1 F—F 91 189
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY/NON-CURRENT 9. KEYE FELHEZIERESE
ASSET HELD FOR SALE (continuea) E 4
19(a) Classification as non-current asset held for 19@) SEAFEHEZIERHEE

sale

On 31 March 2023, Kate China Property Consultants
Limited (“KCP"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with a purchaser pursuant to which KCP
agreed to sell and the purchaser agreed to acquire the
investment property at a consideration of HK$30,000,000.
In the opinion of the directors, the disposal of the
investment property is expected to be completed within
twelve months from the end of the reporting period. As

RIBE_=HZRA=+—H0 &2
BANEEEENBATRFEEY
¥EMARQE (MhFEHE)) B—
HEATIBEE WS &I PRE
EFRHEMEBLRARKBEREY
% 18730,000,0008 70 - EE R
% HEREYEBBNRS RS
RE+MEBATMR AL REY
¥R T _ZE-ZRA=1+—HEH

a result, the investment property was re-classified as DEAFEHE BEZSREUTH
held for sale as at 31 March 2023. Up to the date of the WRIEZH BEHERZHAR
approval of these consolidated financial statements, the % o

proposed disposal transaction has not been completed.

Details of the proposed disposal have been disclosed in BREHENFBEENREAATDHIEEA
the Company’s announcement dated 31 March 2023. TEC=FZRA=+—HHNRXEA
WEEo

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. EFRAEEE

Office
premises Warehouse Total
MAEYE BE “azm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET FAET
Depreciation TE
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE_ZSE-=F
=B=+—HLEE 1,809 3,920 5,729
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE_ZS_—&F
ZR=+—HLEFE 3,065 3,505 6,570
Carrying amount BREE
As at 31 March 2023 WZE-_=%=H=+—H 3,617 4,573 8,190
As at 31 March 2022 AL "FE=HR=+—H 5,426 8,493 13,919
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20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continuea)

The Group leases an office premises and a warehouse for its
daily operations. Lease term for office premises is 3.3 years
with no option to renew the lease. Lease term for warehouse
is 6 years, which contains an option for both lessor and
lessee to renew or terminate the lease after expiration of the
lease term with three months’ notice. The extension option
is normally exercised because there are significant leasehold
improvements while the termination option is normally not
exercised. The Group seldom exercises options that were not
included in the lease liabilities. During the year ended 31 March
2022, the Group exercised the extension option and recognised
an addition of approximately HK$1,539,000 in right-of-use
assets.

Restrictions or covenants

Most of the leases impose a restriction that, unless approval
is obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use assets can only
be used by the Group and the Group is prohibited from selling
or pledging the underlying assets. In addition, the Group is
required to keep those properties in a good state of repair and
return the properties in their original condition at the end of the
lease.

Residual value guarantees
The Group does not provide residual value guarantees for the
lease contracts of office premises and warehouse.

0. FHEESE ®

FEBBHEAEEERERAENERR
[ o M A E YA AR 3.3 > WML AETH
EEER aEEMRNE HEARK
BAErEEERENEWRIER =B
BEAEEK IR - R IEEEE—RT
BT ARSTREREEYEEE MU
BILEEER—RETHE -AERILR
TEFEEREEEETNEEE -B#E
TR THF-ZA=+—HLFE F&EH
TEEEEEE R EREEEN
1,539,000 7T ©

PRl =% 52 55

AEBHBAIRFIRE > FFIFEFSHBEAR
e DREREEEEEHAERE
B BAEREASHEHIRITEREE-
E5h REBAERYERIFNOEER
&> W E A REHRY ER IR SIS

RIERBEER
FEBUTESMAENERRERESRR
REFIGFEERER

21. GOODWILL 1. B2
2023 2022
—EB-=F B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Cost: B
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, RIZEZ—FWBE—A-
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 BT FZRA=Z+—H-
TR FMNB—ABR
—E-=f=ZA=+—H 2,721 2,721
Accumulated impairment losses: REDRERE !
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, AZET—FA—H
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 “E-"HFZA=Z+—8-
TECFERA—HBRK
“E-=f=ZA=+—H 2,721 2,721
Carrying amount: BREME -
At 31 March BR=B=+—H = =
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

21.

GOODWILL (continuea) 21. B2 ®)
Goodwill arose because the consideration paid for the ELXBAERHRMNESZCSZREBERS
acquisitions effectively included amount in relation to the ERRMIBERRNEEBMEESEH
benefits originated from future market development and the SR mr B -HRZEN T AT
assembled workforce of the acquired business. These benefits AHNEFEE 2 BRRE I mER
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they EoHER -EHAMECHEITETRR
do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible MNBRPTISHR ©
assets. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.
Goodwill acquired through business combination has been BREBEHEBE 2 BESEEIEEE
allocated to Financial services business segment CGU and MRBEBIHREEEEMKRRTE
Design, fitting out and engineering services business segment ERIBRBEBIHRSELSU (D
CGU (see note 8 to the consolidated financial statements EER BN AR e BIRRMEE) 48
for details of segment information). An analysis of goodwill MRS ELEBAN S 2FRIZT=
attributable to the relevant CGUs as at 31 March 2022 and 2023 FE=A=+—HREGEHEZDMAT :
is as follows:
Design,
fitting
out and
Financial  engineering
services services
business business
segment segment
CGU CGU Total
HEtRER
ERRTE TITRERFES
EBDE PEIRE
REEEEM EEE 4zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Gross amount 4azE 854 1,867 2,721
Impairment loss recognised ERERBEEE (854) (1,867) (2,721)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2022
and 31 March 2023

RZE__FZRA=+—H
——

—_—<——

=ZRA=+—H®NKEE =
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cross-
boundary
SFO licences  vehicle licence Total
BHER
HERGIEE HA IR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FTEx
Cost: {723
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, AZEZ—FEF—H-
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 2T TF
=A=+—8-"
“2CCEEA-BK
—E=F=B=+—H 18,738 1,876 20,614
Accumulated impairment losses: ~ Bitim{ERSE
At 1 April 2021 AZE-—EFEA—H 13,696 451 14,147
Impairment loss recognised ERRRESE 476 214 690
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 ATE-"EZAZ+—AK
ZZ_FB—H 14,172 665 14,837
Impairment loss recognised ERIRESE 2,067 611 2,678
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=5=A=+—H 16,239 1,276 17,515
Carrying amount: IREME
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=ZH=R=+—H 2,499 600 3,099
At 31 March 2022 RIZZZTHE=B=+—H 4,566 1,211 5777

The intangible assets represent (i) the licences to carry on Type
1 (Dealing in securities), Type 4 (Advising on securities) and
Type 9 (Asset management) activities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO") (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO Licences"”); and (i) the cross-boundary vehicle

licence.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continuea) 22. BB E ®)

SFO Licences

The SFO Licences represent intangible assets acquired as a
result of a business combination during the year ended 31
March 2018. The SFO Licences have been considered to have
indefinite useful lives because they are expected to contribute
to the net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and are not
amortised. The carrying amount of the SFO Licences has been
included in the carrying amount of Financial services business
segment CGU for impairment assessment.

The Group has appointed the Valuer to perform an appraisal
of the recoverable amount of the SFO Licenses as at 31 March
2023. The recoverable amount of Financial services business
segment CGU have been determined based on fair value less
costs of disposal using the replacement cost approach (2022:
market comparable approach), which is higher than value
in use. During the year, the recoverable amount have been
determined by using replacement cost approach instead of
market comparable approach because there is a decrease in
recent similar transactions.

The key assumptions used in estimating the fair value
of Financial services business segment CGU under the
replacement cost approach include the estimation of cost
of obtaining such licenses and relevant transaction cost. The
valuation was categorised as Level 3 fair value measurement.

The recoverable amount of Financial services business
segment CGU based on the fair value less costs of disposal was
approximately HK$2,499,000 (2022: HK$4,566,000). Accordingly,
having compared with the carrying amount of Financial
services business segment CGU (including the carrying amount
of goodwill as mentioned in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements), impairment loss of approximately
HK$16,239,000 (2022: HK$14,172,000) and HK$854,000 (2022:
HK$854,000) were provided on SFO Licences and goodwill
associated with Financial services business segment CGU as at
31 March 2023 respectively.

255 B HR S R f e R
BERPERIBRRBRERBEE_T—N\F
ZR=+-HLFEREBGHERNE
TEE B RAERMERREREA
BECHEREAAEHCERRER
AEBERESMN KT EREBH - BHK
HERGMERIAREEDMAZRRT X
BoBREEEBUNREEETRET
flo

NEBELIEHENEE S5 R ABE K558
R —_E - =—F=-RF=+—HMe Y
SRETT G - ERRBEB DI REE
HAEBEMANAREISELEREEER AL
TECF I mIBHERE) ENATFE
ERHERES EelEREE TR A
W El&RBhFEREE N AEMIET B LR
FET BRRERIIRBURZ R

SEEMAETEAEZRRBES DR
EEBNURATEMANBEREREERS
BRI E AR BRI 7 A o fl
BERDERE=BRATEHE-

BATERHERAFEN SRR
BKORRSELEBMNNYKRESEY
2,499,00058 70 (Z & = Z £ : 4,566,000
70) oAb LR ERRBER D BIREE
FEBEUZEEE (BERGEVEREK
2Tl 2 REE) » MEeRREER D
HREEFBAUEERPEGRGBRR
BER_E-_=F=ZA=1+—H25E
B E5184916,239,0008 T (&2 - —
14,172,0003 7T) 52854,0008 7T (ZHE -
£ 1 854,000/ 7T) ©

— 55—
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22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The cross-boundary vehicle licence

The cross-boundary vehicle licence was estimated as having
indefinite useful life and is measured using the cost model. The
cross-boundary vehicle licence has been considered to have
indefinite useful life because it is expected to contribute to the
net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and is not amortised.

The Group has appointed the Valuer to perform an appraisal of
the recoverable amount of the cross-boundary vehicle licence
as at 31 March 2023. The recoverable amount of the cross-
boundary vehicle licence has been determined on the basis
of value in use calculation. The value in use calculation uses
cash flow projections covering a period of five years based
on financial budgets approved by management by applying
the average growth rate of 2.5% (2022: 2.0%) in market rental,
the long-term average growth rate of 2.5% (2022: 2.0%) in
market rental and a discount rate of 11.18% (2022: 13.66%).
Cash inflows/outflows have been determined based on
management’s expectations for the market development.

The recoverable amount of the cross-boundary vehicle
licence based on value in use calculation was approximately
HK$600,000 (2022: HK$1,211,000). Accordingly, having
compared with the carrying amount of the cross-boundary
licence, impairment loss of approximately HK$1,276,000 has
been provided on the cross-boundary vehicle licence as at 31
March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR o A 5 R B ik

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

f—

wmILEE @

Fh A B i hE B

B E R R AR R ER R
AR BB EMEREDAEE
REEREREENABNETERPIM
AEEIFES T RAGREN o

REBCEZEGEMBPBEMERERNZ
T =FZA=+—HNAKREIZEEET
(o BB E R R AT IR EIS BT B
FTRHEBSEMET FEHRBENEER
EREEBHENMBESETHNRER
FZzRERBA KEATHHESHRATS
WER) 5% (ZE -4 1 2.0%) ~THiEiA
SR ERIS% (CE 24 :120%) &
TIRE11.18% (ZE 24 1 13.66%) 17
EHRAREDEREEBHTHEEN
TEBEREETE ©

REFERAEESENPEEMER 2T
W [B] & 2849600,00058 70 (C B - 4 .
1,211,000587t) ° Ak LB B E R IR IR
ZHEREE R-_E-==A=+—HB
SHR B ER R B 2 R E 5 18491,276,000
BT e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR B LR B

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

23.

24.

LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

3. BRIWEMKFZ

2023 2022

—EBC-=HF =2
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
FeE FHET FET
Gross amounts 48%E 6,310 6,270
Less: Allowance for ECL B TEEREERIEEE 6(b) (1,540) (819)
4,770 5,451

The Group's loan and interest receivables, which arise from
the money lending business in Hong Kong, are denominated in
HKS. Loan receivables are unsecured, interest-bearing at a rate
of 9% (2022: 9%) per annum and matured as at 31 March 2022.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at each of the reporting
dates is the carrying amount of the receivables mentioned
above.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and 10ss
allowance for loan and interest receivables is included in note
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

NEBRKRER LI ERBENEBIRHEN
EEEXE UUBTHE BRERAE
IR IR ER 9% (CBE 4 1 9%) 52
WHRZEZZF=B=+—HEH RE
REQPFAEENRAEERR A LEX
Bt U R IB R BRI 18 ©

BERAERMAREERBRUKRBERER
RMEBEEBZENBNREMBRE
FizE6(D) ©

INVENTORIES 24. 78
2023 2022
—EZ= B _F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Fine and rare wines held for sale, at cost #51EH & 355 » LA A% Bk 388 507
Construction materials, at cost BEYRL LIRSS BR 916 580
1,304 1,087

i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR B LR B

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. BRREMBUFRIA

2023 2022
—E-= =
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
I3 FET FET
Trade receivables B 5 EKRIE
From third parties "E=7H
— Sales and service income — & R ARFE UL A
receivables and lease income EWRIE K&
receivables A FEUS R IB 19,176 19,733
Less: Loss allowance B IR 6(b) (6,484) (4,812)
12,692 14,921
Other receivables HthFEUTRIE
Deposits, prepayments and advances 2%~ FETFIERK
to suppliers BREEER®R 1,844 1,870
Others Hih 842 468
2,686 2,338
Total trade and other receivables B 5 K EMEWTIE4REE 15,378 17,259

The Group allows an average credit period ranging from 30
to 60 days (2022: 30 to 60 days) to its trade customers. The
following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of loss
allowance based on the invoice date as at the end of the

FEEOHEZEFR #AHH30E60H

(=

F 1 30E60H) T EZFHIE

Ef-UTARBEHRRERLHZES
Z B S EKRIE (OREIRRE) ZRED

reporting period. #fre
2023 2022
—E_= BT &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within 90 days 90HW 8,523 7,967
91 to 180 days 9MHZE180HUA 626 2,403
181 days to 270 days 181HZE270H LR 388 2,017
271 days to 365 days 271HE365H A 344 1,782
More than 365 days 365U k£ 2,811 752
12,692 14,921
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continves)  25. B 5 KREHtMEWKFIE @)

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss BRAEEFMAREERBUKRES KA
allowance for trade and other receivables is included in note EWFIEEERE 2 ENEN GRS
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements. HwRMIsE6(D)
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are MUTEBENE S R EMEWFRIEN R
denominated in the following currencies: EEWT :
2023 2022
—EI=HF —E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
HKS$ BT 15,375 16,984
RMB AR 3 274
SGD o - 1
15,378 17,259
26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 26. ENBEERENER
LIABILITIES
26(a) Contract assets 26(d) BNEE
2023 2022
—E-= TECCF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Ff FAT FET

Unbilled revenue in respect of 1R EERTRER

provision of design, fitting REREAREEER

out and engineering and R A REZ WS

procurement of furnishings

and related products services 2,131 3,971
Less: Loss allowance Vo Skt 6(b) (21) (40)

2,110 3,931

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's rights EHNEEFEMRAEEZERR
to consideration for work completed but not yet billed at EHRETEREBREHEETREDN
the end of the reporting period. The contract assets are REBEOERN - BNEENR B REN R
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become RERGHFEABE S ERIE
unconditional.
Retention receivables are included in contract assets ERREEHAEGNEE BEERYG
until the end of the retention period as the Group’s SR AAAEBEESRANIN
entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the BABARAEBN TREEEE W
Group's work satisfactorily passing inspection. BB o
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continuea)
26(a) Contract assets (Continued) 26() ENEE @)
There is a decrease in the ongoing contracts at the end KEBFECRNBREHFREL &
of the reporting period, thereby decreasing the amount s D SR U e Y & 58 ©
arising from the recognition of revenue.

26. ENEERGNER @

As at 31 March 2023, contract assets that are expected
to be recovered after more than 12 months for design,
fitting out and engineering services are HK$99,000 (2022:
Nil).

The movements (excluding those arising from increases
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of
contract assets from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

R_E_=ZF=ZB=+—H A
RRFF EEBRIEREZEHNE
99,0008 TR HREE B 1218 B & U (2]

TETTFIE)o

FR BEBYBREERIBISREA
TERENZENEEED (FEE
RE—FEELEZIZR) W :

2023 2022
—EZ=F B HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET

At 1 April RIEBE—H 3,931 2,574
Transferred to trade receivables T B 5 EWTUE (3,970) (2,225)
Decrease (Increase) in loss allowance 588 &/ (&) 19 (14)
Recognised as revenue el A W 2,130 3,596
At 31 March R=A=+—H 2,110 3,931

For the year ended 31 March 2023, a reversal of
impairment loss of HK$19,000 (2022: impairment loss of
HK$14,000) is recognised for the contract assets.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks
and loss allowance for contract assets is included in note
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 26.

LIABILITIES (continued)
26(b) Contract liabilities

26(b) EHIEE

2023 2022
—EZ= BT F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHExT
Provision of design, fitting out and 1225t EER TR
engineering and procurement of BB 1R E K 48 R8 E AR
furnishings and related products
services 1,594 229

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance
consideration received from customers, for which
revenue is recognised based on the progress of the
provision of related services.

The movements (excluding those arising from increases
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of
the contract liabilities from contracts with customers
within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

GHERIZHECKREFRINER
A R BRI AR IR IR (HARRA AR

BBVEEHERS -

FER BEBYBREERBI1SRE
TERENZENEEEE (FEE
RE—FEFLEZIEE) WT

2023 2022

“EZ=F B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHExT
At 1 April REE—H 229 109
Recognised as revenue R AW (179) (109)
Receipt of advances IS BREA R 1,544 229
At 31 March BW=B=+—H 1,594 229

CE T TR CFERE
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 26. GHNEERGHNEE®

194

LIABILITIES (continuea)

26(b) Contract liabilities (Continued)
At the end of reporting period, contracts in more contract
sum require prepayments from the customers, thereby
increasing the amount arising from receipt of advances.

At 31 March 2023, no contract liabilities are expected to
be settled after more than 12 months (2022: Nil).

The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to exempt the disclosure of revenue
expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting
date to its fitting out and engineering services income,
design and procurement of furnishings and related
product services income and sale of fine and rare wines
as the performance obligation is part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or less.

27. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with maturity within three months
from inception. Bank balances carried interest at market rates
ranging from 0.04% to 0.47% (2022: 0.04% t0 0.92%) per annum
during the year ended 31 March 2023. The carrying amounts
of bank balances and cash are denominated in the following
currencies:

27.

26(h) EHEE @&
RIBERR SRTBRBANERE
2R FETANTRIE M TS0 B UKER
BRFFEENEEE

A_E_=F=ZA=+—8 HBES
HeaEEPBANERREE (T
T M ) o

EARMBHREEDHI155EH 1218+
BERNEEZSHRERBERN RS
HREEMNRER BN SHNES
MTEHANR & 10 SRR MDA U et » A8
HESRHEBANRERERIER
B Rt B ERERERER
IRFBWMAREBEHEWA > RESAE
MENESTAREHRSHE-—FIU
THEHB—EMT

& R IRITEEER
RTEREREOERAEEFEZR
ERBERGBST=EA NI Z 2R
TERRBITERIRNBE_ZS=F
ZA=+—BULEERNETBERNEN
720.04%ZE0.47% (ZFE - "4 : 0.04%=E
0.92%) 3T B - RITA R R IRE Z BREEU
THEIIME !

2023 2022

—E-= B HF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET AT

HK$ BT 5,683 6,078
RMB AR 150 30
us$ E7T 69 69
SGD N T 13 13
5,915 6,190

The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are
subject to relevant rules and regulations of the foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. B KR HMESTRIA
2023 2022
—EC=H =S

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

B FAET FET

Trade payables B S REARIE 7,865 5,387
Other payables HpEIRIE
Staff cost payable FET B T A

- related to staff — BT 48R 1,193 1,082

— related to directors —EE1E6E 28(a) 1,413 1,083

2,606 2,165

Deposits received BlizE 557 545

Due to a substantial shareholder E—REERRRIE 28(a) 3,112 -

Accrued expenses and other payables F&stBE sz K E fth S =h I8 4,948 4,832

Interest payable on other borrowing ~ EMEERELFE 30 232 -

11,455 7,542

Total trade and other payables B5 K EHMENIBAEEE 19,320 12,929

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables based on MTIBRREHFRZEZHH B5EN

the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: IBZ BRER AT -

2023 2022

—E=F ==

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Wwithin 30 days 30HA 4,505 3,473

More than 30 days but within 90 days ~ 30H EI90H & 2,471 358

Over 90 days #B3890H 889 1,556

7,865 5,387
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

29.

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 28. B KR HMESTIE @)
The average credit period for purchases of goods is 90 days BAERZFEHEERANE (Z2Z
(2022: 90 days). The Group has financial risk management F190H) o AERBTZEMARSEK
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within RABRBRNRBESENEEHRRE
the credit timeframe. The carrying amounts of trade and other B UTEBHENES REMENTRIE
payables are denominated in the following currencies: HEREENT !
2023 2022
—EZ= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
HKS BT 19,165 12,772
RMB ARES 155 157
19,320 12,929
28(a) Due to a substantial shareholder/directors 28(a) FEIT—EERK EFHE
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and have ZERNRBARIKF  RENEE
no fixed repayment terms. TEERER o
LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HHEAR
2023 2022
—E-=HF BT F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current portion TRENERSD 6,816 6,643
Non-current portion JERENEBID 2,634 8,717
9,450 15,360
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11 WA 55 2 B
Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z_—ZF - =#=H=+—HIFFEE
LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 29. HHEBE @
An analysis of the Group’s cash outflow for lease is as follows: AEEMBERERESTAOT !
2023 2022
—E_= BT &
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M EE FAET FAET
Lease payments: MEM
Short-term leases foHRfRE 431 210
Expenses recognised in profit or loss  7EIB R 431 210
Lease payments: HENR:
Interest on lease liabilities HEsENE 343 527
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEEaE 3,694 5,869
34(a) 4,037 6,396
Total cash outflow for leases HEMERERH 4,468 6,606
OTHER BORROWING 30. Hithfg &

30.

The other borrowing is unsecured, interest-bearing at fixed rate
of 5% per annum and repayable on 27 April 2025.

HtEEABIEH  ZETENE®TE
WHER _ZE_HEMNA _++tHERE

SE T CHERE
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

31. DEFERRED TAXATION 31. IREMRIE
The movements in deferred tax (assets) liabilities during the RERIE (BE) 8ENFRANESHUNT !

year are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2022 HE T _F-HBA=-1+—HLFE
Deferred tax
assets Deferred tax liabilities
BILRIESE EERESR
Fair value
Accelerated  adjustment on
tax intangible
Tax losses depreciation assets Total
BYEE
MIEHE NERRUITE NTEERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TERT TET TER
At 1 April 2021 RIB2_—FMNA—H (3332 3,561 832 1,061
Charged (Credited) to profitorloss — $0ERE Gt A) 8% 803 (593) (78) 132
(2,529) 2,968 754 1,193
Offsetting i 2529 (2,529) - -
At 31 March 2022 RIBEZ"H#=B=+—H S 439 754 1,193
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE_ZE-_-—F=-HA=1+—HILEE
Deferred tax
assets Deferred tax liabilities
BERBEEE BERBESE
Fair value

Accelerated  adjustment
tax on intangible

Tax losses  depreciation assets Total
BREE

MEHE  MERRLIE AFERE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FET FERT FET

At 1 April 2022 RZB-_&#MA—A (2,529) 2,968 754 1,193
Charged (Credited) to profit or loss nizE GtA) 85 760 (651) (341) (232)
(1,769) 2,317 413 961

Offsetting i 1,769 (1,769) = =
At 31 March 2023 KZEZ=§=B=+—H - 548 413 961
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

31. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

. RIETRIA (@)
THER IR EE E

2023 2022

—EZ= T

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHExT

Deductible temporary differences AR R ERR 5,230 2,798
Tax losses RIER1E 149,290 128,788
At end of the reporting period REREER 154,520 131,586

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. No deductible
temporary differences expire under current tax legislation. The
expiry dates for unrecognised tax losses are as follows:

R R AR ) TR R Wi R B A
R IEES 8 K AT 40 ﬂ%ﬁ%%%ﬁiﬁﬁaﬁ%&ﬁﬁlﬁ
BE - RBRITMBZGI TN E R =2
TEEH - RENRIEBBEZFEARM T !

2023 2022

—E-= B F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Tax losses without expiration KEHRRIBAESIE 146,359 124,605
Tax losses expiring in: )-SR EIEE N

-2023 ——EB_=F - 928

- 2024 —_ﬁ_li 771 833

- 2025 “ETRHEF 901 973

- 2026 —:gix\fﬁ 818 883

—-2027 —ETLF 5 566

-2028 ——ZE-N\HF 436 =

At the end of the reporting period P#R&EHAGR 149,290 128,788
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

31.

32.

33.

DEFERRED TAXATION (continuea) 31. IREMRIE @)
Pursuant to the PRC tax law, a 10% withholding tax is levied RIFPERF AR RRBERILZINER
on dividends distributed to foreign investors by the foreign BhERIBEREEDRZKRE  BiZ
investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement 10BMEHWBHR - ZHREBEZZZTN
is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings F—B—HRERUBER_-ZZLHF
accumulated after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax +TZRA=+—BEBZESARBA
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and HNBERKEEMER A EEERITNG
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. As at 31 March 2023 HE A RARBEZEIIRE - RZZ
and 2022, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding _EERIZEIZFZA=+—H #E
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of MAEB TR 2 B AR 2 REMR
the Groups’ subsidiaries established in the PRC as there is no BRI ZEAEINIRERRLERE REE
retained earnings recorded by those subsidiaries. ZEWB AT EIFBRERF
SHARE CAPITAL 32. g
Number of shares Share capital
O E] K&
2023 2022 2023 2022
- Sy _EICE ZECZE ZEICE
‘000 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i T TR TER
Authorised EE n/a FEH n/a MER n/a RER n/a NEf
Issued and fully paid RTUAR
At beginning and end of RESHIRER
the reporting period 156,780 156,780 205,523 205,523
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 33. BERRHESTE

A share option scheme enables the Company to grant options
to any participant (the “Eligible Participant”) as incentives or
rewards for their contributions to the Group. The Company
conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 30 June 2014 whereby the Board are
authorised, at their absolute discretion and subject to the terms
of the Share Option Scheme, to grant options to subscribe
for the shares of the Company to the Eligible Participant, The
Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing from the date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the total number of shares (the “Shares”)
of the Company available for issue under the Scheme is
3,000,000 Shares (as adjusted for the Share Consolidation on
18 November 2020), representing 10% of the issued Shares (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit") of the aggregate number of Shares in
issue immediately upon completion of the listing of the Shares
on 18 July 2014 (as adjusted for the Share Consolidation on 18
November 2020) and representing 1.91% of the issued Shares
as at 31 March 2023.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for shares granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the “Option”), the
Eligible Participant shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way
of consideration for the grant. The Option will be offered for
acceptance for a period of 21 days from the date on which the
Option is granted. The subscription price for the Shares subject
to Options will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each participant and shall be the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options, which
must be a day on which trading of Shares take place on the
Stock Exchange (the “Trading Day”); and (i) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 Trading Days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the Options.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that
the total number of Shares which may issue upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
does not exceed the Scheme Mandate Limit. The Company
may at any time refresh such limit, subject to the shareholders’
approval and the issue of a circular in compliance with the GEM
Listing Rules, provided that the total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under all the share option schemes of
the Company does not exceed 30% of the Shares in issued at
the time. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date
of grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share
option has been granted by the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

34. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 34. HIRERER
34(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing ) MEEFHZEEE
activities
Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from KAEFRETE ZBEEHFEREN
financing activities are as follows: 1S s
2022 TET T
Lease
liabilities
HEaE
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2021 AZE-—FMBE—H 13,567
Changes from financing cash flows: REIRE IR EE)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREaRE (5,869)
Interest paid BAFE (527)
Net cash flows BEMPER (6,396)
other changes: Hith&s) :
Interest expenses FMEZH 622
Additions g 7,567
8,189
At 31 March 2022 M-E-_—#=R=+-H 15,360
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

34. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 34. HIRERER @
(Continuea)
34(a) changes in liabilities arising from financing ) MEFHZEEES @&

activities (continued)

2023 —EBCC=F
Amount due
toa
substantial
shareholder
included in
Lease Other trade and
liabilities ~ borrowings other payable Total
HABSR
HithpE(
I Z (T
e
HEaR Hitfd & RRERMIE Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTERT FTET THET
At 1 April 2022 RZE_"F#MA—H 15,360 = = 15,360
Changes from financing cash flows: RERE L !
Addition of unsecured other borrowing  ¥IEERIFHMEE - 5,000 = 5,000
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAR (3,694) - - (3,694)
Interest paid BHAFE (343) = = (343)
Net cash flows REM3E (4,037) 5,000 - 963
Other changes: Hitg)
Changes in lease liabilities HEEEEH (2,438) - 2,438 -
Interest expenses FIESH 565 - - 565
Other non-cash changes HitJFR & &8 - - 674 674
(1,873) - 3,112 1,239
At 31 March 2023 RZE-Z=E=R=+—H 9,450 5,000 3,112 17,562
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is
to make the required contribution under the MPF Scheme.
The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped
at HK$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

Subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to participate
in contribution retirement schemes organised by the relevant
local government authorities.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately
HK$291,000 (2022: HK$331,000) represents contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of the
current reporting period.

The Group does not forfeit any contributions on behalf of
its employees who leave the scheme prior to full vesting.
Accordingly, for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
there was no forfeited contribution available for the Group to
reduce the existing level of contributions and at the end of the
reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available
to reduce future obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z -—ZFE_-=F=H=+—HIFFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. AEAFXRS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed BRRGEMBRREMBMIREZZZM
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group LEERIN ZtK%IEAZtKEWEﬁi%%EE 77
entered into the following transactions with related parties W5
during the year:
(@) Transactions with related parties (@) HFERZXRS
2023 2022
“EZ=HF B
Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
BRE A Z % RHME FAET FAET
Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Rental expenses in relation to 1,945 650
Limited (“ChaoShang”), a the office premises (note)
substantial shareholder of
the Company
ERAPHEEBRAR BREMAEWE A H ()
(F#m)) > BERAEZ
FERR
Related companies controlled by Commission income 30 (17)
ChaoShang
il ) /NS EEALGN
Note: The Company leases an office premise from ChaoShang. MisE : AABIEHEEERAEY X B
The rental expenses were charged based on the sub-deed HEHIREINE FERT 2 D HEZE
of lease signed between the parties. The amount disclosed INEX - PP 2 B2 & RETE BB 5t A B
represents the lease payments made by crediting the current HERRE TR ERIE R
account with ChaoShang. As at 31 March 2023, rental deposit T=F=ZA=+—H8 BnniEZ
of approximately HK$487,000 (included in trade and other 64 2T T £32 £ 49487,0008
receivables) was paid to ChaoShang in respect of the sub- 7T (Bt A B B R EMBEWRIE) &1
deed of lease and related right-of-use assets and lease MEAEEERAEABIINNS
liabilities are approximately HK$3,617,000 and HK$3,717,000 3,617,000/ 7T %3,717,00078 7T ©
respectively.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continuec) 36. BAE
(b) Compensation of key management (b)
personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel of the
Group during the year was as follows:

BFX5 @
TESEASNMS

BEENAERTEZEEA SN
BT

2023 2022
= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET

Salaries, allowances and e MR EMER
other benefits 5,004 5,946

Contributions to defined ERRHET B HR

contribution plans 108 132
5,112 6,078

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key
executives is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends. The remuneration of directors is set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&E_=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF . REAER AR
THE COMPANY
2023 2022
—EZ= TECCHF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b 5 FET FET
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment MR RRE = 4
Right-of-use assets FREEE 3,617 5,426
Investments in subsidiaries RBABRZIRE - =
3,617 5,430
Current assets REMEE
Other receivables HinpEWEIE 602 607
Amounts due from subsidiaries N EYNGIE S 37(a) 62,018 78,130
Cash and bank balances R& R IRITHER - 436
62,620 79173
current liabilities wEaE
Other payables HMEMRIE 3,375 2,994
Lease liabilities HEaR 1,816 2,221
Amounts due to subsidiaries FESH B ABFIE 37(a) 8,309 2,380
Amount due to a substantial B —2FERERIE
shareholder 3,112 -
Amounts due to directors B ESENIE 1,413 1,083
18,025 8,678
Net current assets FREEE 44,595 70,495
Total assets less current liabilities 2 & ER B & & 48,212 75,925
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Lease liabilities HEar’ 1,902 3,717
NET ASSETS BEFE 46,310 72,208
Capital and reserves BE A R (i
Share capital PREN 32 205,523 205,523
Reserves G 37(b) (159,213) (133,315)
TOTAL EQUITY BN 46,310 72,208

The statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2023

and signed on its behalf by

Chan Chi Yuen
REE
Director
o

BHERRRER _E_=FB_+/\H
KT EERKRESTTEEU AR ERE

kS

Wang Jun
IE
Director
BE

TE T

CTECCFERE
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)
37(a) Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

37(h) Reserves of the Company

37.

REMBARIER @)

37(a) FEUZ (FEFY) MIB 2B FRIE
BEEMRIEA BT RAREE
R

37(b) AE &

Accumulated

losses  Other reserve Total
REthsiE HAthE 4st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FERT TET
At 1 April 2021 A _E_—FNF—H (133,453) 21,063 (112,390)

Loss and total comprehensive  ANEE B2 EE A5
loss for the year (20,925) - (20,925)

At 31 March 2022 and R_E__F=B=1t—HK

1 April 2022 “E-"FA—H (154,378) 21,063 (133,315)

Loss and total comprehensive  ANEE RN 2 EARAE
loss for the year (25,898) - (25,898)
At 31 March 2023 WEB-=F#=A=+—H (180,276) 21,063 (159,213)

Note: Other reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares issued for acquisition of a subsidiary and
the consolidated net asset value of that subsidiary and its
subsidiaries at the date of acquisition.

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Except for those disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, at the end of the reporting period, the
Group did not have any other capital commitment.
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Year ended 31 March2023 BE_EFE_=HF=F=+—HILFE

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. FEMBAT
Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 March KRB FEMBREBN ZE=HK_
2023 and 2022 are as follows: ZF=R=1+—HBFHSE ZZD Ik
Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/  Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
SRR BEfLSR
WEARAHE ey /AR FEROEN  RE/ERES FARRANFREREREEELA TEEY
Directly Indirectly
B M
2023 2022 2023 2022
8= TECCF ZECZf TECC
% % % %
BAL BAL AR BAk
China Sourcing & Creative Construction  The BVI Ordinary US$1 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
HEFETERENERAT EEEYHE R 3 REZR
Kate China Property Consultants Limited - Hong Kong Ordmary HKS$1 - - 100 100 Property investment
TEEENEERERAT BE B8 AT NERE
Huarong Financial Holdings Limited The BVI Ordmary US§100 100 100 - - Investment holding
ERSEERERAT EREYHE B8 100%7 REZR
Markway Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordmary HK$100 - - 100 100 Money lending
BEHMBERAT &5 L& 10057 &
Wealthy Pool International Holdings The BVI Ordinary 1S§50,000 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
REERZRERAR EREYHE L& 50,0005 7 REER
Huge Wealth International Tracing Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - - 100 100 Business not yet commenced
Limited
EEEREZERAT B8 L 10,0007 ENEES
Qenoluxe Wines Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Sourcing and merchandising of fine
and rare wines
REERRAR &5 L& 187 REREHEE
World Huge International Investment ~ The BVI Ordinary US§100 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
HEEEEEERAT ERELHE L& 100%7 REER
0C Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$16,500,000 - - 100 100 Provision of securities dealing,
(2022: Securities advisory and asset
HK$15,800,000) management services
0C Consltants Limited &5 L& 16,500,000 7 RUEEAR 7 BHHEIR
Bz EEEERY
15,800,000 7T)
Royal Century Investment Group Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
CEREEEERAT BE B8 AT REZR
Royal Century Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100 100 Provision of interior design,
fitting out and procurement
of furnishings and related
products services
CBEEERAT BE R AT REZNR: RERRREEAR
HEERRS

T CFERE
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z & _=Z#=H=+—HIFFZ

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

39. TEMBAT @

Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/  Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
AL, BEFUAR
NGk Tens /AR FRRAEN  RE/ERELX FARRENRERRE TR TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B# fiE
2023 2022 2023 2022
Z%I=F ZZCCF ZEIZE ZEICE
% % % %
B BAL BAL Rl
Royal Century Engineering Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Provision of interior design,
fitting out and procurement
of furnishings and related
products services
CRIRERAR &8 L 187 REZRHT EERFERAR
THRERRH
Royal Century Construction Equipment  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100 100 Leasing of construction equipment
Limited and provision of related
installation services
CRREREERAR i L 187 E%éf%ﬁ‘é&%%%ﬁi%
Vi Tak Building Works Company Limited - Hong Kong Ordinary HK$8,000,000 = - 100 100 Provision of waterproofing works
and maintenance services
SETERAT &8 B 8,000,000 7T REHKIRREERE
Vai Tak Engineering Works Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100 100 Provision of fitting out, engineering,
Limited repair and maintenance
Services
BEIIRERAA &8 BE 187 RAEE TR EBRRERE
Royal Century (Shen Zhen) Design Firm  The PRC Paid-up Registered capital: - - 100 100 Provision of interior design and
Company Limited * (Note) capital RVB fitting out services
300,000,000/
Paid up issued
capital:
RMB3,064,756
(2022:
RMB3,064,756)
28 (R RAFHAERALF () T8 HRkx ;}Hﬁf% REZ R REERSE
B
300,000,007t/
BT
BERA:
NEH3,064,7567T
(CB-Z%:
NS
3,064,7567T)

Note: The subsidiary is registered in the PRC as a wholly foreign-owned
enterprise.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

All of the above subsidiaries are limited liability companies.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during
the year.

*  For identification purpose only.
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DETAILS OF PROPERTIES HELD
AV Z D

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

KREME

Lot no./location Lot no./location Category of lease Use
HhEE, S BE HER HhBh AR RA®
Workshop A, 5/F, 1/37th equal and undivided parts or Medium Term Industrial/Commercial
Tontex Industrial Building, shares of and in New Kowloon Inland

2-4 Shenug Hei Street, Lot nos. 4449, 4450 and 4726

San Po Kong,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

EENBEMEE HLBE POt ER4449 ~ 445057 FREA T %
EEH-SREETIEARE 472657 2 B3I Z 1A HEE K

SHEAB{iL Ra] &5

—E T F TECFERE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A 5 PO 2

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EZF T -HE -85 T %E  _ZI-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAERT FET FET FHET FET
Revenue Wz 55,761 57,660 66,807 42,755 28,150
Loss before tax FRIS ARS8 (24,796) (20,936) (20,852) (28,949) (19,939)
Loss for the year FEBE (24,564) (21,068) (19,427 (28,114) (20,074)
Total comprehensive loss  FEAEEEE
for the year (24,428) (21,074) (19,437) (28,128) (20,165)
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC=E B CF 2 —F CEBCEE “E—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FEx FET FET
Assets and Liabilities BEKEE
Total assets mEE 84,400 102,214 119,893 114,270 116,088
Total liabilities maf (36,418) (29,804) (26,409) (31,277) (11,675)
Total equity HEmiR%E 47,982 72,410 93,484 82,993 104,413
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